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1. GENERAL 
 INFORMATION

The iconic Whale Well in the Iziko South African Museum.
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1.1 Submission of the 
 Annual Report to the 
 Executive Authority
The Council overcame a number of challenges  
during its last year in office. The administration  
and governance of Iziko Museums of Cape Town  
were further improved, making operations even  
more efficient, and enabling the museums to reach 
out to both national and international communities. 
The preparations for the 2010 FIFA World Cup were 
part of the citys and province’s planned activities  
in which Iziko participated throughout.

Realising that this was their last year in office, the Council took steps to ensure a 
smooth succession to the position of Chief Executive Officer (CEO) after October 
2010. The Council also prepared for a new Executive Team, given that both the 
Executive Directors were reaching the end of their contracts with Iziko.  

Iziko’s efficient management and administration will allow the next Council to 
concentrate increasingly on core functions and the growth of Iziko’s footprint in  
the broader community of Cape Town and the nation at large. The international 
footprint has been well established and this was further improved in the course  
of this Council’s tenure.

The Council supported the national Department of Arts and Culture in the interim 
management of Robben Island Museum during their transformation process. This 
challenge called for some changes in management of Iziko, and in this regard 
the Council could count on its executive team led by the CEO and the executive 
directors to continue with the excellent progress at Iziko while assisting the 
Department with the many challenges at Robben Island Museum. Iziko’s governance 
once again proved to be of the best in the heritage sector, thanks to a very fine 
organisational structure that involves everyone in achieving Iziko’s strategic goals. 

I would like to thank my colleagues in Council for their diligence in executing their 
duties and for their support of management. Their commitment and professional 
expertise have been a source of innovation and professionalism that have helped  
to achieve the standards we set. Management had many diverse challenges over 
the last year and their professional approach to addressing these has been a source 
of strength for the institution. Not only the executives, but the entire staff have 
enjoyed an unprecedented loyalty to heritage and Iziko Museums in particular. 
My thanks go to all staff for making my tenure over the past seven years a real 
pleasure and for their contribution towards a feeling of accomplishment.

My best wishes accompany those who retired in the past year, in particular,  
Dr Patricia Davison who has served Iziko in a very professional and unselfish 
manner. Ms Veliswa Baduza moved on to serve at executive level in the national 
Department of Arts and Culture and we wish her well. Professor Bredekamp, who 
has been the CEO of Iziko during a very challenging period, retires in October 
2010. He has put his own particular stamp on the Iziko brand, both nationally and 
internationally, and on behalf of Council, I would like to express my thanks for his 
outstanding leadership over the last two terms. My last word of thanks goes to the 
Ministry and Department of Arts and Culture for their support and understanding, 
making it possible for the Council and management of Iziko to produce work of the 
highest professional standing.

Prof E Links 
Chairperson of Council

Prof Elias Links
Chairperson of Council



1.2 Applicable Acts and Other 
 Information
Iziko Museums of Cape Town is a public entity and 
non-profit organisation, subsidised by the national 
Department of Arts and Culture, bringing together the 
national museums of the Western Cape under a single 
governance and leadership structure.  

This report is submitted in compliance with the Constitution 
of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996); 
the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999 
as amended by Act No. 29 of 1999); Treasury Regulations, 
2001; and other applicable Acts and Regulations.

1.2.1 Foundation
In terms of the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 
119 of 1998), five State-funded museums in the Western 
Cape – the South African Cultural History Museum, South 
African Museum, South African National Gallery, the 
William Fehr Collection and the Michaelis Collection – 
were amalgamated as the Southern Flagship Institution 
(SFI). In July 2001, the SFI was officially renamed Iziko 
Museums of Cape Town (Iziko). 

In 2009/2010 Iziko Museums of Cape Town celebrated ten 
years since it was established as an amalgamated group of 
museums. During this decade of change and innovation, 
Iziko has become a leader in the heritage sector. 

Iziko operates the following museums, each with its own 
history and character:
• South African Museum and Planetarium 
• South African National Gallery 
• Maritime Centre 
 

• Slave Lodge Museum 
• William Fehr Collection (at the Castle of Good Hope) 
• Michaelis Collection (at the Old Town House) 
• Rust en Vreugd Museum 
• Bertram House Museum 
• Koopmans-de Wet House Museum 
• Groot Constantia Museum 
• Bo-Kaap Museum

In addition, the newly renovated Social History Centre 
on Church Square provides a state-of-the-art facility to 
accommodate our Social History collections and library. 
The Natural History library is located at the South 
African Museum, and the Art library is located in the 
Annexe adjacent to the South African National Gallery.

The name “Iziko”, which means “hearth” in isiXhosa, 
symbolically positions our museums as centres of cultural 
activity. The three ‘flames’ in our hearth logo represent 
the three collections brought together in our museums: 
Social History (ochre); Art (red); and Natural History 
(green). These are made accessible to learners and the 
public through Education and Public Programmes. 

1.2.2 Vision
Iziko Museums of Cape Town are African museums 
of excellence that empower and inspire all people to 
celebrate and respect our diverse heritage.

1.2.3 Mission
To manage and promote Iziko’s unique combination of 
South Africa’s heritage collections, sites and services for 
the benefit of present and future generations. 

ABOVE TOP: Dr Patricia Davison, Executive Director Core Functions; Prof Henry C (Jatti) Bredekamp, Chief Executive Officer; Faeza Allie,  
Chief Financial Officer; Iziko South African Museum. BOTTOM: Veliswa Baduza, Executive Director Operations; Michelle van der Merwe,  
Director Customer Services Management; Iziko South African National Gallery.
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1.2.4 Corporate Governance
Iziko is governed by a Council appointed for three years 
by the Minister of Arts and Culture. Members of the third 
Council of Iziko are: Dr Elias Links (Chairperson), Adv. Dave 
Mitchell (Deputy Chairperson), Prof Roy du Pré, Dr Shamil 
Jeppie, Ms Pumla Madiba, Ms Sandra Prosalendis, Prof Ciraj 
Rassool, and Prof Henry C (Jatti) Bredekamp (Ex Officio).

The duties of Council, as described in the Cultural 
Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998), are to:  
• formulate policy;  
•  hold, preserve and safeguard all movable and 

immovable property of whatever kind placed in 
the care of, or loaned, or belonging to the declared 
institution concerned; 

•  receive, hold, preserve and safeguard all specimens, 
collections or other movable property placed under 
its care and management under section 10(1) of the Act; 

•  raise funds for the institution; manage and control the 
moneys received by the declared institution and to utilise 
those moneys for defraying expenses in connection with 
the performance of its functions; 

•  keep a proper record of the property of the declared 
institution; submit to the Director-General any returns 
required by him or her in regard thereto and cause 
proper books of account to be kept; 

•  determine, subject to this Act and with the approval of 
the Minister, the objects of the declared institution; and, 

•  generally, carry out the objects of the declared 
institution.

In addition, the Council: 
•  appoints, in consultation with the Minister, the Chief 

Executive Officer (CEO); 
•  determines the public operating hours of the institution; 

•  determines the conditions under which the public  
may visit the institution; and, 

• determines the admission charges that may be paid.

1.2.5 Management
1.2.5.1 Executive Management Committee
The Executive Management Committee (Exco) consists 
of the Chief Executive Officer, the Executive Director 
Core Functions, and the Executive Director Operations, 
with the Chief Financial Officer and the Director of 
Institutional Advancement in the Office of the CEO 
playing supporting roles.

1.2.5.2 Senior Management Team
Iziko has three operational units, namely the Core 
Functions and Operations units, and the Department 
of Institutional Advancement in the Office of the CEO.

The Core Functions unit includes the departments of 
Natural History Collections, Social History Collections,  
Art Collections, and Education and Public Programmes.

The Operations unit includes the departments of 
Finance and Administration, Customer Services 
Management, Facilities Management and Human 
Resources.

The heads of these departments – along with the  
Chief Financial Officer, the Director of Institutional 
Advancement and the members of the Executive 
Management Committee – constitute the Senior 
Management Team of Iziko, under the leadership  
of the CEO.

ABOVE TOP: Hamish Robertson, Director Natural History Collections; Denise Crous, Director Human Resources Management.  
BOTTOM: Susan Glanville-Zini, Director Institutional Advancement; Riason Naidoo, Director Art Collections; Lalou Meltzer, Director Social History 
Collections; Wayne Alexander, Director Education and Public Programmes.



1.3 Introduction by Professor HC
 Bredekamp, CEO of  
 Iziko Museums of Cape Town
This annual report covers the first phase of a new 
three-year cycle of the Strategic Plan 2009/2010–
2011/2012 for Iziko Museums of Cape Town which 

commenced on 1 April 
2009. This year marks  
a decade since the four 
Cape-based national 
museum institutions and 
the South African National 
Gallery were amalgamated 
into the Southern Flagship 
Institution (renamed Iziko 
Museums of Cape Town 
in 2001). A significant 
change in approach to 
strategic planning this 
year was a shift towards 

conceptualising strategy in terms of programmes 
rather than goals. The outcome of this approach is 
tabulated in the Performance Information section of 
this report. This introduction only highlights the key 
achievements of Council, senior management and staff  
in the period under review. 

Good Corporate Governance and Administration was  
a high priority programme with its focus on ensuring  
that Iziko was fully compliant with legislation and 
delivering effectively on its mandate as a heritage 
institution. A highlight here was the implementation 
of the approved policy and procedures on the 
Management of Programme Performance Information 
in accordance with Treasury guidelines of 2007 and in 
alignment with the strategic plan for 2009–2012. Related 
to this outcome, the CEO succeeded both at corporate 
governance level, and as President of the International 
Council of Museums – South Africa (ICOM-SA), to forge 
closer professional relationships with bodies like the 
South African Museums Association (SAMA), ICOMOS, 
SAHRA and the National Heritage Council (NHC) of South 
Africa. A case in point was the inclusion of the CEO of 
the NHC in the small delegation of ICOM-SA to the 
international body’s Advisory Committee meeting and 
General Assembly in Paris in June 2009. An initiative 
for closer regional cooperation in southern Africa 
between chairs of national committees and other 
heritage practitioners started by ICOM-SA in 2008 led to 
an equally successful second workshop, “Building cross-
border partnership”, in November 2009 in Windhoek 
with the goodwill of the Museums Association of Namibia, 
ICOM-Namibia and the Windhoek-based regional office 
of UNESCO. A joint paper was presented by the South 
African presidents of SAMA and ICOM-SA. 

In addition to these responsibilities, the CEO also 
served on other governing bodies. These include 
the Editorial Board of the Seoul-based International 
Journal of Intangible Heritage appointed by the South 
Korean Minister of Culture and Tourism, the Castle 
of Good Hope Control Board, the Groot Constantia 
Trust’s Board of Directors, the Genadendal Mission 
Museum Board of Trustees, the West Coast Fossil Park 
Board of Trustees, and the Stockholm-based Hans 
Manneby Museums Development Trust Fund. Under his 
leadership, the University of the Western Cape (UWC)/
Department of Art and Culture (DAC) Afrikaans Taal 
Project team, appointed by former Minister Pallo Z 
Jordan, organised a most successful Afrikaans-Dutch 
“Roots” Festival and Conference in September 2009 
at UWC, with the CEO of Iziko as Chairperson of the 
Ministerial Steering Committee. In this capacity, he 
also served as convenor for a joint museum exhibition 
for the Festival, produced by Iziko in collaboration  
with the Afrikaans Taalmuseum and the Genadendal 
Mission Museum.

Also with regard to good governance and administration, 
Iziko can report with a measure of pride that, for the 
fourth consecutive year, the institution attained an 
unqualified audit report on its financial management 
without any matters of emphasis. Iziko also received  
an unqualified audit report for the procurement  
of services and asset management in the year  
under review. 

In the second programme, Institutional Development, 
with its focus on sustaining Iziko as an innovative 
heritage institution that builds effective stakeholder 
relations, an outstanding highlight was the significant 
funding secured from the National Lotteries 
Distribution Trust Fund (NLDTF) towards the end of 
the fiscal year for our special 2010 programme. The 
continued support of the NLDTF is much appreciated.  
The Iziko 2010 programme was launched at the Slave 
Lodge in February 2010 with the opening of the 
exhibition Mandela: Leader, Comrade, Negotiator, 
Prisoner, Statesman, marking the twentieth anniversary 
of former President Mandela’s release from prison. This 
event affirmed Iziko’s partnership with the well-
known Apartheid Museum, and was presented with the 
support of the Nelson Mandela Foundation. 

The third programme, Custodianship and Development 
of Collections and Sites, focused on the management 
of our national collections to the highest professional 
standards. One of the highlights at the end of 2009 
was the formal handing-back to Iziko of the newly-
completed Iziko Social History Centre on historical 
Church Square. The Centre, formerly known as the 

Prof Henry C (Jatti) Bredekamp
CEO Iziko Museums of Cape Town
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National Mutual Building, now includes state-of-the-art 
conservation laboratories, climate-controlled storage 
areas, a CCTV security system, freezer and cold rooms, 
and a library which is accessible to the public. The 
building itself has become a new landmark in the city 
centre. By end of March 2010 the staff of the Social 
History Collections department had transferred the 
library books, as well as collections of furniture, art, and 
maritime archaeology to the new Centre. Within the 
same programme, the Natural History Collections team 
published 26 refereed scientific publications and added 
36 437 Natural History records to the database of  
the collections.  
 
Another project involved the installation of CCTV 
security coverage at five museums, in addition to the 
Social History Centre, and was close to completion 
by the end of the financial year. Within the next 
few months all these sites will be connected to the 
main control room at the SA Museum via a new fibre 
optic network, enabling 24-hour monitoring at this 
control room. A project to allow access to visitors with 
disabilities is nearing completion. Six new lifts at five 
of our museums, as well as two wheelchair hoists have 
been installed. These facilities will be operational in 
June 2010. 

The fourth programme, Interpretation and 
Communication of Heritage Resources, is key to  
the public mandate of Iziko, which uses its collections 
in the fields of Art, Social History and Natural History 
to play a significant role in the education and 
enjoyment of people of all ages. Research that had 
been undertaken on the collections was communicated 
through both academic and popular publications, 
through exhibitions, public programmes and the 
website. Collectively, the various projects in this 
programme promoted new ways of seeing and thinking 
about the world around us. Among the 19 exhibitions, 
of the year, highlights included the Art exhibition 
Strengths & Convictions: The Life and Times of the 
South African Nobel Peace Prize Laureates, hosted by 
Iziko in partnership with the Nobel Peace Center in Oslo 
and the Norwegian Embassy, and officially opened by 
Queen Sonja of Norway in November 2009; the Social 
History display, Streets and Stadium: from iDiski to the 
World Cup at the Cape Town International Convention 
Centre, and the Natural History exhibitions at the SA 
Museum, Africa’s Wealth, and Darwin and the Cape, 
which marked the bicentenary of Charles Darwin’s birth.

Iziko’s 2010 Summer School with the theme “The 
Hearth of the Nation: Igniting Connections” attracted 
some 670 people. Through public engagement and 
youth activities the events focused on compelling 

moments in South African history, including the 
release of Nelson Mandela from prison. Eminent 
speakers, including Ahmed Kathrada, Dave Steward, 
Dr Mamphela Ramphele and Adv George Bizos, took 
the diverse audiences through the ideals upon which 
Mandela’s philosophy of a non-racial society is built. 

A highlight of our fifth programme, Promote and 
Increase Access to Heritage Resources was the 
project, mentioned above, to enable people with 
disabilities to have full access to our museums.  
Young people of 16 years and under continued to  
enjoy free entrance to Iziko museums, and access 
was free to all on commemorative days and during 
Heritage Week. In the year under review, a total  
of 473 982 people visited Iziko museums, a slightly 
lower number than in the previous year, but, 
considering the effect of the recession on tourism, 
this was not unexpected.   

In respect of the sixth programme, Human Resource 
Management and Development, the overall focus 
was on sustaining an organisation with motivated 
employees noted for their skills and efficiency and 
whose service excellence was valued. In order to 
encourage a climate and culture of success at Iziko, 
a process of positive engagement with staff was 
facilitated. With regard to skills development, 540 
training opportunities, including tertiary education, 
were offered to staff. During 2009, Iziko welcomed  
two new Directors: Riason Naidoo of Art Collections 
and Wayne Alexander of Education and Public 
Programmes. In early 2010, Iziko bade farewell, 
respectively, to its Executive Directors of Core 
Functions and Operations, Dr Patricia Davison, who 
retired at the end of March 2010, and Mrs Veliswa 
Baduza who was appointed as Chief Operations  
Officer of the Department of Arts and Culture in 
February 2010. 

In conclusion, the commitment and achievements of 
the staff of Iziko are acknowledged with appreciation. 
Their hard work makes it possible for Iziko to realise its 
mission and to add value to the wider heritage sector in 
South Africa and beyond its borders.



1.4 Performance Information 2009-2010
Programme 1: Corporate Governance and Administration

Impact: A well-managed institution that provides leadership for the heritage sector     

Outcome: A heritage institution that is fully compliant with legislation and effectively managed to deliver on its 
mandate

KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Compliance with 
legislation including 
strategic planning 
and reporting on 
performance 

Ensure compliance 
with the Public 
Finance Management 
Act (PFMA) and 
National Treasury’s 
Framework 
for Managing 
Programme 
Performance 
Information 

A strategic plan 
aligned to the 
approved policy 
on managing 
programme 
performance 
information

Iziko strategic 
plan drafted and 
approved on 
schedule

A draft strategic 
plan for 2010-2013 
is submitted to 
Department of Arts 
and Culture (DAC) by 
30 September 2009

Draft strategic plan 
for 2010–2013, the 
corresponding budget 
and the Materiality & 
Significance Framework 
were submitted to DAC on 
30 September 2009.

An approved strategic 
plan for 2010–2013, 
including budget 
and Materiality 
& Significance 
Framework submitted 
to DAC by  
1 March 2010

The approved strategic 
plan for 2010–2013, 
including budget and 
Materiality & Significance 
Framework was submitted 
to DAC on schedule.

An annual 
report reflecting  
achievements 
on strategic 
objectives 

Unqualified 
audit report on 
performance 
(financial and  
non-financial) 

Performance 
information reported 
and submitted to 
auditors by  
31 May 2009

Financial and performance 
information for 
2008/2009 was submitted 
by the due date.

An unqualified audit report 
for 2008/2009 with no 
matters of emphasis was 
received.

A consolidated, 
approved budget 
aligned to the 
strategic plan

Programmes 
implemented in 
accordance with 
the approved 
budget

Consolidated annual 
budget for 2010–2011 
presented and 
approved by Council 
by January 2010

The Estimate of National 
Expenditure (ENE) for  
the Medium Term 
Expenditure Framework 
(MTEF) period: 2010–2013 
was submitted to DAC  
and National Treasury  
in September 2009.

The revised budget  
for 2009–2010 was 
approved by Council in  
December 2009.

Quarterly and 
annual reports  
submitted to 
the Accounting 
and Executive 
authorities 

Quarterly reports 
presented to 
Council 

In compliance with 
the PFMA, quarterly 
and annual reports 
submitted to the 
Council, by the due 
dates

Quarterly reports were 
presented to Council at  
the meetings of 31 July 
2009, 15 October 2009 
and 15 March 2010.

Quarterly strategic 
plan progress 
reports submitted 
to DAC 

In compliance with 
the PFMA, quarterly 
and annual reports 
submitted to DAC by 
the due dates

Annual and quarterly 
reports were submitted  
to DAC by the due dates.  
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KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Compliance with 
legislation including 
strategic planning 
and reporting on 
performance

Iziko annual report 
submitted to 
the Office of the 
Auditor-General

In compliance with 
the PFMA, quarterly 
and annual reports 
submitted to the 
National Treasury 
and Auditor-General 
by the due dates

The Iziko 2008/2009 
Annual Report was 
submitted to the 
Minister of Arts and 
Culture and tabled  
in parliament in 
September 2009.

Financial 
Management

Improved 
organisational 
compliance with 
financial policies and 
procedures

An approved 
financial manual  
in place

A financial 
manual drafted 
and presented 
to Council for 
approval

First draft of 
financial manual 
presented 
to Executive 
Management 
Committee (Exco) 
by April 2009

Target not achieved. 
First draft of Financial 
Manual will be submitted 
to Exco in May/June 
2010.

Second draft of 
financial manual 
presented to Exco 
by December 2009

Second draft 
incorporating comments 
will be submitted to Exco 
in July/August 2010.

All staff aware 
of the financial 
policies and 
procedures 

Staff trained 
on first draft of 
Financial Manual  
by August 2009

Staff training will 
take place in August/
September 2010.  

Provide an effective 
and efficient 
procurement and 
asset management 
service 

The supply chain 
management (SCM)
policy informs 
all procurement 
processes

Relevant provisions 
of the approved 
SCM policies 
are applied in 
all procurement 
processes

Close monitoring 
of procurement of 
goods and services

Ten tenders were 
finalised during this 
year and preferred 
service providers were 
appointed. 

An effective asset 
management 
system in place

Asset verification 
reports generated

Asset verification 
conducted by 30 
March 2010

Asset verification will be 
conducted by 30 April 
2010.

Monthly 
reconciliation of 
asset register to 
the general ledger 
report 

Reconciliation of 
the asset register 
to the general 
ledger by the 10th 
of every month

The reconciliation of 
the asset register as 
at 31 March 2009 was 
completed and audited 
by the Auditor-General. 

Monthly reconciliation 
was conducted and 
presented to the Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO). 

A balanced asset 
register

Balance the asset 
register by March 
2010

As a new assets 
system was installed, 
asset register opening 
balances could only  
be reconciled by  
30 April 2010.

Facilities 
Management

Ensure optimal 
usage of information 
technology (IT) to 
facilitate efficient and 
effective operations

Integrated 
connectivity of all 
sites

An IT strategic plan 
is developed to 
ensure integrated 
connectivity of sites 

A draft IT strategic 
plan is developed 
by December 2009

The establishment of  
the IT Steering 
Committee and 
development of the 
strategic plan was 
deferred to August 2010.



KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Facilities 
Management

Ensure optimal 
usage of information 
technology to 
facilitate efficient 
and effective 
operations

A new telephone 
management 
system in place

VoIP telephony 
installed at major 
sites

VoIP telephony 
installed at the 
Iziko South African 
Museum (ISAM), 
Iziko South African 
National Gallery 
(ISANG), Annexe, 
Iziko Social History 
Centre (ISHC) and 
Iziko Slave Lodge 
(ISL) by June 2009

Tender for new VoIP 
telephone system 
was finalised and the 
preferred service 
provider appointed in 
December 2009. The 
fibre optic installation 
and connection will be 
completed in May 2010.

Installation of the 
system commenced at 
ISHC and has also been 
successfully installed 
at ISAM. Roll-out to all 
the other museums is 
subject to the fibre optic 
cabling being in place.

Improved telephone 
connectivity of 
major sites and 
reduced telephone 
costs

Ensure that building 
infrastructure is 
maintained at all 
sites for optimal 
functionality

A building 
maintenance 
programme for all 
sites in place 

A quarterly 
fumigation and 
air-conditioning 
system servicing 
programme is 
developed and 
implemented

Quarterly roll out 
of  fumigation and 
air-conditioning 
system programme 
monitored

Quarterly fumigation 
schedule of Iziko sites 
was carried out.

Maintenance contracts 
for the air-conditioning 
and climate control 
services depend on 
Department of Public 
Works (DPW) obtaining 
funding.

An annual fire 
equipment and 
emergency diesel 
generator servicing 
programme is 
developed and 
implemented

Annual servicing 
of fire equipment 
and emergency 
diesel generator 
monitored

The DPW-appointed 
service provider 
completed the servicing 
of the fire equipment.

The emergency diesel 
generator at the ISAM 
underwent a major 
service in June 2009 
and was monitored 
regularly in accordance 
with set procedures.

An annual 
inspection 
programme of 
hoists and lifts 
implemented

Annual inspection 
of hoists and lifts 
monitored

A service provider was 
appointed by DPW for 
three years for the 
servicing of hoists and 
lifts. Lifts at the ISAM 
were serviced and 
upgraded.

An effective 
electronic system 
of logging and 
monitoring of 
incidents and faults 
in place

Percentage 
increase of closure 
of corrective action 
reports

50% increase 
in closure of 
corrective action 
reports 

Corrective action reports 
were developed monthly 
for all Iziko sites. Closure 
on corrective action 
reports during the year 
was 77%.

Improved condition 
of all Iziko sites 
through continual 
refurbishment

A repair and 
renovation 
programme to 
refurbish Iziko sites 
in place

DPW-driven repair 
and renovation, 
as well as capital 
works programmes, 
signed off

First delivery on 
the ISAM repair and 
renovation signed 
off by June 2009

The ISAM repair and 
renovation programme 
was signed off.
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KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Disaster 
management

Ensure preparedness 
of all staff to prevent 
and deal with 
calamities that may 
befall our sites and 
operating systems

An approved 
disaster 
management policy 
in place

A disaster 
management 
policy drafted 
and presented 
to Council for 
approval 

A draft policy 
presented to Exco 
by June 2009

The draft disaster 
management policy 
was not completed 
as this depended 
on the disaster risk 
management register, 
which was still under 
development during  
this period. 

The installation of 
mandatory signage 
was completed. The 
development of Business 
Continuity and IT 
disaster management 
plans continued in 
consultation with DAC.

Disaster 
management 
policy presented 
to Council for 
approval in October 
2009

As indicated above,  
a disaster management 
policy was under 
development and will 
be finalised in the first 
quarter of 2010/2011.

Site specific 
disaster 
management 
procedures in place 

Disaster 
management 
procedures 
developed for all 
Iziko sites

Procedures in place 
and implemented at 
the four main sites

A disaster management 
manual is being 
developed for the four 
main sites. Evacuation 
procedures have been 
developed and tested.

All staff aware 
of the disaster 
management 
procedures

Staff at the 
four main sites 
trained on site 
specific disaster 
management 
procedures by 
March 2010 

Emergency procedures 
such as fire drills were 
undertaken at ISAM; 
Michaelis Collection; 
Iziko William Fehr 
Collection (IWFC) and 
Iziko Maritime Centre.

An active Health 
and Safety 
Committee 
established 

A health and safety 
policy drafted 
and presented 
to Council for 
approval

A draft health and 
safety policy is 
presented to Exco 
by April 2009

The first draft of the 
health and safety 
policy was submitted 
to the Executive 
Director Operations and 
circulated for comment 
in April 2009.  

The health and 
safety policy is 
presented to Council 
for approval in  
June 2009

The final draft of the 
health and safety policy 
was tabled at Exco and 
approved by Council in 
March 2010.

The Health and 
Safety Committee 
carries out its role 
in line with the 
provisions of the 
Occupational Health 
and Safety (OHS) 
Act and submits 
quarterly reports 

Quarterly reports 
presented to Exco 
and Council

Quarterly Health and 
Safety Committee 
reports were submitted 
to the Executive Director 
Operations.



KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Disaster 
management

Improved access 
controls and security 
measures across  
all sites

Upgraded security 
systems and 
improved access 
controls in place

Alarm systems 
upgraded across all 
sites and linked to 
monitoring services

An audit of existing 
alarm systems 
finalised by April 
2009

An audit of the 
ISAM alarm system 
was conducted by a 
service provider and 
recommendations 
submitted to DPW in 
April 2009.

Closed Circuit 
Television (CCTV) 
cameras installed 
across six main 
sites 

CCTV cameras in 
operation at six 
main sites by June 
2009

CCTV systems were 
operational at ISAM, 
ISANG and ISL. Progress 
was made on installation 
at other Iziko museums.  
See Appendix 4.1

Control room at the 
ISAM is upgraded 
and extended to 
other four main 
sites

Control room at the 
ISAM upgraded and 
fully functional by 
June 2009

The upgrade of the 
security control room  
at ISAM was completed. 

Electronic access 
control at the ISAM 
foyer in place

The design for the 
access control 
system at the ISAM 
foyer finalised by 
April 2009

The refurbishment  
of the ISAM foyer was 
completed and opened 
in December 2009.  

Safety of collections 
ensured in the event 
of a disaster

Safety procedures 
and guidelines 
for protecting 
collections are  
in place and 
adhered to

Guidelines for the 
protection of all 
collections are 
documented 

Guidelines for all 
collections in place 
by September 2009

Guidelines for the 
protection of all 
collections will  
be incorporated in  
the disaster 
management plan. 

Staff awareness 
programme 
implemented

Staff training 
and awareness 
programme rolled 
out by November 
2009 

Staff training and 
awareness programme 
will be implemented as 
soon as the disaster 
management plan has 
been finalised.

Risk Management

Ensure that there 
is an effective 
risk management 
strategy in place 
that addresses all 
risks to realising the 
objectives of Iziko

A risk management 
strategy and policy 
in place

Risk management 
strategy and policy 
are developed 

Risk management 
strategy approved 
by Council in June 
2009 

The development of 
the risk management 
strategy was in progress 
and the final document 
will be presented to 
Council for approval  
in 2010/2011.

Risk management 
implementation 
plan is rolled out 
and monitored 

Reports on the 
risk management 
implementation 
plan tabled at 
Risk Management 
Committee 
meetings 

Departmental risk 
registers were revised.

A comprehensive 
Iziko risk register was 
submitted to Exco.

The risk 
management 
implementation 
plan is reviewed 
annually

The risk management 
implementation plan 
will be reviewed during 
2010/2011.



PAGE 13

KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Records 
Management

Effective systems 
for the management 
of Iziko records 
(archival and 
administrative) 
implemented

A Council-
approved records 
management policy 
in place 

Policy and 
procedures 
on records 
management 
drafted for Council 
approval

Section of policy 
on archival records 
complete by May 
2009 for Council 
approval in  
June 2009

The archival records 
policy was drafted and 
will be finalised during 
2010/2011.

Section of policy 
on administrative 
records complete 
by August 2009 for 
Council approval  
in October 2009

Target not achieved. 
Working procedures in 
place will inform policy 
development during 
2010/2011.

Programme 2: Institutional Development

Impact: A heritage institution that contributes increasingly to society through its diverse projects and activities 

Outcome: A sustainable and innovative heritage institution that builds effective stakeholder relations and is 
supported by the communities it serves

KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Partnerships

Build and 
sustain effective 
relationships 
with partners and 
stakeholders

Partnership and 
stakeholder 
management 
strategy developed 
and implemented

Partnership 
strategy in place 
and implemented

A database of 
potential local, 
national and 
international 
partners 
established by  
December 2009

A strategy for the 
integrated management 
of partnerships will be 
implemented during 
2010/2011.

Stakeholder 
strategy in place 
and implemented

Stakeholder 
strategy in place by 
April 2009

New alliances 
with stakeholders 
developed by  
December 2009 

A formal stakeholder 
strategy was not 
developed, but a number 
of partnerships were 
sustained.  
See Appendix 4.2

Increased support 
from Friends 
associations

Report on support 
by Friends 
associations by  
May 2009

Report from Friends of the 
SA Museum was received. 
See Appendix 4.5.2 for 
support received from 
Friends of the  
SA National Gallery.

Fundraising

Raise funds from 
external sources to 
supplement the DAC 
subsidy 

A short- to medium-
term fundraising 
strategy and 
implementation 
plan developed

A fundraising 
strategy and plan 
developed and 
implemented

Strategy and plan 
in place by April 
2009

Plan implemented 
and sustained 
during 2009/2010

The fundraising strategy 
developed in 2008 
was implemented as 
far as possible during 
2009/2010, given 
available resources.  
A key achievement was 
to secure payment of 
all funding granted by 
the National Lotteries 
Distribution Trust Fund 
(NLDTF). A fundraising 
plan for 2010 programmes 
was successfully 
implemented.



KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Fundraising

Raise funds from 
external sources to 
supplement the DAC 
subsidy

A short- to 
medium-term 
fundraising 
strategy and 
implementation 
plan developed

Funds raised 
according to plan

Funds raised 
according to target 
set for 2009/2010

R2 million was approved 
by DAC for the upgrade of 
signage and wayfinding at 
the ISAM. 

NLDTF paid Iziko 
R1,639,300 for current 
projects to be completed 
by early 2011.

In February 2010 
NLDTF approved 
R4,665,584 towards the 
implementation of Iziko’s 
2010 programme and the 
purchase of a GaiaSphere 
for the ISAM.

Income generation

Maximise revenue 
generated from all 
income streams

Control measures 
in place to reduce 
possible loss of 
income from 
entrance fees

All sites equipped 
with a point of sale 
(POS) system

POS system 
installed at the 
three outstanding 
museums by April 
2009

The installation of POS 
system was completed.

Staff trained in 
operating the POS 
system by May 
2009

Staff training workshop on 
revised POS procedures 
was undertaken. POS cash 
handling procedures were 
revised and implemented.

An Iziko-branded 
tamper-proof 
donation box 
installed at the IWFC

The donation box 
installed by April 
2009

The new tamper-proof 
Iziko-branded donation 
box for IWFC was 
commissioned.

Cash-handling 
procedures 
reviewed

The review of cash 
handling-procedures 
implemented by 
December 2009

A meeting with the 
Customer Services 
department to review the 
cash-handling procedures 
took place in February 
2010. 

Staff trained on the 
implementation of 
the reviewed cash 
handling procedures 
by February 2010 

Training will take place 
once the Cash Handling 
Procedures has been 
reviewed and approved by 
Exco.

Control measures 
in place to 
monitor and 
increase parking 
revenue 

Parking rates 
benchmarked 
against central 
business district 
(CBD) parking tariffs

10% increase in 
monthly parking 
clientele by 
September 2009

Monthly commercial 
parking tariffs were 
increased by 10% in July 
2009.

Parking fees 
reviewed in line with 
benchmarked tariffs 
by December 2009

Staff parking tariffs 
reviewed in December 
2009 and increased by 6% 
effective January 2010.

Parking agreements 
with clients 
developed and 
implemented 

An agreement 
signed with all 
monthly parking 
clients by June 
2009 

A draft parking agreement 
was circulated and 
recommendations were 
considered. The final draft 
will be referred for legal 
scrutiny in 2010/2011. 
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KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Income generation

Maximise revenue 
generated from all 
income streams

Control measures 
in place to monitor 
consumable stock 
usage

A database 
of preferred 
service providers 
developed

Database of 
preferred service 
providers in place 
by March 2010

Database of service 
providers was finalised 
and circulated to senior 
managers in December 
2009.

SCM-approved 
stock control 
system 
implemented

50% improvement 
in compliance with 
SCM stock control 
principles by March 
2010

Monthly stock-sheets were 
developed for all items in 
stock.

Control measures 
in place to monitor 
sales of books, 
postcards and 
guides

SCM-approved 
stock control 
system 
implemented

50% increase 
in systematic 
recording of sales 
by March 2010

Stock control procedures 
were communicated to 
relevant departments. 

Inventory control 
processes were assessed 
and improvements 
identified. Stock-take 
of inventory items was 
implemented in  
March 2010.

Increased revenue 
through hire of 
venues and lease 
of retail outlets

Demand for hire 
of Iziko venues 
increased 

10% increase in 
venue hire by 
March 2010

294 venue hire events 
generated an income 
of R406,303. This was 
R121,696 less than target, 
but the shortfall can be 
attributed to construction 
work at most museums 
to implement access for 
people with disabilities, 
and a two-month 
moratorium on venue hire 
to review contracts.

Lease agreements 
in place for all Iziko 
retail outlets

Rental income 
increased in 
line with lease 
agreements

Income generated from 
leases of restaurants and 
museum shops totalled 
R477,915. This fell short 
of the budgeted target of 
R575,853 as two leases 
were terminated, and the 
renovation of the foyer 
at ISAM meant that no 
income could be derived 
from that site. 

Income generated 
through Iziko-
branded 
merchandise

Merchandise 
produced for  
sale and marketed 
successfully; 
increased revenue 
generated through 
sales 

Selected range  
of merchandise  
on sale by 
December 2009; 
percentage 
increase in sales

Iziko T-shirts were 
produced for sale in 
museum shops and a set 
of DAC-funded posters 
was produced for sale in 
the Gallery Shop. 

Due to lack of outlets for 
sale of merchandise, the 
total income for the year 
was only R2,040.



KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Collections 
management 
and preventive 
conservation

Upgraded storage of 
collections to improve 
conservation and 
accessibility

Social History (SH)
collections safely 
relocated and 
integrated in new 
Iziko Social History 
Centre (ISHC)

Percentage of 
collection boxes 
relocated

100% of boxes 
relocated by 31 
March 2010

22% of boxes had 
been relocated by 31 
March 2010. Due to 
construction delays 
beyond Iziko’s control 
in the completion of the 
ISHC, the target was not 
reached. 

Percentage of boxes 
unpacked

50% of boxes 
unpacked 

Target not met as 
the relocation of the 
collections was delayed.  

Percentage of 
African Studies 
collection integrated

10% of boxes 
integrated

Not applicable in this 
year as the relocation 
of the collections was 
delayed.  

African Art 
collections 
relocated from ISAM 
to ISANG as an 
interim measure

Percentage 
of collections 
relocated 

100% by  
Sept 2009 

78% of collections 
relocated. The target 
was not reached, mainly 
because of logistical and 
budgetary constraints in 
regard to preparation of 
storage space in ISANG.

Relevant Natural 
History (NH) 
collections moved to 
basement storage 
area of ISAM

Percentage of 
cupboards and 
shelves transferred.

100% of collections 
transferred by 
March 2010

Target no longer 
applicable considering 
the impact of the 
courtyard project on the 
basement of the ISAM.  

Collections and 
staff in ISAM moved 
to make way for 
courtyard project

Collections and staff 
from ISAM relocated 
to alternative 
accommodation 

Alternative 
accommodation 
obtained

Target not met because 
DPW still searching 
for alternative 
accommodation.  
A proposal for off-site 
requirements was 
drafted and submitted 
to DPW. 

Digitisation of 
collections to 
increase access to 
information

Collection 
registration 
information on 
database  

Increase in number 
of new NH, SH and 
Art accessions data-
based

Number of NH, SH 
and Art accessions 
data-based

See Appendix 4.3.1

Objects in NH, Art 
and SH collections 
photographed for 
image database

Increased number 
of NH objects 
photographed

Number of objects 
photographed and 
added to database

A total of 898 NH 
specimens were 
photographed.

Increased number of 
SH and Art objects 
photographed

Number of objects 
photographed and 
added to database

An illustrated inventory 
list of Ndebele art 
collections was digitally 
recorded.  
See Appendix 4.3.2

Programme 3: Custodianship and development of collections and sites

Impact: The unique heritage resources of Iziko are preserved and developed for the benefit of present and future 
generations

Outcome: The collections held in trust for the nation are managed to the highest professional standards 
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KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Collections 
management 
and preventive 
conservation

Digitisation of 
collections to 
increase access to 
information

Collection 
databases 
accessible on 
Internet 

Percentage of 
accessions on 
Internet – NH, SH 
and Art

Percentage of 
records on Internet

NH collection records on 
SABIF: 107 482

NH collection records on 
OBIS: 35 462

NH collection records on 
Internet: 32%

Art Collections retrieved 
99 profile files in 
preparation for the 
Africa Media Online 
digitisation project.

Photographic 
collections digitised

Number of NH, SH 
and Art images 
scanned

Percentage of 
images scanned

See Appendix 4.3.2

Image database 
created

Number of NH, SH 
and Art images 
data-based

Percentage of 
images on database

Image bank not yet  
in place.

Audit of Art 
collection holdings 

Art collections 
checked against 
register

Inventory of 
artworks checked 
and documented.

50% of artworks 
checked and 
documented

Complete inventory and 
stock-take of the entire 
Ndebele Collection was 
undertaken.

Stock-take of Works on 
Paper and Photography 
& New Media was 
undertaken. 

Register the backlog 
of unregistered items 
in NH collections

All collections 
registered

Number of 
unregistered NH 
objects registered 
from backlog

6 000 objects 
registered

More than 6 000 
objects registered 
(mainly Entomology).

Manage loans to 
extend the value of 
heritage collections 
and libraries

Inter-institutional 
loans managed 
following policy 
guidelines

Loans handled 
professionally 
in all collections 
departments 

Responses to loan 
requests in line with 
best practice

See loan transactions 
summarised in 
Appendix 4.4 
These loans were 
dispatched in line with 
collections policies and 
procedures.

Implement a system 
for archiving 
collections-related 
information 

System planned 
and implemented 
in line with records 
management policy

Number of archival 
records added to 
system

Percentage of 
records archived

All new acquisitions 
added to system

Archival system not 
yet in place because 
records management 
policy still needs to be 
finalised and approved, 
and suitable systems 
still being assessed.

Conservation  
of collections

Actively ensure 
the long-term 
preservation of 
collections

Conservation 
procedures 
developed for all 
collections

Conservation 
procedures in place 
for all collections

Conservation 
manual for SH 
Collections 
completed by 
September 2009; 
procedures 
implemented 

Preventive conservation 
procedures manual 
for SH Collections 
completed by 31 
January 2010. Delay was 
caused by disruptions 
from conservation 
planning for move back 
to ISHC. Procedures 
were implemented on 
an ongoing basis.  



KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Conservation of 
collections

Actively ensure 
the long-term 
preservation of 
collections

Paintings restored 
according to 
conservation plan 
for Art collections

Number of 
paintings restored

Paintings restored 
as scheduled

Artworks were restored 
as per schedule. Reports 
on conservation work 
on the Bailey Collection 
were submitted to 
the Bailey Trust in 
December. 

Conservation also 
provided to works 
for 1910-2010: From 
Pierneef to Gugulective. 

Collections 
Development

Ensure growth 
of collections in 
line with strategic 
priorities

Relevant new 
additions to the 
Art, SH and NH 
collections

Number of 
significant works 
added to collection 
in line with 
priorities

Number of new 
acquisitions in line 
with collecting 
priorities; budget 
spent effectively 
and relevant 
donations accepted

See Appendix 4.5

Site improvement 

Improve signage to 
enable visitors to 
find their way around 
Iziko museums 

Mandatory signage 
compliant with the 
OHS Act in place at 
all sites

Directional and 
emergency signage 
installed at all sites

All sites installed 
with directional and 
emergency signage 
by April 2009 

Mandatory signage 
(directional and 
emergency signage) was 
installed at all Iziko sites 
by February 2010. The 
delay was caused by 
the need to standardise 
mandatory signage with 
intended way-finding 
signage.

An enhanced visitor 
experience and 
satisfied patrons 

Visitor experience 
surveys conducted 
annually

50% increase in 
positive feedback 
by August 2009

Target not met as 
baseline studies are still 
being conducted as a 
benchmark. Baseline 
Visitor Profile Tracking 
Studies (October 2009) 
monitored customer 
satisfaction. In addition, 
Mystery Visitor Studies 
(September 2009) 
were conducted. 
Consolidated visitor 
comments circulated to 
stakeholders for action 
on a monthly basis.

Ensure that all public 
spaces and facilities 
are maintained to the 
highest standards

Effective and 
efficient cleaning 
and hygiene 
services in place for 
all Iziko sites

Hygiene services 
audit completed

A hygiene services 
provider appointed 
for the ISAM by 
April 2009

A service provider was 
appointed in December 
2009 to provide an 
integrated hygiene 
service to all Iziko sites. 
Target date not met due 
to expansion of scope of 
project and associated 
tender processes.

All sites on new 
hygiene contract

50% improvement 
on service delivery 
by June 2009

Completed. New 
hygiene contracts in 
place for all sites.
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KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Research

Undertake research 
on collections and 
the heritage they 
represent

Research 
publications by Iziko 
researchers in all 
departments

Research 
publications 
produced by Iziko 
scientists and 
curators

Number of research 
publications

26 refereed publications. 
See Appendix 4.6

Popular publications 
that make research 
accessible

Number of popular 
publications 
produced

Number of 
catalogues and 
popular publications

15 catalogues and 
popular publications. See 
Appendix 4.6

Funds raised for 
research

External income for 
research 

Amount raised from 
National Research 
Foundation (NRF) 
and other sources

SH – 1 NRF project, MSA 
research, Dr S Wurz.

NH Research Funding 
2009 calendar year: 
R1,848,401.22 (NRF, 
including roll-overs), 
R148,000.31 (NSF), 
R48,000 (OBIS),  
R100 000 (PAST) =  
R2,144,401.53.

Undertake research on 
Indigenous Knowledge 
Systems (IKS) in 
relation to Iziko 
programmes

Documentation 
of indigenous 
knowledge in 
relation to specific 
projects 

Inclusion of IKS 
perspective in 
relevant publications 
and exhibitions 

Research on IKS 
undertaken

Various publications 
were completed in draft 
by Dr G Klinghardt on IKS 
in the N. Cape. Themba 
Matomela conducted 
many sessions on 
indigenous astronomy, 
based on his research.  

Stimulate debate on 
relevant issues in the 
heritage sector 

Workshops and 
forum discussions on 
pertinent museum 
issues, including 
representation and 
classification

Number of 
successful 
workshops held 
and documented; 
impact on the wider 
heritage sector 

Use the move 
to the ISHC as a 
platform for debate 
on collections as 
archives

Not applicable in this 
year as the move had not 
been completed.

Resolve the future 
of the San Diorama 
with input of 
stakeholders 

An academic workshop 
on the issue of ‘casting, 
human remains and the 
diorama’ was held at the 
ISL in May 2009. Future 
of the San Diorama still 
to be resolved.

Exhibitions

Improve the visitor 
experience through 
new exhibitions, with 
particular emphasis 
on preparation for the 
2010 World Cup

Vibrant programme 
of Iziko exhibitions 
planned and 
implemented

Meeting of exhibition 
objectives as 
planned and within 
timeframe

Planned exhibitions 
successfully 
delivered on 
schedule

Launch of 19 exhibitions 
in 2009-2010. See 
Appendix 4.7

Key exhibits 
identified and 
information provided 
for visitors 

Information on key 
exhibits available 
and understood by 
all staff

Information 
communicated to 
staff by March 2010

Customer Services staff 
attended information 
sessions on NH, SH 
and Art collections and 
exhibitions.

Programme 4: Interpretation and Communication of Heritage Resources

Impact: The heritage resources of Iziko are interpreted and presented to the public in order to increase respect for 
the cultural and natural diversity of South Africa

Outcome: The knowledge that is implicit in our heritage resources is researched, interpreted and communicated 
through publications, exhibitions, education programmes and engagement with the public  



KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Website

Increase access to 
knowledge about 
African Natural 
History, through 
development of 
content-based 
websites 

Further 
development 
of Biodiversity 
Explorer, Figweb 
and Waspweb 
websites

Number of web 
pages indexed by 
Google 

13 000 pages 
indexed by  
31 March 2010

6 494 NH pages were 
indexed by Google by  
31 March 2010, dropping 
from a peak of 18 759 
on January 25. The 
drop in number is 
inexplicable as pages 
uploaded still exceed 
18 000. 

Number of page 
downloads per day 

4 000 downloads 
per day by  
31 March 2010

Page downloads per day 
in March 2010 = 4 084 
(Biodiversity Explorer) 
+ 342 (Waspweb) + 
621(Figweb) = 5 047.

Number of unique 
visitors per day 

1 600 unique 
visitors per day by  
31 March 2010

Average unique 
visitors per day in 
March 2010 = 1 826 
(Biodiversity Explorer) 
+ 101 (Waspweb) + 192 
(Figweb) = 2 119.

Development of Art 
and SH content on 
the Iziko website

Increased content 
of Art and SH 
exhibitions and 
projects on website

Number of SH and 
Art pages added to 
the Iziko website

Web pages for all 
new exhibitions

Given current resources 
and the existing 
website structure 
and hosting, it was 
not feasible to create 
separate web pages 
for new exhibitions. 
The Iziko website was 
updated to include 
information on all new 
exhibitions. A proposal 
for the redevelopment 
of the website is in 
preparation.

Publications

Produce publications 
that increase access 
to the knowledge 
resources of Iziko 

African Natural 
History journal

One volume 
published annually

Publication of 
Volume 5 in 2009

Volume 5 published in 
Dec 2009.

Publications to 
accompany major 
exhibitions for 2010

Two books 
published in 
relation to 2010 
exhibitions

Text finalised by 
March 2010

The text and design 
for Iziko Koopmans-de 
Wet Museum Guide was 
completed in March 
2010.

A souvenir guide  
to Iziko museums 
by 2010

Souvenir guide 
produced

Text finalised by 
March 2010

Funding was not 
received from NLDTF 
in time to meet target 
for souvenir guide. 
Contract with Mobiguide 
for audio guides was put 
in place.

Education

Offer education 
services that build 
respect for natural 
and cultural diversity

Learner resources 
developed for all 
major exhibitions as 
planned

Number of 
resources 
developed in line 
with plan

Planned learner 
resources 
developed 

Learner resources are 
listed in Appendix 4.8

Use the Planetarium 
to increase 
knowledge of 
Astronomy and 
Science

Innovative shows 
developed for 
adults and children 
and facility used to 
introduce viewers 
to Astronomy

Number of 
Planetarium 
shows and courses 
planned and 
implemented 

Number of planned 
shows produced

Planetarium shows are 
listed in Appendix 4.8
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KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Public Programmes

Offer public 
programmes that 
enhance awareness 
of our diverse 
heritage and 
encourage life-long 
learning

Relevant Public 
Programmes 
planned for 
commemorative 
days 

Programmes 
successfully 
implemented 
as planned and 
evaluated

Number of planned 
public programmes 
delivered

Programmes listed. See 
Appendix 4.8 

Summer- and 
Winter-School 
programmes 
offered to  
the public

Programmes 
successfully 
implemented 
as planned and 
evaluated

Planned public 
programmes 
delivered and 
evaluated

A successful Summer 
School took place from 
30 January to 7 March 
2010 with 672 people 
participating. See 
Appendix 4.8

Use Iziko Mobile 
Museum (IMM)
effectively to 
increase awareness 
of Iziko’s heritage 
resources

A plan for use of 
IMM developed and 
implemented to 
extend reach  
of Iziko 

IMM used as 
planned, new 
audiences reached 
and good feedback 
received

Schedule met 
and audiences 
broadened

The IMM continued 
to play a vital role 
in extending the 
reach of educational 
programmes. Damage 
to the vehicle meant 
that the schedule could 
not be undertaken  
in full. 

Plan and facilitate 
guided tours for 
visitors to our 
museums

Guided tours 
planned and 
implemented for all 
Iziko museums

Number of guided 
tours offered and 
positive visitor 
feedback; a plan for 
all exhibitions to 
have guided tours 
in place

Number of guided 
tours implemented 
at most-visited 
museums; number 
of exhibitions that 
have guided tours 

Eleven guided tours 
were conducted for 
adult museum visitors.

Volunteer guides 
recruited and 
trained

Number of 
volunteer guides 
active in museums

Number of 
volunteer guides 

The ISANG had six 
volunteer guides and 
a further six were in 
training.

NH recruited one 
volunteer this year. 

KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Marketing and 
promotion

Increase Iziko’s public 
profile among all 
target groups

Marketing and 
communication 
strategy developed 
and implemented    

Communication 
strategy developed 
and updated

Document 
developed and 
approved by  
30 April 2009

Iziko logo evolution 
was approved and 
communicated 
internally.

A marketing and 
communication strategy 
was developed for the 
Iziko 2010 programme, 
with implementation 
funded by the NLDTF.

Programme 5: Promote and Increase Access to Heritage Resources

Impact: Iziko recognised nationally and internationally as a leading heritage institution in South Africa

Outcome: Awareness of Iziko and its programmes increased and audience profile diversified



KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Marketing and 
Promotion

Increase Iziko’s public 
profile among all 
target groups

Increase in Iziko 
awareness index 
from public surveys 

Baseline public 
survey conducted

A baseline survey was 
implemented to measure 
brand awareness, and 
face-to-face surveys 
were undertaken at  
10 key sites in the Cape 
Metropole. The report 
was received in  
March 2010.

Integrated 
marketing and 
communication 
plans developed for 
all key Iziko projects 

Number of project 
marketing and 
communication 
plans developed and 
implemented 

Plans implemented 
for eight key 
projects 

Marketing and 
communication plans 
were implemented for 
priority projects.

Integrated 
marketing and 
communication plan 
to promote specific 
sites and collections

Increased 
visitor figures 
at strategically 
targeted sites

Strategic plans for 
five sites 

Strategy will be 
developed when the 
system for gathering 
visitor statistics has 
been validated. 

473,982 visitors were 
recorded at Iziko 
museums, a slight drop 
compared with  
493,559 in 2008/2009. 

Increase Iziko brand 
recognition

Brand strategy, 
revised brand 
manual, and 
brand compliance 
implemented 
through conducting 
of workshops

Brand strategy 
implemented 
according to plan 

Brand strategy 
document approved 
and brand manual 
revised and 
approved. 

Two workshops 
conducted  
with staff

A new brand strategy 
was approved. A brand 
engagement process 
and brand promotion 
campaign were 
developed and will roll 
out in 2010/2011. A 
revised brand manual will 
be completed in 2010.

Increased brand 
recognition from 
public survey

Baseline public 
survey conducted

Baseline survey was 
completed in 2009/2010.

Promote Iziko’s 2010 
programme 

Strategy to market 
2010 programme 
including strategic 
partnerships

Increased visitor 
numbers and 
exposure during 
the 2010 World Cup 
period for Iziko 
museums

Marketing strategy 
implemented

A 2010 marketing and 
communication strategy 
was developed and will 
also support the ongoing 
Iziko brand promotion 
campaign with 
implementation funded 
by the NLDTF.   

Strategic 
partnerships 
secured

Partnerships were 
forged with Cape Town 
Tourism, the Cape Town 
Partnership and Cape 
Town Routes Unlimited 
for collaborative 
marketing of 2010 
heritage programmes. 

Partnership with 
Creative Cape Town was 
established to ensure 
that Iziko Museums are 
part of the Creative 
Cape Town Cluster.
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KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Enhanced visitor 
experience

Visitor experience 
that meets 
expectations and is 
aligned with brand 
values

Surveys of visitor 
expectations 
undertaken and 
analysed 

Visitor expectations 
met as indicated in 
qualitative surveys 

Qualitative survey 
undertaken bi-
annually

Reports on focus groups 
and Generation Y 
visitors were completed. 

Survey information 
analysed and report 
written 

Report on survey 
information in June 
2009 and March 
2010

A mystery visitor survey 
was conducted. The 
report was received in 
September 2009.

A training 
programme for 
Customer Services 
Management (CSM) 
staff in place 

Annual skills audit 
submitted to 
Human Resources

Priority 1 training 
completed

Priority training for CSM 
staff in security, first aid 
and customer care was 
conducted.

Improved external 
and internal signage 
to facilitate way-
finding for visitors 

Signage and way-
finding system 
planned, designed 
and implemented

Signage audit 
undertaken, design 
blueprint developed 
and implementation 
plan drawn up

Signage audit and 
design blueprint 
for signage 
completed by April 
2009; signage 
implemented 
according to plan 
for 2009/2010

The signage audit 
was completed. DAC 
allocated R2 million for 
the upgrade of signage 
and way-finding at 
ISAM. An origination 
document to inform 
the design of signage 
at all Iziko sites was 
completed in March 
2010. An application 
was submitted to DAC 
to upgrade signage at 
all sites.

A revised floor plan was 
designed for the ISAM.  
3 000 copies were 
printed in February 
2010.

Upgraded foyers to 
improve reception of 
visitors 

Plan to upgrade 
reception areas 
in all museums 
developed and 
implemented

Strategy developed; 
foyers and reception 
areas upgraded 
according to plan

ISAM foyer 
upgraded by May 
2009; Strategy 
for other sites 
developed by June 
2009

The ISAM foyer project 
was completed and 
opened to the public in 
December 2009. 

Basic refurbishment of 
the ISANG foyer was 
undertaken in  
November 2009.

Improved public 
facilities at Iziko 
museums 

Sustainable plan 
to improve and 
maintain public 
facilities in place 

Plan implemented 
and sustained

Toilets upgraded 
and maintained  
by December 2009

The cleaning contract 
hours at ISAM extended 
over weekends and 
public holidays to 
provide additional 
servicing of public 
toilets; ISANG public 
toilets were refurbished 
in November 2009; and 
the cleaning contract 
was extended to include 
the Annexe. 



KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Increased Access

Increase access 
to key exhibitions 
through audio-guides 
in selected languages 

Audio-guides 
planned and 
developed for 
key exhibitions in 
languages of major 
visitor groups

Audio-guides 
implemented 
according to plan

Number of audio-
guides in place  
in languages by 
March 2010

Agreement with 
‘Mobiguide’ was finalised 
in March 2010. 

Increase access to 
Iziko programmes for 
people with physical 
disabilities

A special needs 
programme to 
attract visitors 
with disabilities 
developed and 
implemented

Increased number 
of visitors with 
special needs to 
Iziko museums

Percentage increase 
of visitors with 
disabilities 

Access for people 
with disabilities was 
facilitated by the 
installation of ramps  
and lifts.

Braille labels 
produced where 
displays can be 
touched 

Increased number 
of Braille labels in 
place

Increased number 
of Braille labels by 
March 2010

Number of Braille labels 
was not increased.

Communication

Ensure high media 
profile of Iziko and 
good media relations 

Media strategy 
developed and 
implemented

High level of media 
coverage and 
media partnerships 
developed in line 
with strategy

Coverage increased 
and diversified by 
10% 

Advertising value 
equivalents (AVEs) 
increased by 10%

Extensive media 
exposure was obtained 
for the reporting period 
and AVEs are  
R5,870,775. 

The total AVEs for the 
reporting period was 
R49,114,567.

Improved internal 
communications

An internal 
communications 
strategy developed 
and implemented

Communication plan 
implemented in line 
with strategy

Communication 
plan in place by 
May 2009 and 
implemented 
accordingly

Development of internal 
communications 
strategy was deferred 
pending finalisation of 
brand strategy.

A strategy for 
improving the Iziko 
Intranet developed 
and implemented

Measurable 
increase in use and 
functionality

50% increase in use Intranet calendar was  
put in place. 
Redevelopment and 
maintenance of 
Intranet proposal to 
be included as part of 
internal communications 
strategy.

Improved Iziko 
website to 
ensure effective 
communication 
of Iziko heritage 
resources

Improved navigation 
and design of the 
Iziko website 

Improved navigation 
and design of 
website

Percentage increase 
in number of 
visitors to the Iziko 
website

The web statistics were 
inconclusive. A more 
reliable measurement 
tool will be investigated 
in 2010/2011.

Ensure increased 
access to Iziko 
through promotional 
materials

Increased access 
ensured through 
planned promotional 
materials

Plan for promotional 
materials in place 
and implemented 
and targets set 
for enhanced 
distribution

Number of materials 
produced, such as 
monthly electronic 
newsletter, 
quarterly What’s 
On; distribution 
increased in line 
with set targets 

Iziko Annual Report 
2008/2009 was 
produced, e-news 
appeared monthly 
except in December. 
What’s On was published 
quarterly (a total of  
43 000 copies).

Extensive promotional 
material was produced 
for Heritage Week, 
Summer School, 
and major exhibition 
projects.
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KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Market Research

Ensure that the 
market niche of 
Iziko is understood 
in order to position 
Iziko effectively

Report on survey 
of current users 
produced 

Report produced on 
outcome of survey 
presented to Exco

Report presented in 
June 2009 

Market Research 
Strategy 2009-2010  
was completed and 
high-level analysis  
got underway.

Report on why 
some people do not 
visit Iziko produced

Report on outcome 
of survey presented 
to Exco and 
strategy developed 
to diversify 
audiences

Report presented in 
September 2009

Non-visitor survey 
on Generation Y was 
completed and reported 
on in August 2009.

Improve the market 
impact of Iziko

Analysis of 
competitors 
undertaken

Analysis completed 
and used to position 
Iziko effectively

Analysis completed 
in June 2009

This target was not  
met, as capacity 
to conduct market 
research was limited.

Strategy to improve 
Iziko’s market 
position developed 

Strategy developed 
and presented to 
Exco

Strategy completed 
in November 2009 

As part of the brand 
development project, 
a strategy to increase 
brand equity and thus 
improve Iziko’s market 
position was developed.

KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Organisational 
development

Ensure the effective 
and optimal delivery 
on organisational 
objectives

A strategy to 
improve the 
organisational 
culture in place and 
implemented

A healthier culture 
and climate in 
Iziko and improved 
working relations

20% improvement 
in culture and 
climate study 
compared to the 
2008 study

As a result of the 2008 
Culture and Climate 
Survey, six Theme 
Teams were constituted: 
Communication; Revised 
Values; Leadership 
Development; 
Remuneration; 
Employment Equity 
and Self-Motivated 
Performance.

The teams met regularly 
during 2009 and 
feedback was given to 
staff in March 2010.

A follow up survey will 
be conducted after 
recommendations from 
the Theme Teams have 
been implemented.

Programme 6: Human Resource Management and Development

Impact:  Through staff development Iziko contributes effectively to the skills-base in the heritage sector 

Outcome:  An organisation that values service excellence and has employees who are motivated, skilled and efficient



KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Organisational 
development

Ensure the effective 
and optimal delivery 
on organisational 
objectives

Organisational 
values revised 
in line with the 
outcome of the 
culture and climate 
survey conducted 
in 2008 

The recommendations 
of the Revised Values 
Theme Team will 
address this issue.

Regular review 
of organisational 
structure 

Departmental 
structures revisited 
annually and 
whenever vacancies 
occur

Review of 
organisational 
structure 
conducted annually 
in September

The organisational 
structure was  
reviewed whenever 
positions became 
vacant, including 
September 2009.

Jobs in the 
structure graded 
and benchmarked 
in the sector

Benchmarking of 
job grades in the 
sector conducted 
annually in July

All Iziko positions 
are graded by an 
external consultant, in 
consultation with senior 
management, in terms 
of the Peromnes grading 
system.

Salaries will be 
benchmarked  
in 2010/2011.

Employment Equity

Promote the 
appointment 
of people from 
designated groups

 

The workforce 
profile of the 
organisation 
aligned to the 
demographics 
profile of the 
Western Cape

Numerical goals 
are set to ensure 
that the workforce 
profile reflects 
the relevant 
demographics 
profile

Current numerical 
goals reviewed by 
August 2009

Numerical goals and 
targets were revised by 
the Employment Equity 
Consultative Forum, 
taking into account the 
opportunities such as 
vacant positions as well 
as retirements over the 
next three years.

Vacancies are filled 
with candidates 
from designated 
groups

30% improvement 
in workforce profile 
representivity

All staff members who 
were appointed were 
from designated groups. 

A strategy to retain 
employees from 
designated groups 
developed and 
implemented

Strategy approved 
by Council in 
October 2009

A strategy to retain 
employees from 
designated groups will 
be developed when 
vacant positions in  
Human Resources (HR) 
department have been 
filled.  

Ensure that 
employees from 
among designated 
groups are equipped 
and ready to replace 
retiring and/or 
exiting professional 
staff

A pilot career 
pathing and/or 
succession planning 
programme for 
selected employees 
from designated 
groups in place

A learning and 
development 
programme to 
specifically address 
the identified skills 
shortages among 
the selected group 
is developed 

Learning and 
development 
programme  
rolled out from 
April 2009

The roll-out of 
the learning and 
development 
programme is reflected 
in the HR section of  
this report. 

The development of 
certain staff members 
from designated groups 
was fast tracked in the 
reporting period. 
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KEY OBjECTIVE OUTPUT PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

2009/10 TARGET 
MILESTONE

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST TARGET

Employment Equity

Ensure that 
employees from 
among designated 
groups are equipped 
and ready to replace 
retiring and/or 
exiting professional 
staff

A coaching and 
mentorship 
programme is 
developed and 
rolled out for 
the identified 
candidates selected 
from the designated 
groups

A mentorship 
and/or coaching 
agreement entered 
into with identified 
mentors and/or 
coaches by July 
2009

Most line managers 
were committed 
to mentoring staff 
reporting to them and 
a number of formal 
mentorships were 
implemented.

Learning and 
development

Address the 
competency 
deficiencies to 
improve staff 
performance 

A learning and 
development 
programme in place

A skills audit is 
conducted

Skills audit report 
by April 2009

Staff skills were 
assessed during 
performance 
appraisals and the 
2009-2010 learning 
and development 
programme was 
informed by priority 
skills requirements as 
reflected in the skills 
audit reports on staff.

Training 
programmes 
to adequately 
capacitate staff 
are sourced and 
implemented 

Roll-out of training 
prgramme by July 
2009

540 training 
opportunities were 
offered to staff 
members. 

Performance 
Management

Ensure that staff 
performance is 
aligned to set 
objectives and 
evaluate delivery

Performance 
management policy 
implemented

Performance 
evaluation 
conducted in line 
with the provisions 
of the policy

Staff performance 
reviewed annually 
in April and October

Performance appraisals 
in terms of strategic 
objectives were 
conducted in April and 
October 2009.

Excellent performance 
in the reporting year 
April 2008-March 2009 
was rewarded in 
October 2009.

Prof E Links 
Chairperson of Council 
31 July 2010

   
Prof HC Bredekamp
Chief Executive Officer 
31 July 2010
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED  
31 MARCH 2010 

We are pleased to present the Audit Committee Report 
for Iziko Museums of Cape Town for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2010.

Audit Committee Members 
and Attendance:
The Audit Committee consists of two non-executive 
members of Council who have the required expertise 
and experience in business and financial matters.  
A third member who is an independent Chartered 
Accountant (SA) joined the Committee as from  
29 July 2010.

The Committee met twice during the year to 31 March 
2010 and twice subsequently in accordance with its 
approved terms of reference.

Name of Member Number of Meetings Attended
             Year to  Since  

 31 March 2010 31 March 2010

Adv DJ Mitchell 
(Chairperson) 2 1
Prof RH du Pré 2 2
Ms B Daries * - 1

* As from 29 July 2010.

In addition, the Audit Committee was represented in 
discussions with the Auditor-General in planning and 
reviewing the 2010 audit.

Audit Committee Responsibility
The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with 
its responsibilities arising from sections 51(1)(a)(ii) and 
76(4)(d) of the Public Finance Management Act and 
Treasury Regulation 27.

The Audit Committee further reports that it reviewed 
and reaffirmed the audit committee charter during 
the year, has regulated its affairs in compliance with 
this charter, and has discharged its responsibilities as 
contained therein.

Internal Audit
The Internal Audit Function has substantially fulfilled 
its responsibilities as set out in the Internal Audit 
Charter. A risk-based three year and rolling one year 
internal audit plan was considered and adopted 
by the Audit Committee, as required by Treasury 
Regulation 27.2.7.

Internal Audit conducted an inquiry review to 
examine how performance measurement records were 
created and maintained in selected areas, to facilitate 
and improve the way actions taken towards the 
achievement of strategic performance targets could be 
demonstrated. This exercise enhanced management’s 
awareness of this important responsibility.

Iziko’s Risk Register has been revised and updated.  
This exercise emphasised the importance of regular 
and pre-emptive maintenance checks on buildings and 
related infrastructural equipment such as lifts and 
lift-shafts. As a result, the Department of Public Works 
(DPW) which is responsible for Iziko’s buildings 
has been urged to adopt a more proactive and 
anticipatory approach to its duties, rather than 
to wait for actual breakdown and failure before 
responding. This has enhanced and strengthened the 
good working relationship between Iziko and DPW. 
This exercise included a maintenance review of the 
fire-fighting equipment at all major Iziko sites.

Internal Control
Internal control is the system of controls and directives 
that are designed to provide cost effective assurance 
that assets are safeguarded, that liabilities and working 
capital are efficiently managed and that the Institute 
fulfils its mandate, in compliance with all relevant 
statutory and governance duties and requirements.

The Audit Committee notes from the internal audit 
report and from the Auditor-General’s management 
report and Audit Report on the Annual Financial 
Statements that no significant or material non-
compliance with prescribed policies and procedures 
has been reported and the Audit Committee is 
accordingly able to report that the system of internal 
control for the year under review was effective  
and efficient.

Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure 
and Admission Controls
The Audit Committee has noted that there was 
no fruitless and wasteful expenditure during the year.  
Management continues to exercise tight control over 
front-of-house ticket and entrance sales, especially 
considering Iziko’s more relaxed admissions policy 
to encourage attendance by school learners and 
educators.
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Donor Funding
The Audit Committee is pleased to report that 
expenditure relating to project grants and donor funds 
was tested and reviewed during the year, and that 
management is to be complimented on the manner  
in which these non-public funds are managed  
and controlled.

Reporting on Predetermined Objectives
The Auditor-General has audited Iziko’s performance 
against selected strategic objectives and the manner 
in which the outcomes and achievements of that 
performance are measured and reported. The 
recommendation is noted that objectives should be 
stated in specific terms, in a way that facilitates their 
ready measurability.

Evaluation of Financial Statements
The Audit Committee has: 
•  reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial 

statements to be included in the annual report with 
the Auditor-General and with the Chief Executive 
Officer on behalf of Council which is the Institute’s 
accounting authority;

•  reviewed the Auditor-General’s management report 
and management’s response;

• reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices,  
 as applicable; and
•  reviewed and endorsed the accounting policy 

adjustments that resulted from the audit.

The Audit Committee accordingly concurs with and 
supports the Auditor-General’s conclusion on the 
annual financial statements, and is of the opinion that 
the audited annual financial statements can  
be accepted and read together with the Auditor-
General’s report.

 
 
 

Adv DJ Mitchell, CA (SA) 
Chairperson of the Audit Committee 
31 July 2010



REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL 
TO PARLIAMENT ON THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS OF IZIKO MUSEUMS OF 
CAPE TOWN FOR THE YEAR ENDED  
31 MARCH 2010

Report on the Financial Statements

Introduction
1.  I have audited the accompanying financial statements 

of Iziko Museums of Cape Town, which comprise 
the statement of financial position as at 31 March 
2010, and the statement of financial performance, 
statement of changes in net assets and cash flow 
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information, as set out on pages 38 to 67.

Accounting Authority’s Responsibility  
for the Financial Statements
2.  The accounting authority is responsible for the 

preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the South African 
Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and in the manner 
required by the Public Finance Management Act of 
South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999)(PFMA). This 
responsibility includes: designing, implementing 
and maintaining internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances.

Auditor-General’s Responsibility 
3.  As required by section 188 of the Constitution of 

the Republic of South Africa, 1996, and section 4 of 
the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 
25 of 2004) (PAA), my responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these financial statements based on 
my audit.

4.  I conducted my audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing and General Notice 1570 of 
2009 issued in Government Gazette No. 32758 of 
27 November 2009. Those standards require that 
I comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

5.  An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

6.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
7.  In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, 

in all material respects, the financial position of Iziko 
Museums of Cape Town as at 31 March 2010 and its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with the SA Standards of 
GRAP and in the manner required by the PFMA.

Report on Other Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements 
8.  In terms of the PAA of South Africa and General 

notice 1570 of 2009, issued in Government Gazette 
No. 32758 of 27 November 2009, I include below my 
findings on the report on predetermined objectives, 
compliance with the PFMA and financial management 
(internal control).

Findings
Predetermined Objectives
Usefulness of Information
9.  The following criteria were used to assess the 

usefulness of the planned and reported performance:
•  Consistency: Has the entity reported on its 

performance with regard to its objectives, indicators 
and targets in its approved strategic plan, i.e. are 
the objectives, indicators and targets consistent 
between planning and reporting documents?

•  Relevance: Is there a clear and logical link between 
the objectives, outcomes, outputs, indicators and 
performance targets? 
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•  Measurability: Are objectives made measurable by 
means of indicators and targets? Are indicators 
well defined and verifiable, and are targets specific, 
measurable, and time bound?

The following audit findings relate to the above criteria:

Planned and Reported Performance Targets Not 
Specific and Measurable 
10.  For the selected objectives the following was 

identified relating to planned and reported targets: 
•  64% were not specific in identifying the nature and 

the required level of performance;
•  24% were not measurable in identifying the 

required performance. 

Internal Control 
11.  I considered internal control relevant to my audit 

of the financial statements and the report on 
predetermined objectives and compliance with the 
PFMA, but not for the purposes of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. The 
matters reported below are limited to the deficiencies 
identified during the audit.

Leadership
12.  The accounting authority has not completely 

described and represented the entity’s strategic 
objectives specific enough to be accurately 
measured and reported as required in terms  
of section 51(1)(a)(i) of the PFMA. 

Other Reports 
Investigations 
13.  The entity completed an investigation on 31 March 

2010 relating to misappropriation of the entity’s 
funds at Iziko Groot Constantia by staff members  
in the Customer Services department which 
resulted in two officials being dismissed. The impact 
of the financial loss was not considered material as 
the entity on average receives R2 000 per day at 
that site.

14.  As a result of the investigation referred to in 
paragraph 13 above, the entity conducted an 
investigation into whether any misappropriation 
of funds was taking place at the front-of-house at 
all of their other sites. Since 1 April 2010,  seven 
employees have been dismissed and four employees 
are still suspended awaiting disciplinary hearings 
that have been scheduled during July and August 
2010.

Donor Funding
15.  As requested by the Iziko public entity, a donor 

funding engagement was conducted during the year 
under review concerning the validity of expenditure 
relating to the grants. The report covered the period 
1 January 2009 to 31 December 2009 and was 
issued 30 June 2010.

 
 
 

Cape Town 
31 July 2010

 



STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

The Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), 1999 
(Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended, requires the Council 
to ensure that Iziko Museums of Cape Town (Iziko) 
keeps full and proper records of its financial 
affairs. The annual financial statements should fairly 
present the state of affairs of Iziko, its financial results, 
its performance against predetermined objectives, and 
its financial position at the end of the year in terms 
of the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practices (GRAP).

The annual financial statements are the responsibility 
of the Council. The Auditor-General of South Africa  
(AGSA) is responsible for independently auditing and 
reporting on the financial statements. The AGSA has 
audited Iziko’s financial statements and the Auditor-
General’s report appears on page 32.

The financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the prescribed Standards of 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practices (GRAP) 
including any interpretation of such Statements issued 
by the Accounting Practices Board, with the prescribed 
Standards of GRAP issued by the Accounting Standards 
Board. These annual financial statements are based 
on appropriate accounting policies, supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The Chief Executive Officer, in his capacity as 
Accounting Authority, has reviewed Iziko’s budgets and 
cash flow forecasts for the year ended 31 March 2010. 
On the basis of the review, and in view of the current 
financial position, the Chief Executive Officer, in his 
capacity as Accounting Authority, has every reason to 
believe that Iziko will be a going concern in the year 
ahead and has continued to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the financial statements.

The Council sets standards to enable management 
to meet the above responsibilities by implementing 
systems of internal control and risk management, where 
possible, that are designed to provide reasonable, but 
not absolute assurance against material misstatements 
and losses. The entity maintains internal financial 
controls to provide assurance regarding:

•  The safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use 
or disposition.

•  The maintenance of proper accounting records and 
the reliability of financial information used within Iziko 
or for publication.

 

The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms, 
and actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they 
are identified. Even an effective system of internal 
control, no matter how well designed, has inherent 
limitations, including the possibility of circumvention 
or the overriding of controls. An effective system 
of internal control, therefore, aims to provide 
reasonable assurance with respect to the reliability of 
financial information and the presentation of financial 
statements. However, because of changes in conditions, 
the effectiveness of internal financial controls may vary 
over time.

The Council has reviewed Iziko’s systems of internal 
control and risk management for the period from 
1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010. The Council is of the 
opinion that Iziko’s systems of internal control and  
risk management were effective for the period  
under review. 

In the opinion of the Chief Executive Officer in his 
capacity as Accounting Authority, based on the 
information available to date, the annual financial 
statements fairly present the financial position of Iziko 
at 31 March 2010 and the results of its operations and 
cash flow information for the year, and that the Code of 
Corporate Practices and Conduct has been adhered to.

The annual financial statements for the year ended 31 
March 2010, set out on pages 38 to 67, were submitted 
for auditing on 31 May 2010 and approved by the 
Chief Executive Officer in his capacity as Accounting 
Authority in terms of section 51(1)(f) of the Public 
Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), as 
amended, and are signed on its behalf by:
 
 
 

Prof E Links 
Chairperson of Council 
31 July 2010

   
Prof HC Bredekamp
Chief Executive Officer 
31 July 2010
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ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY’S REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  
31 MARCH 2010

Report by the Chief Executive Officer, in his capacity 
as Accounting Authority to the Executive Authority, 
Minister of Arts and Culture, and Parliament of the 
Republic of South Africa.

1.  General Review of the State  
of Financial Affairs

Iziko’s results for the year show satisfactory progress 
despite the adverse economic climate. Cash and cash 
equivalents have decreased by 17% from R44,157,000 
to R37,793,000. This decrease is due mainly to the 
fact that funds have been spent on major capital works 
projects, aimed at improving Iziko’s infrastructure and 
communication capability in line with the strategic plan.

Iziko received most of its funding through a subsidy 
allocation from government, i.e. the national Department 
of Arts and Culture (DAC). During the year under review, 
Iziko’s total revenue decreased by 9% from R69,912,652 
to R63,637,083. The decrease is mainly attributable to 
the fact that revenue from sponsorships in prior years 
has been reversed with the adoption of a new accounting 
standard, GRAP 23. The retrospective application of the 
accounting standard has resulted in revenue that would 
normally have been accounted for in the current year being 
adjusted to prior years’ revenue and the accumulated 
surplus. The subsidy allocation from DAC amounted to 
R48,392,000 for the year. The subsidy represents 76% of 
total income, while 8% of income was derived from donor 
funding and 16% of the total income was own income 
generated through entrance fees, venue hire, rental of 
premises and professional museum services.

Iziko’s operating expenditure for 2009/2010 was 
R68,131,739. Operating expenditure includes 68% 
(R46,126,522) fixed costs on personnel, 19% (R13,268,723) 
administration and operational costs and 13% 
(R8,736,494) core function activities and special projects. 
Iziko is dependent on external funding for its core function 
programmes. External funding was received from national 
government agencies, research foundations, corporate 
business, and private individual donors. 

Despite the decrease in the net surplus, Iziko’s financial 
circumstances remain stable. While Iziko has received 
limited funding for its operations over the last few years, 
it practised good governance with regard to the managing 
of its funds, as well as compliance, where possible, with 
the Public Finance Management Act and observing the 
requirements of its funders. 

While a great deal of work still lies ahead to improve the 
bottom line and meet the targets set in the strategic plan, 
the results for the year show progress, and management 
remains committed to achieving its strategic objectives.

2. Services Rendered by Iziko
2.1 List of Services Rendered
Iziko’s core business is to manage and promote 
its unique combination of South Africa’s heritage 
collections, sites and services for the benefit of present 
and future generations. Among others, the services 
rendered by Iziko in these areas are Exhibitions, 
Education and Public Programmes (EPP), Collections 
Management (including loans to other institutions), 
Development of Collections, Conservation, 
Research, Curatorial Services and Publication (both 
popular and scientific).

The three Collections departments offer, in 
collaboration with the EPP department, exhibitions 
that meet the diverse needs of education and 
life-long learning. The selection of exhibitions gives 
priority to correcting the imbalances of the past in 
the representation of Art and Social History, thus 
contributing to nation building, social cohesion and 
transformation.

In addition to Iziko’s core business, services such as 
venue hire, outsourcing of coffee shops, museum retail 
shops and professional museum services, are rendered.  

2.2 Tariff Policy
Tariffs are charged for entrance fees, rental of 
premises, venue hire, photographic services and 
professional museum services. Tariffs are negotiated at 
the outset of entering into a service agreement. Iziko 
reviews tariffs on an annual basis.

3. Capacity Constraints  
During the year under review, Executive Management 
continued the implementation of the re-aligned 
organisational structure to effectively and efficiently 
deliver the objectives of the strategic plan. Due to 
insufficient funding, Iziko is not able to grow its human 
capital to its full potential, and is unable to employ 
the necessary staff required to fulfil its core function 
activities to the maximum potential. An increase in the 
number of younger staff in key areas would allow for the 
transfer of skills, capacity development and succession 
planning. Executive Management continued to evaluate 
the efficiency of the re-aligned structure and to maximise 
opportunities to diversify our demographic profile. 

 



4. Utilisation of Donor Funds
Iziko received income of R6,733,786 through donor 
funding during the year under review. During the 
year, donor funds were received from national 
government agencies, research foundations, corporate 
business, and private individual donors. The funds 
were earmarked and utilised for specific projects, 
such as acquisitions, exhibitions, conservation, 
research and education that have a lifespan of two 
to three years. These projects form an integral part of 
the Museum’s core function activities and contributed 
significantly to Iziko’s success. During the year, Iziko 
received funding of R1,6m from the National Lotteries 
Board for educational, heritage and research projects.

5.  Public Entity
Iziko is listed as a schedule 3A national public entity 
in terms of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 
(Act No. 1 of 1999 as amended by Act No. 29 of 
1999), and is governed by the Cultural Institutions Act, 
1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998). Iziko operates under the 
jurisdiction of the Council. The national Department 
of Arts and Culture is the controlling entity.  

Business address: Postal address:
25 Queen Victoria Street PO Box 61 
Cape Town Cape Town
8001 8000

6. Jurisdiction
Iziko resides and is effectively managed in South Africa. 
The controlling entity is the national Department of 
Arts and Culture.

7. New/proposed Activities
The professional staff members in the Art, Natural 
History and Social History Collections are skilled 
in museum practice and in specialised areas of 
historical and scientific knowledge. They are well 
placed to transfer their skills, but Iziko needs funding 
to support trainee positions (especially from previously 
disadvantaged communities).  

Completion of the major Department of Public Works 
(DPW) refurbishment of the former National Mutual 
Building on Church Square to house the Iziko Social 
History Centre was completed during the year under 
review. The Social History Centre, which brings 
together the formerly separate African and colonial 
collections, will become an important resource for 
the heritage sector and the public.

Major projects for the next three to five years include 
the upgrade of security systems at all Iziko museums, 
the installation of a fibre optic network, a capital 

works project to develop the courtyard at the SA 
Museum, the continued development of the Slave 
Lodge as a museum that focuses on both slavery  
and human rights, and the proposed development 
of a Centre for Contemporary Art in Cape Town. Iziko 
Museums upgraded its services at all its sites during 
the 2010 World Cup event in South Africa. Special Iziko 
projects for the 2010 World Cup event included an 
exhibition on the Kaapse Klopse Carnival at the  
Bo-Kaap Museum and the Castle. Education programmes 
that focussed on the culture of sport and a Mobile 
Museum programme celebrating soccer and science. 

8. Approval

The annual financial statements set out on pages 38 to 
67 have been approved by the Chief Executive Officer, 
in his capacity as Accounting Authority.
 
 
 

Prof E Links 
Chairperson of Council 
31 July 2010

   
Prof HC Bredekamp
Chief Executive Officer 
31 July 2010 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Governance of the institution was streamlined through the operation of a system of committees of Council 
corresponding to three main functional areas: Core Functions, Institutional Advancement and Operations. 
In addition, an independent Audit Committee continued to offer professional advice on financial matters. During the 
year under review, the internal audit unit, under the direction of an Internal Auditor, continued with the mandate 
of carrying out an effective internal audit of Iziko’s internal controls as informed by the relevant policies, systems 
and operating procedures. The Council recognises that good governance and compliance practices are crucial for the 
sustained development of Iziko, and is committed to instilling good governance and compliance processes into all its 
operations going forward.

Risk Management 
The Risk Management Committee continued with its mandate of identifying and evaluating the actual and potential 
areas of risk, ensuring that the necessary measures to proactively manage the risks are put in place. To this end, 
risk managers reviewed their risk registers and a revised risk register was developed. Risk management forms 
part of the key objectives of risk managers, and performance indicators are set against the agreed deliverables to 
measure the effectiveness of interventions in achieving the stated risk management objectives.

Risk management structure 
To inform and guide the operational processes in addressing risks across the organisation, a Risk Management 
Manual incorporating critical issues such as the Risk Management Strategy and Procedures, as well as the Risk 
Management Committee Charter, was developed. During the year under review, the risk management process was 
reviewed and measures put in place to address the five identified priority risks. Potential risks were continuously 
monitored by, among other means, engaging in active risk management procedures. A risk management workshop 
was held to capacitate the Risk Management Committee even further in executing its mandate. 

Materiality and Significance Framework for 2009/2010 Financial Year
In terms of the Public Finance Management Act(PFMA) and National Treasury Regulation 28.1.5, the Council has 
developed and agreed to a framework of acceptable levels of materiality and significance. 
 

Executive Director Core Functions 
(Risk Management Committee Member)

Executive Director Operations 
Chief Risk Officer

Chief Executive Officer  
(Risk Management Committee Member)

Director Institutional Advancement 
Risk Manager

Director Art Collections 
Risk Manager

Chief Financial Officer 
Risk Director

Director Social History Collections 
Risk Manager

Director Human Resource Management  
Risk Manager

Director Natural History Collections 
Risk Manager

Director Customer Services Management  
Risk Manager

Director Education & Public Programmes 
Risk Manager



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

 Notes 2010 2009

   Restated

  R R

REVENUE  63,637,083 69,912,652

Government grant: Department of Arts and Culture  48,392,000 44,639,000

Sponsorship  5,257,517 15,654,355

Cash donations  77,203 85,796

Interest received  3,315,778 3,926,914

Admission fees  3,183,365 3,083,064

Rental and other income           3,411,220         2,523,523   

Operating expenses       (68,131,739)       (61,846,561)  

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 10     (4,494,656)       8,066,091  
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 MARCH 2010

 Notes 2010  2009

     Restated

  R R

ASSETS

Non-current assets 5,824,101 4,251,256

Property, plant and equipment 2.1 5,440,142 3,870,121

Intangible assets 3 383,959 381,135

Current assets 43,878,906 44,958,325

Inventories 4 161,493 161,786

Trade and other receivables 5 5,924,834 639,814

Cash and cash equivalents 6      37,792,579        44,156,725   

Total assets     49,703,007     49,209,581   

LIABILITIES   

Non-current liabilities 32,423,986 27,258,558

Deferred income 9 382,620 28,240

Provision: Post-employment medical benefit 8.2 32,041,366 27,230,318

Current liabilities 8,400,925 8,578,271

Trade and other payables 7 6,747,091 6,045,787

Provisions 8 7,654 503,684

Deferred income 9          1,646,180        2,028,800   

Total liabilities        40,824,911     35,836,829   

NET ASSETS   8,878,096  13,372,752

Accumulated funds   8,875,900  13,370,556

Trust funds                 2,196                  2,196   

Total net assets     49,703,007       49,209,581   



STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

 Notes  Accumulated deficit Trust fund Total

 Restated

 R R R

Accumulated reserves    

Balance at 1 April 2008 19 5,314,643 2,196 5,316,839

Prior year adjustment 19 (10,178) - (10,178) 

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year      8,066,091                    -       8,066,091

Balance at 31 March 2009   13,370,556            2,196          13,372,752

Balance at 1 April 2009  13,370,556 2,196 13,372,752

Prior year adjustment 19 -  -  - 

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year   (4,494,656)                    -   (4,494,656)

  

Balance at 31 March 2010      8,875,900           2,196     8,878,096
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

 Notes 2010 2009

   Restated

  R R

Net cash inflow from operating activities  (3,499,362) 10,073,734

Cash generated from operations 11 (6,815,140) 6,146,820

Cash receipts from customers and donors  55,008,043 57,081,572

Cash paid to suppliers and employees   (61,823,183) (50,934,752) 

Interest received   3,315,778 3,926,914

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (2,864,784)  (1,809,853)

Purchase of fixed and intangible assets         (2,864,784)             (1,809,853)      

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    (6,364,146)     8,263,881

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year           44,156,725             35,892,842          

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year         37,792,579            44,156,723          



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31 MARCH 2010

1. Basis of Accounting
1.1 Basis of Accounting
The annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with 
historical cost convention, unless specified otherwise.

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP), including any interpretations and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below.

Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses have not been offset, except when offsetting is required or permitted by a 
Standard of GRAP.

The accounting policies applied are consistent with those used to present the previous year’s financial statements, unless 
explicitly stated. The details of any changes in accounting policies are explained in the relevant policy.

1.2 Presentation Currency
These annual financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the functional currency of the entity.

1.3 Going Concern Assumption
The Council has reviewed Iziko’s budgets and cash flow forecasts for the year ended 31 March 2010. On the basis of the 
review, and in view of the current financial position, the Council has every reason to believe that Iziko will be a going 
concern in the year ahead and has continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

1.4 Comparative Information
When the presentation or classification of items in the annual financial statements is amended, prior period comparative 
amounts are restated. The nature and reason for the reclassification is disclosed. Where accounting errors have 
been identified in the current year, the correction is made retrospectively as far as is practicable, and the prior year 
comparatives are restated accordingly. Where there has been a change in accounting policy in the current year, the 
adjustment is made retrospectively as far as is practicable, and the prior year comparatives are restated accordingly.

1.5 The following standards, which form part of the GRAP financial reporting frameworks, as issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board, have been adopted:

Standard of GRAP Replaced Statement of GAAP                                

GRAP 1: Presentation of Financial Statements   AC101: Presentation of Financial Statements                  

GRAP 2: Cash Flow Statements AC118: Cash Flow Statements                                

GRAP 3: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting AC103: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors Estimates and Errors                                   

GRAP 4: The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates AC113: The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

GRAP 5: Borrowing Costs AC114: Borrowing Costs    

GRAP 6: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements AC132: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements  

GRAP 8: Investment in Joint Ventures AC119: Investment in Joint Ventures   

GRAP 9: Revenue from Exchange Transactions FS20: Revenue from Exchange Transactions  

GRAP 12: Inventories AC108: Inventories     

GRAP 13: Leases AC105: Leases     

GRAP 14: Events After the Reporting Date AC107: Events After the Reporting Date  

GRAP 16: Investment Property AC135: Investment Property   

GRAP 17: Property, Plant and Equipment AC123: Property, Plant and Equipment  

GRAP 19: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and AC130: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets  Contingent Assets    

GRAP 102: Intangible Assets AC142: Intangible Assets    
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In addition, the following standards and pronouncements of other standard setters which form part of the GRAP 
financial reporting frameworks, as identified by the Accounting Standards Board in Directive 5, have been adopted:

IFRS 4: Insurance contracts 

IFRS 7: Financial instruments: Disclosures 

IAS 19: Employee benefits 

IAS 32: Financial instruments: Presentation 

IAS 39: Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement 

IPSAS 20: Related party disclosures 

IGRAP 1*: Applying the probability test on initial recognition of exchange revenue 

IFRIC 4: Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease 

IFRIC 12: Service concession arrangements 

IFRIC 13: Customer loyalty programmes 

IFRIC 14: IAS 19 - The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their interaction 

SIC 29: Disclosure - Service concession arrangements 

Directive 1: Repeal of existing transitional provisions in, and consequential amendments to, Standards of GRAP 

Directive 2: Transitional provisions for the adoption of Standards of GRAP by public entities, municipal entities and 

constitutional institutions 

Directive 3: Transitional provisions for the adoption of Standards of GRAP by high capacity municipalities 

Directive 4: Transitional provisions for the adoption of Standards of GRAP by medium and low capacity municipalities

Directive 5: Determining the GRAP reporting framework 

Directive 7: The application of deemed cost on the adoption of Standards of GRAP 

ASB guide 1: Guideline on accounting for public private partnerships 

The implementation of GRAP 1, 2 and 3 has resulted in the following changes in the presentation of the financial 
statements:

Terminology differences:
Standard of GRAP Replaced Statement of GAAP 

Statement of financial performance Income statement 

Statement of financial position Balance sheet  

Statement of changes in net assets Statement of changes in equity 

Net assets Equity  

Surplus/deficit Profit/loss 

Accumulated surplus/deficit Retained earnings 

Contributions from owners Share capital 

Distributions to owners Dividends 

•  The Cash Flow Statement can only be prepared in accordance with the direct method.
•  Specific information has been presented separately on the Statement of Financial Position, such as:

a.  receivables from non-exchange transactions, including taxes and transfers;
b. taxes and transfers payable;
c.  trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions.

•  Amount and nature of any restrictions on cash balances is required.

The following Standards of GRAP are not yet effective, but may have an effect on future periods:

GRAP 18: Segment Reporting 

GRAP 21: Impairment of Non-cash-generating Assets 

GRAP 23: Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers) 

GRAP 24: Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements 

GRAP 25: Employee Benefits 

GRAP 26: Impairment of Cash-generating Assets 

GRAP 103: Heritage Assets 

GRAP 104: Financial Instruments 



Changes in Accounting Policy
Although the entity is not required to comply in full with GRAP 23 on Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions (Taxes 
and Transfers) as the Minister of Finance has not yet determined an effective date for GRAP 23, Iziko Museums has 
considered the principles of GRAP 23 to formulate an appropriate accounting policy to account for grants, transfers 
and other non-exchange revenue.

In terms of the previous accounting policy based on the requirements of IAS20, revenue related to operational 
expenditure is recognised when expenditure is incurred. This resulted in deferred revenue being recognised initially 
as a liability until the expenditure is incurred. The liability was reduced and revenue recognised as operational 
expenditure was subsequently incurred. Under GRAP 23, revenue is recognised unless an obligation exists to use the 
transferred resources in a certain way or return the resources to the transferor. The effects of adopting this standard 
is discussed in note 20.

1.6 Revenue
1.6.1 Revenue from Exchange Transactions
Revenue from Exchange Transactions refers to revenue that accrued to the entity directly in return for services 
rendered and goods sold, the value of which approximates the consideration received or receivable. The full amount of 
the revenue is recognised and any impairment losses are subsequently recognised.

Interest and Rental Income
Interest revenue is accrued on a time proportion basis taking account of the principal outstanding and the effective 
rate over the period of maturity. Revenue from the rental of facilities and equipment is recognised on an accrual 
basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

Revenue from the Sale of Goods and Services 
Revenue from gate and admission fees, as well as the sale of goods, is recognised when substantially all the risks 
and rewards in those goods are passed to the buyer.

1.6.2 Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions
Government Grants
Government Grant allocations paid by the Department of Arts and Culture on a monthly basis are recognised as 
revenue when the entity gains control of resources that meet the definition of an asset, i.e. when it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and these benefits can be measured reliably. 

Sponsorships and Donations
Income received from grants, donations and sponsorship funding is recognised as revenue, except to the extent that 
a liability is also recognised in respect of the same income. If a condition exits with no corresponding requirement to 
return the income to the transferor, then no obligation exists and revenue is recognised.

1.7  Reconciliation of Budget Surplus/Deficit with the Surplus/Deficit in the Statement  
of Financial Performance

 

Net surplus/deficit per the Statement of Financial Performance (4,494,656)

Adjusted for: 

Fair value adjustments  -

Impairments recognised/reversed  -

Surplus/deficit on the sale of assets  -

Increases/decreases in provisions  -

Increase in government grant  (849,000)

Decrease in own income generated  2,640,824

Decrease in reserves employed 7,854,509

Decrease in expenditure (5,151,677)

Net surplus/deficit per approved budget -

Iziko has not elected to disclose additional information based on the disclosure requirements contained in GRAP 24. 

  2010
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Iziko Museums of Cape Town bases its budget on cash 
flows, while the financial statements report cash flows 
and accrual information. Iziko classifies its budget 
by programme components linked to performance 
outcome objectives, while the financial statements 
classify items by economic nature. Budgets are 
approved annually and revised after six months in 
September of each year. The period covered by the 
budget corresponds to the reporting period adopted for 
the financial statements. 

1.8 Property, Plant and Equipment
1.8.1 Land and Buildings
Land and buildings are registered in the name of the 
Department of Public Works, are made available to 
Iziko on a permanent basis, and are not recognised as 
Property, Plant and Equipment.

1.8.2 Vehicles, Furniture and Equipment
Vehicles, Furniture and Equipment are initially recognised 
as assets on acquisition date and are initially recorded at 
cost. 

When significant components of an item of Vehicles, 
Furniture and Equipment have different useful lives, they 
are accounted for as separate items (major components) 
of Property, Plant and Equipment.

Where an asset is acquired by the entity for no or  
nominal consideration (i.e. a non-exchange transaction), 
the cost is deemed to be equal to the fair value of that 
asset on the date acquired. 

Where an item of Vehicles, Furniture and Equipment 
is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or 
monetary assets, or a combination of monetary and non-
monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured 
at fair value (the cost). If the acquired item’s fair value 
was not determinable, its deemed cost is the carrying 
amount of the asset(s) given up.

Subsequent to initial recognition, Vehicles, Furniture 
and Equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Subsequent 
expenditure incurred on an asset is capitalised when 
it increases the capacity or future economic benefits 
associated with the asset. Vehicles, Furniture and 
Equipment are depreciated over a period of between  
one to eight years on a straight-line basis over their  
estimated useful lives to the current value of their 
expected residual values. Components of assets that  
are significant in relation to the whole asset and that have 
different useful lives are depreciated separately.  

The useful life of Vehicles, Furniture and Equipment is  
the period over which the assets are expected to be 
available for use by Iziko. The residual value is the 
estimated amount that Iziko will receive from the sale of 
the asset, if the asset were already of the age and in the 
condition expected at the end of the useful life. Motor 
vehicle residual value is based on estimated recovery for 
similar vehicles.

The residual value, the useful life of an asset, and the 
depreciation method are reviewed annually and any 
changes are recognised as a change in accounting 
estimate in the Statement of Financial Performance.

The entity tests for impairment where there is an 
indication that an asset may be impaired. An assessment 
of whether there is an indication of possible impairment 
is done at each reporting date. Where the carrying 
amount of an item of Vehicles, Furniture and Equipment 
is greater than the estimated recoverable amount 
(or recoverable service amount), it is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount (or recoverable 
service amount) and an impairment loss is charged to the 
Statement of Financial Performance. 

Vehicles, Furniture and Equipment are derecognised 
when the asset is disposed of or when there are no 
further economic benefits or service potential expected 
from the use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the 
disposal or retirement of an item of Property, Plant and 
Equipment is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying value, and is recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

1.8.3 Capital Work in Progress
Capital Work in Progress is recorded at an amount 
that represents the percentage of completion in the 
Statement of Financial Position in the reporting period  
in which the work is performed.

The accumulation of all costs will be transferred to the 
relevant class of asset in the asset register once the 
asset is complete and available for use. No depreciation  
is calculated because the asset had not been brought  
into use.

1.9 Intangible Assets
An Intangible Asset is an identifiable non-monetary 
asset without physical substance. The entity recognises 
an Intangible Asset in its Statement of Financial 
Position only when it is probable that the expected 
future economic benefits or service potential that are 
attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the 
cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably. 



Where an Intangible Asset is acquired by the entity 
for no or nominal consideration (i.e. a non-exchange 
transaction), the cost is deemed to be equal to the fair 
value of that asset on the date acquired. 

Where an Intangible Asset is acquired in exchange for a 
non-monetary asset or monetary assets, or a combination 
of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset 
acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If 
the acquired item’s fair value was not determinable, its 
deemed cost is the carrying amount  
of the asset(s) given up.

Intangible Assets are subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairments. The cost of 
an Intangible Asset is amortised over the useful life where 
that useful life is finite. Where the useful life is indefinite, 
the asset is not amortised, but is subject to  
an annual impairment test.

Intangible Assets comprising of computer software 
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is charged 
over a period of between one to nine years on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. The 
estimated useful life and amortisation method is reviewed 
at the end of each reporting period with the effect of any 
changes in estimate being accounted for  
on a prospective basis. The residual value of an 
Intangible Asset is assumed to be zero as there is no 
expectation of disposing of it before the end of its 
economic life.

The entity tests Intangible Assets with finite useful 
lives for impairment where there is an indication that 
an asset may be impaired. An assessment of whether 
there is an indication of possible impairment is done at 
each reporting date. Where the carrying amount of an 
item of Intangible Asset is greater than the estimated 
recoverable amount (or recoverable service amount), it is 
written down immediately to its recoverable amount (or 
recoverable service amount) and an impairment loss is 
charged to the Statement of Financial Performance. 

Intangible Assets are derecognised when the asset  
is disposed of or when there are no further economic 
benefits or service potential expected from the use of 
the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
retirement of an Intangible Asset is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
value, and is recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance. 
 

1.10 Heritage Assets
Heritage Assets are assets that have a cultural, 
environmental, historical, natural, scientific, technological 
or artistic significance, and are held indefinitely for the 
benefit of present and future generations. In line with 
similar organisations, the value of collections (Heritage 
Assets) has not been recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

When Heritage Assets are required to be recognised as 
assets in terms of GRAP 103:

• they shall be measured at cost; or
•  where a Heritage Asset is acquired at no or nominal 

consideration, its cost shall be measured at its fair 
value as at the date of acquisition. 

 Revaluations shall be made with sufficient regularity 
to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ 
materially from that which would be determined using 
fair value at the reporting date.

A Heritage Asset shall not be depreciated, but the entity 
shall assess at each reporting date whether there is an 
indication that it may be impaired.

Heritage Assets shall be derecognised when the asset 
is retired or disposed of or when there are no further 
economic benefits or service potential expected from the 
use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal 
or retirement of a Heritage Asset is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
value and recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance. 

1.11 Inventories
Inventories comprise current assets held for sale, 
consumption or distribution during the ordinary course 
of business. Inventories, consisting of consumable 
stores and finished goods, are valued at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value on a first-in first-out basis. 
Redundant and slow-moving inventories are identified 
and written down in this way. Differences arising on the 
valuation of inventory are recognised in the Statement 
of Financial Performance in the year in which they 
arose. The amount of any reversal of any write-down 
of Inventories arising from an increase in net realisable 
value or current replacement cost is recognised as a 
reduction in the amount of Inventories recognised as an 
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs. 

The carrying amount of Inventories is recognised as 
an expense in the period that the inventory was sold, 
distributed, written off or consumed, unless that cost 
qualifies for capitalisation to the cost of another asset.  



PAGE 47

1.12 Leases
1.12.1 Finance Leases
No Finance Lease agreements are in place.

1.12.2 Operating Leases
Operating Leases are leases where the lessor retains  
the risk and reward of ownership of the underlying asset. 
Payments made under Operating Leases are charged to 
the Statement of Financial Performance on a straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease.

1.13 Financial Instruments
Financial Instruments are initially recognised at fair value 
when Iziko becomes a party to the contractual provision 
of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on 
the Statement of Financial Position and are categorised 
according to their nature as either financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss, held-to maturity, loans 
and receivables, or available for sale. Financial liabilities 
are categorised as either at fair value through profit or 
loss or financial liabilities carried at amortised cost. The 
subsequent measurement of financial assets and liabilities 
depends on this categorisation and, in the absence of an 
approved GRAP Standard on Financial Instruments, is in 
accordance with IFRS7.

The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities 
with a maturity of less than one year are assumed to 
approximate their fair value due to the short-term trading 
cycle of these items.

Financial Instruments carried on the Statement of 
Financial Position include Cash and Cash Equivalents, 
Trade and Other Receivables, and Trade and Other 
Payables. These instruments are initially measured at 
cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments 
are measured as set out below:

1.13.1 Investments
Investments, which include fixed deposits and short-
term deposits invested in registered commercial banks, 
are categorised as either held-to-maturity where the 
criteria for that categorisation are met, or as loans and 
receivables, and are measured at amortised cost. Where 
Investments have been impaired, the carrying value is 
adjusted by the impairment loss, which is recognised as 
an expense in the period that the impairment is identified. 
Impairments are calculated as being the difference 
between the carrying amount and the present value of the 
expected future cash flows flowing from the instrument. 
On disposal of an Investment, the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is charged 
or credited to the Statement of Financial Performance.

1.13.2 Trade and Other Receivables
Trade and Other Receivables are categorised as 
financial assets: loans and receivables, and are initially 
recognised at fair value and subsequently carried at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method less 
provision for doubtful debts. Amortised cost refers to the 
initial carrying amount, plus interest, less repayments 
and impairments. An estimate is made for doubtful 
receivables based on a review of all outstanding amounts 
at year-end. Amounts that are receivable within 12 
months from the reporting date are classified as current.

An impairment of trade receivables is accounted for 
by reducing the carrying amount of trade receivables 
through the use of an allowance account, and the  
amount of the loss is recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance within operating expenses. 
When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
are credited against operating expenses in the Statement 
of Financial Performance.

1.13.3 Trade Payables and Borrowings
Financial liabilities consist of Trade Payables and 
Borrowings. Trade and Other Payables are financial 
liabilities that are recognised when there is an obligation 
to transfer benefits and when the obligation is a 
contractual liability to deliver cash. Trade and Other 
Payables are categorised as financial instruments under 
current liabilities, are initially recognised at fair value, 
and are subsequently measured at amortised costs using 
the effective interest rate method, where applicable.

1.13.4 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash includes cash on hand (including petty cash) and 
cash with banks (including call deposits). Cash equivalents 
are short-term, highly liquid investments, readily 
convertible into known amounts of cash that are held 
with registered banking institutions, with maturities of 
three months or less, and are subject to an insignificant 
risk of change in value. Cash and Cash Equivalents are 
stated at cost, which equates their fair value. Interest 
on cash in bank, call and notice deposits are accrued 
on a day-to-day basis. For the purposes of the Cash 
Flow Statement, Cash and Cash Equivalents comprise 
cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks, net of 
bank overdrafts. The entity categorises Cash and Cash 
Equivalents as financial assets: loans and receivables. 

1.14 Provisions
Provisions are recognised as present legal obligations  
as a result of past events, for which it is probable that  
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of  
the obligation.



1.14.1 Post-employment Benefit Costs
Iziko offers post-employment benefits, comprising 
retirement benefits and post-retirement medical aid plans 
to their employees.  

1.14.2 Pension Plans
Iziko operates both defined contribution and defined 
benefit plans. The assets are generally held in three 
separate trustee-administered funds: Iziko Retirement 
Fund (a defined contribution fund) and two defined 
benefit funds, the Museums Pension Fund and Associated 
Institutions Pension Fund. The Associated Institutions 
Pension Fund is a State Plan. Contributions to the pension 
plans are recognised as an expense in the year to which 
it relates.

1.14.3 Museums Pension Fund
The Museums Pension Fund consists of two categories, 
the defined contribution plan, and defined benefit plan. 
The pension plans are generally funded by payments 
from Iziko and the employees, taking account of the 
recommendations of independent, qualified actuaries in 
the case of the defined benefit plan. For defined benefit 
plans, the defined obligation, the related current service 
cost and, where applicable, past service costs, are 
determined by using the projected unit credit method.

The rules of the Museums Pension Fund were amended to 
include a defined contribution category and that no new 
members would join the defined benefit category with 
effect from 1 April 2003. 

All new employees appointed from 1 April 2003 joined 
the defined contribution category, while the existing 
participating employees remained members of the 
defined benefit category of the Museums Pension Fund at 
the existing contribution rate.

The Museums Pension Fund is a multi-employer fund 
where the entity is unable to determine its proportionate 
share of the fund’s obligation, and assets are treated as 
defined contribution plans. 

1.14.4 Iziko Retirement Fund
The Iziko Retirement Fund is a defined contribution fund. 
Payments to the defined contribution pension plan are 
charged to the Statement of Financial Performance in the 
year to which it relates.

1.14.5 State Plan – Associated Institutions 
 Pension Fund 
The Associated Institutions Pension Fund is a defined 
benefit fund that is operated by government. It is a multi-
employer fund where the entity is unable to determine 

its proportionate share of the fund’s obligation, and 
assets are treated as defined contribution plans. 

1.14.6 Post-employment Medical Benefit
Iziko provides post-employment healthcare benefits 
to its employees. The entitlement to post-retirement 
healthcare benefits is based on the employee remaining 
a contributing member of the medical aid schemes and 
remaining in the service up to retirement age. 

Post-employment healthcare benefits are based on  
the following subsidy policy:

•  An employee who joined the medical aid scheme 
before 1 April 2004 contributed one third (1/3)  
of the total healthcare contribution and Iziko  
the balance.

•  An employee who joined Iziko from 1 April 2004 would, 
after retirement, pay 100% of the total healthcare 
contribution.

The assets are generally held in separate trustee-
administered medical aid funds, namely, Fedhealth and 
BESTmed Medical Scheme. 

Provision is made for post-retirement benefits. Valuation 
of these obligations is carried out by independent, 
qualified actuaries. Key assumptions concerning the 
future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the Statement of Financial Position date are used for the 
post-employment benefits liability as per the actuarial 
valuation disclosed in note 16. The amount accrued for 
post-retirement medical benefits is included within the 
non-current provisions. 

The expected costs of these benefits are accrued 
over the period of employment, using the projected 
unit credit method. Actuarial gains and losses arising 
from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are charged to the Statement of Financial 
Performance in full in the current period.

1.15 Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, Cash and 
Cash Equivalents comprise cash on hand and at bank, 
as well as notice deposits held on call with banks. 

1.16   Significant Accounting Judgments, 
Estimates and Assumptions 

The preparation of Iziko’s annual financial statements 
requires management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting 
date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions 
and estimates could result in outcomes that require 
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a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the 
asset or liability affected in future periods. 

1.16.1 Judgments
In the process of applying Iziko’s accounting policies, 
management has made the following judgments that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the annual financial statements: 

Operating Lease Commitments 
Iziko has entered into lease agreements for the leasing 
of fleet vehicles, photocopiers and berthing of the 
vessel, SAS Somerset. Iziko has determined, based 
on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the 
arrangements, that it does not retain the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets and 
property, and so accounts for the contracts as 
operating leases. It is assumed that the lessor will 
continue its business operations until the end of the 
lease period.

1.16.2 Estimates and Assumptions 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the Statement 
of Financial Position date, that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
are discussed below: 

Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment 
Iziko carries its assets at fair value, with changes in fair 
value being recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance. Iziko engaged an independent specialist 
to determine fair value as at 31 March 2010. The 
approach to determine the fair value of Property, Plant 
and Equipment was based on the principle to recalculate 
the remaining depreciation where the useful life was 
extended from five years to seven, and then to calculate 
the effect on the financial statement.  

Post-employment Benefits 
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other 
post-employment medical benefits, as well as the 
present value of the pension obligation, is determined 
using actuarial valuations by an independent actuary. 
The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions 
about discount rates, expected rates of return of 
assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and 
future pension increases. The key assumptions used 
to determine the fair value of the pension and medical 
benefit fund assets are further explained in note 16. 

 
 
 

Litigation
The provision of R300,000 raised in respect of an 
artwork donated to the SA National Gallery in 1985 
as part of the former Natale Labia Museum display, 
and which could not be returned to the donor because 
it was thought to be lost, stolen or mislaid, has been 
reversed because the artwork was found and returned 
to the donor. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
Where the fair value of financial assets and financial 
liabilities recorded in the Statement of Financial 
Position cannot be derived from active markets, a 
degree of judgment is required in establishing fair 
values. The judgments include considerations of 
inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. 
Changes in assumptions about these factors could 
affect the reported fair value of Financial Instruments.

Contingent Liabilities
There is uncertainty as to whether Iziko is liable for  
the settlement of the levies raised in relation to the 
compensation fund for the previously known SA 
National Gallery. Changes in this assumption could have 
an effect on the financial statements.

1.17 Taxation
Iziko Museums of Cape Town is exempt from taxation 
in terms of the provision of Section 10(1)(cA)(i) of the 
Income Tax Act, as amended.



2.1 Property, Plant and Equipment
      2009
       Restated
 R R R R R R
  Furniture  Vehicles  Equipment  Computers  Capital Work TOTAL 

     in Progress* 

Gross carrying amount      9,473,036
at beginning of year 781,174 809,928 3,540,962 4,340,972 - 
Accumulated depreciation 
at beginning of year    (539,864) (510,945) (2,023,630) (2,478,438) - (5,552,877)   
Net carrying amount at
beginning of year        241,310 298,983 1,517,332 1,862,534 - 3,920,159   

Movement during the year      
Acquisitions 213,039 - 920,790 444,832 - 1,578,661
Disposals (7,506) (577,373) (109,606) (215,512) - (909,997)
Re-estimation - - - - - -
Accumulated depreciation
on disposals 4,548 355,190 96,910 191,569 - 648,217
Accumulated depreciation
on re-estimated assets - - - (30,292) -  (30,292)
Depreciation expensed
for the year      (148,122) (12,600) (632,095) (543,810) - (1,336,627)   

Net carrying amount at 

end of year     303,269 64,200 1,793,331 1,709,321 - 3,870,121   

Gross carrying amount       
at end of year 986,707 232,555 4,352,146 4,570,292 - 10,141,700
Accumulated depreciation 
at end of year (683,438) (168,355) (2,558,815) (2,860,971) - (6,271,519)

      2010
 R  R   R   R  R  R 
   Furniture   Vehicles   Equipment   Computers  Capital Work  TOTAL 
     in Progress 
Gross carrying amount       
at beginning of year 986,707  232,555   4,352,146  4,570,292    -    10,141,700
Accumulated depreciation       
at beginning of year     (683,438)  (168,355)  (2,558,815) (2,860,971)     -    (6,271,579)  
Net carrying amount at      
beginning of year      303,269  64,200 1,793,331 1,709,321  -    3,870,121   

Movement during the year      
Acquisitions 508,909     -    731,618 668,654  870,745  2,779,926 
Disposals      
Accumulated depreciation -  - - - -
on disposals      
Depreciation expensed for      
the year      (217,815)    ( 29,069)  (517,043) (445,978)  - (1,209,905)   

Net carrying amount at       

end of year      594,363 35,131  2, 007,906 1,931,997 870,745 5,440,142   

Gross carrying amount at      
end of year 1,495,616  232,555 5,083,764 5,238,946  870,745   12,921,626 
Accumulated depreciation       
at end of year (901,253)    (197,424) (3,075,858) (3,306,949) -  (7,481,484)

*  Capital Work in Progress refers to a fibre optic network under construction and the stated amount represents the stage of completion 
at year-end. The project is expected to be completed within the year ended 31 March 2011.
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3. Intangible Assets
  2009

 2010 Restated

 R R

Carrying amount at beginning of year 381,135 219,732

Cost 664,706 474,148

Accumulated amortisation (283,571) (254,416)

Current year movement  

Additions 84,858 231,192

Disposals  - (40,634)

Re-estimation  - -

Accumulated amortisation on disposals  -  36,367

Accumulated amortisation on re-estimated assets  - 30,292 

Amortisation expense for the year        (82,035)            (95,814)    

Carrying amount at end of year  383,958 381,135

Cost 749,564 664,706

Accumulated amortisation       (365,606) (283,571)

4. Inventories
 2010  2009 

 R  R 

Consumables – Cleaning materials 40,078   9,806 

Consumables - Stationery 4,533  10,086 

Finished Goods - Uniforms 42,588 9,170 

Consumables - Lighting 62,243  132,724

Finished Goods - Promotional material and corporate gifts            12,050                        -     

         161,492             161,786     

During the period under review obsolete inventory items costing R4,959 (2009 Nil) were written off. The following amounts of consumables 

and finished goods held as inventory were recognised as expenses. These amounts are included under other operating expenses:

 2010  2009 

 R  R 

Consumables – Cleaning materials 136,020   110,542 

Consumables - Stationery 241,671  286,727

Finished Goods - Uniforms 76,223 86,416 

Consumables - Lighting 86,550 8,763

Finished Goods - Promotional material and corporate gifts           26,269                    62,306    

5. Trade and Other Receivables
  2009

 2010 Restated

 R R

Rent deposit 15,501 15,501

Accrued interest 126,648 186,907

Accounts receivable 5,809,118 609,998

Other receivables                       -                46,336     

 5,951,267  858,742

Provision for doubtful debts        (26,433)          (218,928)     

   5,924,834            639,814     



 2010 2009
 R R
Reconciliation of the doubtful debt provision
Balance at beginning of year 218,929 14,960
Provision for receivables impairment        -     213,109  
Impairment losses reversed (unused amounts reversed)       (192,496)                   (9,140)  
Balance at end of year          26,433             218,929  

At 31 March 2010 trade receivables amounting to R1,433 (2009: R218,929) were impaired and provided for. The individually impaired 

receivables relates to the receivables for leasing of parking. The debtors have not responded to letters of demand and are not traceable. 

A further amount of R25,000 provided relate to services delivered to a debtor in conjunction with the University of Cape 

Town. UCT has indicated that it seems unlikely that this debt would be recoverable from the debtor.

6. Cash and Cash Equivalents
 2010 2009
 R R
Call and notice deposit accounts* 36,178,734 28,948,711
Cash at bank and on hand        1,613,845        15,208,014  
   37,792,579      44,156,725  

*  Call and notice deposit accounts are short-term, highly liquid investments that are held with registered banking institutions with 
maturities of three months or less and are subject to insignificant interest rate risk.

7. Trade and Other Payables
 2010 2009
  Restated
 R R 
Deferred lease liability      9,027      11,617
Rent deposits      40,973      39,800
Leave pay* 1,359,158 1,448,986
Annual bonus**    869,553    806,442
Trade creditors and accruals     4,468,380          3,738,941  
     6,747,091       6,045,786  

Leave Pay*

Leave pay represents Iziko’s obligation to pay for employees’ services provided up to the date of the Statement of Financial Position. 

The leave pay liability is measured as the additional amount that is expected to be paid as a result of unused leave entitlement that  

has accumulated as at the Statement of Financial Position date, taking into account the undiscounted amount of current cost to 

employer per employee.

Annual Bonus**

Annual bonus represents Iziko’s obligation to pay for pro-rata annual bonuses for the period November 2009 up to the Statement of 

Financial Position date of 31 March 2010 due to employees. The bonus liability is measured at the additional amount that is expected  

to be paid as a result of bonuses payable annually in November, retrospective for the period November to October of each year.

8. Provisions
8.1 Post-employment Pension Benefit 
The provision for post-employment pension benefit represents Iziko’s liability towards the unfunded actuarial liabilities  
for the defined pension and provident fund covering all participating employees. The valuation results as at 1 April 2009 
show that no shortfall exists in respect of accrued liabilities and a funding level of 100.0% certifies that the Museums 
Pension Fund is currently in a financially sound position. The valuation results for the Museums Provident Fund as at  
1 April 2009 shows that a shortfall of approximately R230,000 exists in respect of accrued liabilities and a funding level  
of 94,7% certifies that the Museums Provident Fund is currently not in a financially sound position. The provision was 
raised for Iziko’s liability towards the defined provident fund benefits covering all participating employees.
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 2010 2009
 R R
Gross carrying amount at beginning of year  203,684 155,124
Utilised during the year                        -               - 
 203,684 155,124
Increase/decrease in provision         (196,030)              48,560   
Gross carrying amount at end of year                7,654            203,684   

8.2 Post-employment Medical Benefit
The provision was raised for Iziko’s liability towards future post-employment medical benefits covering all participating 
employees and retirees.

 2010 2009
 R R
Gross carrying amount at beginning of year  27,230,318 24,822,345
Utilised during the year                        -                - 
 27,230,318 24,822,345
Increase in provision          4,811,048        2,407,973   
Gross carrying amount at end of year     32,041,366     27,230,318   

8.3 Litigation
The provision of R300,000 raised in respect of an artwork donated to the SA National Gallery in 1985 as part of  
the former Natale Labia Museum display, and which could not be returned to the donor because it was thought to  
be lost, stolen or mislaid, has been reversed in the current financial reporting period because the artwork was found  
and returned to the donor. 

 2010 2009
 R R
Gross carrying amount at beginning of year  300,000 300,000
Utilised during the year                        -                          -  
 300,000 300,000
Decrease in provision         (300,000)                        -   
Gross carrying amount at end of year                        -           300,000   

9. Deferred Income 
Deferred income consists of funds received for specific projects on condition that any unspent funds are returned to the 
transferor. A liability is recognised for advance receipts until the event that makes the transfer arrangement binding 
occurs and all other conditions under the agreement are fulfilled. When that event occurs and all other conditions under 
the agreement are fulfilled, the liability is discharged and revenue is recognised. The liability is measured at the amount 
required to settle the obligation. 

Funding received from the National Lotteries Board for various educational, heritage and research projects for the year 
amounted to R1,639,300.

    2009
    Restated
Projects per department Number of Total deferred To be utilised To be utilised in
 projects income within one year Year 2 and thereafter

  R R R

Natural History Collections 6 715,422 715,422 -
Social History Collections 7 885,611 857,371 28,240
Art Collections 6 64,856 64,856 -
Education and Public Programmes 7             391,151 391,151 -         
Total                      2,057,040  2,028,800 28,240       



    2010
Projects per department Number of Total deferred To be utilised To be utilised in
 projects income within one year Year 2 and thereafter

  R R R

Natural History Collections 9 355,899 355,899 -
Social History Collections 2 691,284 426,410 264,874
Art Collections 1 83,370 83,370 -
Education and Public Programmes 6             898,247 780,501 117,746         
Total                      2,028,800  1,646,180 382,620        

Funding received for various educational, heritage and research projects from the National Lotteries Board for the 
year amounted to R1,639,300. 

10. Net Surplus for the Year
Net surplus/(deficit) has been arrived at after charging:

 2010 2009
  Restated 
 R  R 
Personnel expenses 46,126,522    38,921,191
Salaries and benefits 41,511,504    36,464,658
Provision for post-employment benefits 4,615,018     2,456,533
Audit fees 862,996    636,406
Bank and legal costs 261,630    577,673
Consultants 998,901     661,830
Depreciation 1, 209,905  1,336,626
Amortisation: intangible assets 82,035       95,814
Loss on disposal of assets    -     174,588
Operating leases 764,587    498,122
Insurance 327,729     324,167
Provision for doubtful debts 37,196   213,109 
Licenses and networking fees 258,996    220,354
Library costs 373,724    475,525
Museum core function activities 8,736,494  10,137,544
Other operating expenses           8,091,023                  7,573,611     

       68,131,738           61,846,560     

11. Cash Flow Statement
11.1 Reconciliation of Cash Generated in Operations 
 2010  2009 
  Restated
 R  R 
Net surplus/deficit for the year (4,494,656) 8,066,091 
Adjustments:  
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 1,209,905 1,336,627 
Amortisation on intangible assets 82,035 95,814 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 261,779 
Loss on disposal of intangible assets - 4,267 
Interest received          (3,315,778)              (3,926,914)      
Operating surplus/(deficit) before working capital changes (6,518,494) 5,837,664
Working capital changes (306,824)  (6,508,507)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (5,285,021) 290,191 
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 292 (148,930)   
(Increase)/decrease in deferred income (28,240) (9,481,379)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 5,006,145 2,831,611 
Prior period adjustment                 10,178                6,817,663      

Cash generated in operations         (6,815,140)               6,146,820     
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12. Financial Instruments
Financial Instruments carried on the Statement of Financial Position consist of Trade and Other Payables, Cash and Cash 
Equivalents and Trade and Other Receivables. The main risks arising from the Financial Instruments are credit  
and interest risks.

12.1 Credit Risk
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Financial assets, which potentially subject the Council to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of Cash and Cash 
Equivalents, as well as Trade and Other Receivables. Iziko’s exposure to credit risk is insignificant. Credit risk is mitigated 
by the fact that Iziko only deposits and invests funds with registered banks. 

Accounts and Other Receivables
The maximum exposure to credit risks at the reporting date is the fair value of Trade and Other Receivables as  
disclosed in note 5. The amount presented in the Statement of Financial Position is net of Provision for Doubtful  
Debts, estimated on prior experience and the current economic environment.  

Debtors arise from the rental of facilities and professional services rendered. Management is of the opinion that these 
debts are fully recoverable.  

At the end of the prior year, Other Receivables included an amount of R46,337 due by the West Coast Fossil Park 
Trust for bridging finance provided by Iziko for the operating cost during the setting up of the Trust. This amount was 
recovered in full by Iziko during the current financial year.

 2010 2009
  Restated
Financial assets R R
Cash and cash equivalents 37,792,579 44,156,725

Trade and other receivables 592,718 609,319

The age analysis of Trade and Other Receivables are past due but not impaired 
Trade and other receivables which are less than three months past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 March 
2010 – R566,285, (2009: R390,391) were past due but not impaired.
The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

1 month past due 565,798    383,268
2 months past due        487        3,278

3 months past due  -        3,845

12.2 Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk
The Council is not locked into long-term interest rates because Cash and Cash Equivalents consist of short-term 
investments held at registered banks with high credit ratings. Interest rate exposure is therefore low on Iziko’s bank 
accounts. These deposits attract interest at rates linked directly to the prime overdraft rate.

Sensitivity Analysis: Cash and Cash Equivalents
The following tables illustrate the impact of a 1% increase and decrease in the interest rate on the Statement of 
Financial Performance:
     
Financial assets Classification 2010 2009
  R  R 
External investments   

Call deposits Available for sale 36,178,734 28,948,711

Bank balances and cash on hand Available for sale        1,613, 845          15,208,014       

   37,792,579       44,156,725      



 2010 2009
 R  R 
Interest received   
Interest earned – external investments   3,315,778 3,926,914
Interest rate  9% 9%

Effect of a Change in Interest Rate on Interest Earned from External Investments
Effect of change in interest rate 1% decrease 8% 8%
Effect of change in interest rate  Rand value          3,023,406           3,532,538

Effect of change in interest rate 1% increase 10% 10%
Effect of change in interest rate  Rand value      3,779,258         4 ,415,673

Currency and Other Price Risk 
Iziko is not exposed to currency and other price risks.

12.3 Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is managed by keeping sufficient cash available for funding through an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities and the ability to move funds from short-term financial instruments. Iziko manages liquidity 
risk by monitoring its cash flow requirements and optimises its cash return on investments. The Council  
is of the opinion that the net carrying value of the financial instruments approximate their fair value and that Iziko 
hassufficient cash available to settle its financial liabilities.

 2010 2009
  Restated
 R R
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables 6,747,091 6,045,786

Maturity Analysis
The table below analyses Iziko’s financial liabilities based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the 
contractual maturity date.

2010 Less than 12 months Over 12 months
Trade payables 862,114                   -
Accruals 1,741,665 -
Other payables       4,093,312               50,000  

      6,697,091              50,000  

2009  
Restated   
Trade payables 727,103                   -
Accruals 1,431,198                   -
Other payables      3,836,067                51,418  

    5,994,368                51,418   

12.4 Fair Value of Financial Instruments
At year end the carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, other payables, deferred 
income and provisions approximated their fair value due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities. 

12.5 Financial Instruments Per Category 
12.5.1  Financial Assets
 2010 2009
  Restated
 R R
   
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 592,718 609,319
Cash and cash equivalents       37,792,579        44,156,725  

     38,385,297     44,766,044  
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12.5.2 Financial Liabilities   
 2010 2009
  Restated
 R R
Other liabilities at amortised cost   
Trade payables 862,114 727,103
Accruals 1,741,665 1,431,198
Other payables         4,093,312         3,836,067  

       6,697,091       5,994,368  

13. Operating Leases
Iziko Museums as Lessor
Operating Leases relate to restaurants and retail spaces in buildings occupied by Iziko Museums of Cape Town with 
lease terms of between two to five years, with an option to renew. All operating lease contracts contain market 
review clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. The property rental income earned under 
operating leases amounted to R477,916 (2009: R460,861). 

Amounts Receivable under Operating Leases 
At the reporting date the following minimum lease payments were receivable under non-cancellable operating leases 
for Property, Plant and Equipment, which are receivable as follows: 

 2010 2009
 R R
Up to one year 406,298 458,680
Two to five years - 381,548
More than five years                         -                          -   
           406,298            840,228 

The following restrictions have, inter alia, been imposed by Iziko in terms of the lease agreements: 
(i)   The lessee shall not have the right to sublet, cede or assign the whole or any portion of the premises let. 
(ii)   The lessor or its duly authorised agent, representative or servant shall have the right at all reasonable  

times to inspect the premises let. 
(iii) The lessee shall use the premises let for the sole purpose prescribed in the agreement.

No contingent rental income was recognised as revenue in the reporting period.

Iziko Museums as Lessee
The operating leases relate to rentals charged for vehicles, berthing fees and photocopiers with lease terms of 
between two to five years, with an option to extend. All operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in 
the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. Payments under operating leases amounted to R764,587 
(2009: R498,122). 

Amounts Payable under Operating Leases 
At the reporting date the total future minimum lease payments are as follows:

  2010 2009
   Restated
 R R
Up to one year 678,036 550,969
Two to five years 3,007,332 1,875,905
More than five years                         -                          -   
        3,685,368         2,426,874  

The following restrictions have, inter alia, been imposed in terms of the lease agreements:
(i)   The lessee shall not have the right to sublet, cede or assign the whole or any portion of the property, vehicles  

or equipment let.
(ii)   The lessor or its duly authorised agent, representative or servant shall have the right at all reasonable times  

to inspect the property, vehicles or equipment let.
(iii) The lessee shall use the property, vehicles or equipment for the sole purpose prescribed in the agreement.

No contingent rent expenses were recognised in the reporting period.



14. Change in Accounting Estimates 
At the end of the 2009 financial year, Iziko re-estimated the remaining useful lives of furniture, equipment and 
computers from five years to a further three years. This resulted in a depreciation surplus amounting to R12,374 written 
back to accumulated depreciation. 

 2010 2009
 R R
Net effect on Statement of Financial Performance  
Decrease in operating expenses  
Depreciation - 12,374
Net effect on Statement of Financial Position  
Increase in assets  
Property, plant and quipment - 12,374
Increase in equity   
Accumulated funds                        -             12,374

 
15. Emoluments of Council, Audit Committee Members and Executive
Emoluments of Council Members  
 2010 2009
 R R
E Links (Chairperson) 7,488 3,435
R Du Pré 1,950   650
S Jeppie 3,231 3,025
P Madiba 3,900 –
D Mitchell 8,310 5,200
S Prosalendis 7,800 5,570
C Rassool                5,145               3,062

            37,824           20,942

 
The Council was appointed by the Minister of Arts and Culture effective from March 2007. The emolument rate for 
Council members is R650 per meeting attended.

Emoluments of Audit Committee Members  
 2010 2009
 R R
D Mitchell (Chairperson) 4,483 2,500
R Du Pré 2,000 1,000
R Nayagar (deceased)                    -                    1,000

             6,483           4,500

 
The Audit Committee was appointed by the Council effective from 1 April 2007. The emolument rate for Audit 
Committee members is R1,000 per official audit committee meeting and R250 per hour up to a maximum of R1,000  
for ad-hoc committee meetings attended.

 



PAGE 59

Remuneration is shown at cost to company package, based on basic salary, bonuses, allowances and employee 
benefit contributions by Iziko up to the Statement of Financial Position date. Employee benefit contributions consist 
of pension, medical aid and other regulatory contributions. Remuneration costs are charged to the Statement of 
Financial Performance in the year to which they relate.

*     In 2005, a dispute was referred to the Commissioner for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration (CCMA) by the Director  
Human Resources, challenging her non-appointment to the position of Executive Director Operations. Pursuant to an award 
made by the CCMA on 10 December 2007, an amount of R196,677 was paid to the Director Human Resources on 30 March 
2008. Further amounts totalling R206,783 have been paid during the 2009 financial year, as additional ongoing compensation 
for her non-appointment.

**  Leave payout on resignation and retirement of Directors was made during the year under review.

       2009
  Salaries Bonuses Allowances Employer Leave Total
     Contributions  
Chief Executive Officer       
Prof HC Bredekamp CEO 758,676 65,291 119,460 199,492  1,142,919
Executive Directors       
Dr PJ Davison Core Functions  543,068 96,736 69,757 145,780    855,341
Mrs V Baduza Operations  461,612 89,726 76,251  89,316    716,905
Chief Financial Officer       
Mrs F Allie CFO 323,148 55,620 68,162  70,015    516,945
Directors       
Ms VC Carelse EPP (to 31 May 2008)  38,719 12,766 10,831  10,855    3,018 **  76,189
Mrs D Crous Human Resources 323,148 55,620 68,695 108,895 206,783 * 763,141
Ms S Glanville-Zini IA 238,848 18,842 65,072 53,213  375,975
Ms M Martin Art (to 31 Aug 2008) 152,389 27,488 27,541 39,878 30,331 ** 277,627
Ms JL Meltzer Social History 287,605 24,381 16,154 93,253  421,393
Dr HG Robertson Natural History 333,284 57,364 68,694 97,346  556,688
Mrs MG van der Merwe CSM Manager    269,072 23,156 56,694 95,051   443,973 

    3,729,569   526,990   647,311  1,003,094 240,132  6,147,096    

  
  2010
  Salaries Bonuses Allowances Employer Leave Total
     Contributions  

Chief Executive Officer        
Prof HC Bredekamp CEO 825,276 170,514 129,461 219,358  1,344,609
Executive Directors  
Dr PJ Davison Core Functions      
 (to 31 March 2010) 636,170 137,232 75,765 160,581 82,732** 1,092,480
Mrs V Baduza Operations      
 (to 28 February 2010) 459,232 112,205 75,061 110,140 27,616** 784,254
Mrs D Crous Operations      
 (from 1 March 2010) 42,904   7,489 13,331  63,724
Chief Financial Officer        
Mrs F Allie CFO 351,520 60,070 64,945 76,163  552,698
Directors        
Dr WD Alexander EPP      
 (from 1 August 2009) 240,280 7,509 45,155 49,846  342,790
Mrs D Crous Human Resources      
 (to 28 February 2010) 459,232 42,904 80,561 140,355  723,052
Ms S Glanville-Zini IA 298,992 22,199 72,449 62,986  456,626
Ms JL Meltzer Social History 362,544 30,977 17,606 113,556  524,683
Mr R Naidoo Art (from 1 May 2009) 333,862 15,489 85,007 63,415  497,773
Dr HG Robertson Natural History 390,426 35,624 73,672 113,166  612,888
Mrs MG van der Merwe CSM 301,560 26,117 61,672 101,660  491,009

    4,701,998 660,840 788,843 1,224,557 110,348 7,486,586   

Emoluments of CEO, Executive Directors, Directors and Senior Managers



16. Post-employment Benefit Costs
16.1 Pension Fund 
Iziko operates pension funds that provide benefits on both defined benefit and defined contribution plans for 
all indefinite employees. The Iziko Retirement Fund and Museums Pension Fund are administered on behalf of Iziko 
by pension fund administrators and are governed by the Pensions Fund Act, 1956, as amended, while the Associated 
Institutions Pension Fund Act, 1963 (Act No. 41 of 1963) governs the Associated Institutions Pension Fund.  
An independent Board of Trustees manages each fund. 

The Museums Pension Fund is a multi-employer plan. The actuarial valuation is done for the plan in its entirety and 
does not specify, as a separate entity, Iziko’s obligation, plan assets or liability in terms of the fund.

The Museums Pension Fund requires an actuarial valuation every three years. The defined benefit contribution plan 
fund was actuarially valued, using the projected unit credit method at 1 April 2009 and it revealed that the assets 
of the fund represented a funding position of 100.0% for the Museums Pension Fund and 94.7% for the Museums 
Provident Fund. Any deficit advised by the actuaries is funded through increased contributions to ensure the ongoing 
soundness of the pension fund. At the time of the valuation, the actuary reported that he was satisfied that 
the results of the Museums Pension Fund fairly represent the current financial position of the fund. In view thereof, the 
result shows a funding level of 100.0% and he certified that the fund is currently in a financially sound position. The 
actuary also reported that he was satisfied that the current composition of the investments of the Museums Provident 
Fund can be considered reasonable for the purpose of matching its assets and liabilities.

The financial position of the fund as at 1 April 2009, compared to the financial position as at the previous valuation 
date, is as follows:

Museums Pension Fund 1 Apr 2009 1 Apr 2006 1 Apr 2005 1 Apr 2004

  R   R   R  R 

Liabilities in respect of:     

Defined contribution members 13,805,000     3,057,000 1,737,000 815,000

Defined benefit members    

Retirement benefits 120,512,000   94,782,000 86,297,000 69,860,000

Withdrawal benefits    4,716,000     5,334,000  5,500,000   5,199,000

Death benefits    8,911,000     7,565,000 7,162,000   5,730,000

Current pensioners  65,946,000   38,229,000 28,125,000 23,755,000

Risk reserve account – – 130,000 –

Employer surplus account 26,813,000   14,280,000  – –

Surplus apportionment cost reserve                         – 39,000 36,000 30,000

Total liability    240,703,000 163,286,000 128,987,000 105,389,000
Less value placed on assets    235,559,000 163,286,000 122,340,000 96,727,000

Shortfall in respect of accrued liabilities      (5,144,000) – (6,647,000) (8,662,000)

Funding level 97.9%  100.0% 94.8% 91.8%

Museums Provident Fund 1 Apr 2009 1 Apr 2006 1 Apr 2005 1 Apr 2004

  R   R   R  R 

Liabilities in respect of:    

Paid-up members 3,012,000  3,032,000 3,702,000 3,608,000 
Current pensioners 1,316,000  1,051,000 488,000 478,000
Surplus apportionment cost reserve                         -         39,000 33,000 30,000

Total liability 4,328,000  4,122,000 4,223,000 4,116,000
Less value placed on assets         4,098,000  3,844,000 3,981,000 3,727,000

Shortfall in respect of accrued liabilities         (230,000) (278,000) (242,000) (389,000)

Funding level 94.7%    93.3% 94.3%     90.5%
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The Museums Provident Fund funding level increased to 94.7%. The shortfall of R230,000 can be funded from 
the benefit fund assets. During the year under review, the provision was reduced by R196,030 in the financial 
statements to decrease Iziko’s liability towards the Museums Provident Fund to R7,654. 

The rules of the Museums Pension Fund were amended to include a defined contribution category and that no 
new members will join the defined benefit category with effect from 1 April 2003. All new employees appointed 
with effect from 1 April 2003 will join the defined contribution category, while the existing participating 
employees will remain members of the defined benefit category of the Museums Pension Fund at the existing 
contribution rate.

Assumptions
Mortality
The published SA56-62 (ultimate) mortality rates have been used in respect of the period before retirement.  
In the case of female lives, their ages have been reduced by three years to allow for their higher life expectancy.
In respect of the period after retirement, the published PA90 tables, rated down one year for males and females 
respectively have been used. Provision for future improvement in mortality is also provided for at a rate of 1%  
per annum from 1 April 2004.

Valuation Rate of Interest and General Inflation
A valuation rate of interest of 8.5% per annum (8.25% per annum at the previous actuarial valuation of the 
Fund) has been used in respect of the period before retirement and 6.5% per annum in respect of the period after 
retirement of each member. The expected long-term general rate of inflation was assumed to be 4.5%  
per annum.

Contribution Rates
The following rates of contribution are applied:

Iziko Retirement Fund
Defined contribution category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual 
bonus) and the employer contributes 20.62%. All new employees appointed with effect from 1 July 2007 joining  
the Iziko Retirement Funds: the employer contributes 15%, while the contribution for existing participating 
employees remains the same.

Museums Pension Fund
Defined benefit category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual bonus) and 
the employer contributes 24.6%.

Defined contribution category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual 
bonus) and the employer contributes 15%. The employer contribution rates can fluctuate as a result of changes to 
the insured benefit rate.

Associated Institutions Pension Fund
Defined benefit category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary only) and the employer 
contributes 12%.

16.2 Medical Aid 
Iziko operates a post-employment medical-benefit scheme that covers all employees that were appointed prior  
to 1 April 2004. The medical schemes are funded by payments from retirees and Iziko. Iziko’s contribution to the 
medical schemes is charged to the Statement of Financial Performance in the year to which it relates. The latest 
full valuation of Iziko’s liability in respect of post-employment medical benefits for the financial year-end 
was performed on 31 March 2010 and it will be valued at yearly intervals thereafter. The actuary forecast the 
expense for the year following the valuation date and the forecast position at the year-end following the valuation 
date, ignoring any gains or losses arising over the period. The liability was projected based on forty-two (42) 
retirees and sixty-five (65) employees participating as at 31 March 2010. The liability and future increases are 
charged to income. 



Amounts for the current and previous four periods are as follows:

 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

 R R R R R
     

Present value of funded obligations  - - - - -

Fair value of plan assets  - - - - -    

Present value of unfunded obligations  32,041,366 27,230,318 24,822,345 22,755,813 20,973,000   

Present value of obligations in excess 

of plan assets  32,041,366 27,230,318 24,822,345 22,755,813 20,973,000   

Unrecognised transitional liability - - - - -

Unrecognised actuarial gains/(losses) - - - - -

Unrecognised past service cost                    - - - - -    

Net liability in statement of

financial position    32,041,366 27,230,318 24,822,345 22,755,813 20,973,000  

Opening balance  27,230,318 24,822,345 22,755,813 20,973,000 19,453,000

Current service cost  594,386 598,773 583,675 663,000 663,000

Interest cost  2,297,416 2,345,725 1,816,087 1,776,464 1,621,000

Expected return on plan assets  - - - - -

Liability recognised  - - - - -

Actuarial (gain)/loss  2,917,421 323,249 359,905 153,189 -

Past service cost  - - - - -

Expected employer benefit payments   (998,176) (859,776) (693,134) (809,840) (764,000)   

      32,041,365 27,230,316 24,822,346 22,755,813 20,973,000   

During the year under review, an additional provision of R4,811,049 was raised in the financial statements to increase 
Iziko’s future liability towards the post-retirement employee medical benefit scheme to R32,041,365.

Assumptions 
Changes in Valuation Basis 
The methodologies and assumptions used in this valuation have remained unchanged from those used in the previous 
valuation prepared by the Health Monitor Company. 

Net Discount Rate 
It is difficult to predict future investment returns and the rate at which medical contributions and claims will escalate 
in the future. Generally it is easier to predict the relationship between economic variables in the long term than the 
actual value of those variables in isolation. 

Healthcare cost inflation has exceeded the average inflation rate over the past few years, and this is expected to 
continue in the near future. However, this situation implies that medical scheme contributions will constitute a 
growing proportion of employee remuneration packages, which is not tenable in the long term. Furthermore, the 
general healthcare system in South Africa is in a state of flux at the moment and future changes in legislation and 
the national health system will necessarily affect medical scheme contributions. Therefore, any assumption regarding 
future increases in medical scheme contributions is necessarily subjective. 

General actuarial practice is to use a net discount rate (investment return less escalation rate of medical scheme 
contributions) of between 0% and 3%. We have used a net discount rate of 1.5% in this valuation. 

According to the Accounting Statements, IAS19, the rate used to discount post-employment benefits should be 
determined by reference to market yields on high quality corporate bonds. If a deep market on such bonds does not 
exist in the country, then the market rates on long-term government should be used. For this valuation we used an 
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interest rate of 9.25%, being the approximate yield on the R186 bond at the date of finalising this report. This gives 
an implied assumption of long-term future inflation of medical scheme contributions of 7.64%.

Mortality Assumptions
The mortality assumptions used in the calculation of the liabilities were as follows:

Pre-retirement Male SA 85–90 (light) 
  Female SA 85–90 (light) rated down by 3 years
Post-retirement Male PA90 (m)
  Female PA90 (f)

Withdrawal and Retirement Assumptions  
An assumption regarding the rates of resignation and retirement of active members is necessary. If an employee 
leaves the service of the company by resigning, the company is no longer liable for post-retirement healthcare costs 
for that member. At normal or approved early-retirement, the subsidy commences immediately. 

Sample assumed independent rates of resignation of active employees are as follows:

Age Males Females
20 16.0% 24.0%
25 12.0% 18.0%
30 10.0% 15.0%
35 8.0% 10.0%
40 6.0% 6.0%
45 4.0% 4.0%
50 2.0% 2.0%
55+ 0.0% 0.0%

The retirement age was assumed to be 62 to allow for the possibility of early retirement. 

Family Statistics
The calculation of liabilities for pensioners was based on actual family statistics supplied (number of dependants and 
dates of birth of spouses).

The calculation of liabilities in respect of current employees was based on assumed numbers of dependants and 
ages of dependants at each future age. 



Contribution Tables
The monthly medical scheme contributions used in the valuation of the contribution liability are as follows: 

BESTmed Medical Scheme - Monthly contributions for the year ended 31 December 2010 

Option (Income band) Main member Adult dependant Child dependant
Blueprint (R0–R12,000)  602 602 359
Blueprint (R12,001–R48,000)  647 610 359
Blueprint (R48,001–R60,001)  817 624 359
Blueprint (R60,001+) 909 695 386
TopCare (R0–R86,000)  2,193 1,756 406
TopCare (R86,001+)  2,634 2,105 441
Millennium Comprehensive 2,116 2,036 816
Bonus Plus (R60,001+)  1,638 1,151 413
Millennium Standard 1,240 881 478
Millennium Basic 789 614 333
Vitalcare 671 522 283
Best Platinum 2,907 2,907 681
Best Gold 2,226 2,226 460
Best Goldselect 2,265 2,265 539

Fedhealth - Monthly contributions for the year ended 31 December 2010

Option Main member Adult dependant Child dependant
Maxima Plus 3,188 2,710 956
Maxima Standard 1,632 1,388 490
Maxima Basis 1,316 1,118 395
Maxima Core 1,029 876 360
Ultimax 4,334 3,683 1,300
Ultima 300 3,006 2,555 902
Ultima 200 incl. OHEB 1,916 1,630 574
Ultima 200 excl. OHEB 1,375 1,170 412

 
Other Assumptions 
The valuation was based on the current subsidy levels specified in the data provided. 

We also assumed that no significant changes would occur in the structure of the medical arrangements.  
We have used the current subsidy scales for members as bases for the calculations and have assumed that 
the scales will remain unchanged (apart for adjustments for inflation). If this is not the case, the results of this 
valuation will be affected.

Sensitivity Analysis 
The results above are particularly sensitive to changes in the assumption regarding future increases  
in medical scheme contributions. This is illustrated in the tables below. The following tables illustrate the impact 
of a 1% increase and decrease in the assumed future rate of medical inflation:

Sensitivity analysis - F2010 Accounting Entries

 Base Inflation +1% % Change Inflation -1% % Change

Liability as at 1 April 2009  27,230 27,230 0% 27,230 0%
Settlements  (998) (998) 0% (998) 0%
Current service costs  594 594 0% 594 40%
Interest cost  2,297 2,297 0% 2,297 70%
Actuarial (gain)/loss  2,918  7,857  169.3%  (1,057)  (136.3%) 

Liability as at 31 March 2009  32,041 36,980 15.4% 28,066 (12.4%)
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Sensitivity analysis - F2011 Accounting Entries (projected)

 Base Inflation +1% % Change Inflation -1% % Change

Liability as at 1 April 2009  32,041 36,980 15.4% 28,066 (12.4%)
Settlements  (1,229) (1,236) 0.5% (1,223) (0.5%)
Current service costs  702 857 22.2% 581 (17.2%)
Interest cost  2,939 3,403 15.8% 2,566 (12.7%)
Actuarial (gain)/loss  0 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

Liability as at 31 March 2010  34,453 40,004 16.1% 29,990 -13.0%

17. Contingent Liability   
 2010 2009

 R R

Compensation Fund 35,888 35,888

In July 2009, WCA issued an assessment against the SA National Gallery amounting to R35,888. This amount is  
in respect of levies relating to the period December 2000 to February 2002 for the SA National Gallery prior to  
the amalgamation of Iziko. The outcome of this assessment is uncertain.

18. Related Parties
18.1 Department of Arts and Culture 
The controlling entity of Iziko is the Department of Arts and Culture, who provided a subsidy grant for its operations 
as well as funding for special projects during the year under review. The details of the transactions are as follows:

 2010 2009

 R R

Amount of transaction 
Subsidy grant 48,392,000 44,639,000
Special projects - 411,887
Income received of advance - 9,296,130   
Services rendered  - -  

Outstanding balance at 31 March  - 258,739
Bad debts recovered 191,802 -
Outstanding balance at 31 March - 191,802

The subsidy grant will continue during the next three financial years.

18.2 West Coast Fossil Park Trust 
Iziko accepted the donation of the West Coast Fossil Park from Samancor Limited and agreed to the formation of 
the West Coast Fossil Park Trust (Trust). In the prior year all income and expenditure of the Trust were recognised 
in the annual financial statements of Iziko. During the year under review, the Trust paid R76,260 towards its 
obligation to Iziko in respect of expenses incurred on its behalf. The details of the transaction are as follows: 
 
  2010 2009
  R R
Amount of transaction   150 76,260
Outstanding balance at 31 March   - 46,337

18.3 Castle of Good Hope
The Iziko William Fehr Collection is housed at the Castle of Good Hope and there is an agreement that Iziko will 
receive one third (1/3) of the admission fees.



  2010 2009
  R R
Amount of transaction  753,649 638,478
Outstanding balance at 31 March - -

18.4 Robben Island Museum

  2010 2009
  R R
Amount of transaction  628,218 -
Outstanding balance at 31 March  154,000 -
Services rendered 627,000 -

19.  Prior Period Errors
The comparative figures in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets were restated due to the following adjustment to:

19.1 Property, Plant and Equipment
At the end of the previous financial year, the re-estimated amount of accumulated amortisation on Intangible  
Assets was included in accumulated depreciation on computer hardware. Accumulated amortisation and  
accumulated depreciation of the computer software and computer hardware has been restated. The effect of  
this adjustment is as follows:

Net effect on the Statement of Financial Position

 2010 2009
 R R
Increase in accumulated depreciation - 30,292
Decrease in accumulated amortisation - 30,292

This adjustment did not affect the Statement of Financial Performance.

Minor capital assets were expensed upon acquisition. In terms of IAS16 these items are tangible assets that are used 
in the supply of goods and services; and are expected to be used during more than one period. The gross carrying 
amount and accumulated depreciation of the assets were restated. The effect of this adjustment is as follows:

Net effect on the Statement of Financial Position 

 2010 2009
 R  R
Increase in property, plant and equipment - 94,767
Increase in intangible assets  - 12,155

Increase in accumulated depreciation - 94,767
Increase in accumulated amortisation - 12,155

Increase in depreciation  - 94,767
Increase in amortisation expense - 12,155 

19.2 Payables: Deferred Income
Expenses related to funds received from sponsorships on a project were erroneously included in Iziko’s expenses and 
not in the project expenses, and expenses from sponsorship funds not related to a project were erroneously included 
in project expense accounts. The net effect of these adjustments is as follows:

Net effect on the Statement of Financial Position     

 2010 2009
 R R
Increase in payables 10,178 -
Decrease in operating surplus 10,178 -
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19.3 Intangible Assets
In the financial reporting period ending 31 March 2008, computer software was disclosed as part of Property, Plant 
and Equipment. In terms of IAS38, computer software must be classified as Intangible Assets which are an identifiable 
non-monetary asset without physical substance. The effect of this adjustment is as follows:

Net effect on the Statement of Financial Position    

 2010 2009
 R R
Decrease in property, plant and equipment - 214,080
Decrease in accumulated depreciation - 82,969 

20. Change in Accounting Policy
20.1  Deferred Income
In terms of the accounting policy adopted in regards to the recognition of deferred income, liabilities are recognised 
for advance receipts until the event that makes the transfer arrangement binding occurs and all other conditions 
under the agreement are fulfilled. When that event occurs and all other conditions under the agreement are fulfilled, 
the liability is discharged and revenue is recognised. Deferred revenue recognised using IAS20 that did not meet the 
requirements to be recognised as a liability has been derecognised and recognised as revenue by adjusting the opening 
balance of the accumulated deficit for the prior year. The effect of the change in accounting policy is as follows:

 Deferred Income Revenue Accounts Accumulated 
  Payable Surplus/Deficit

Balance as previously stated at 31 March 2008  11,538,419  53,649,483  5,670,708 (1,512,574) 

Reclassification of deferred revenue 2008 (6,865,990)  6,865,990  69,305  6,796,685 

Restated opening balance 1 April 2008 4,672,429  60,515,473  5,740,013  5,284,111 

Reclassification of deferred revenue 2009 (6,996,191)  6,996,191  - 6,996,191 

Transactions incurred during 2008/2009 4,380,802  2,421,342  305,773 1,090,254 

Restated opening balance 1 April 2009 2,057,040  69,933,006  6,045,786  13,370,556 

Reclassification of deferred revenue 2009 9,314,546  (9,314,546)  3,195 (9,317,741) 

Transactions incurred during 2008/2009 (9,342,786)  3,018,623  698,110 4,835,459 

Restated balance at 31 March 2010   2,028,800  63,637,083  6,747,091  8,888,274  

21. Public Finance Management Act (PFMA)
21.1 Section 55(2)
No material losses due to criminal conduct, nor any unauthorised expenditure, irregular expenditure, fruitless  
or wasteful expenditure have occurred during the current financial year. 

21.2 Section 53(3)
The Council may not accumulate surpluses unless prior written approval of the National Treasury has been obtained. 
Application was made to the National Treasury, via the Department of Arts and Culture to be exempted from 
investing Iziko’s surplus funds with the Corporation for Public Deposits as prescribed in Treasury Regulation 31.   
In terms of guidelines from the Treasury, the surplus arrears are to be related to accumulated surplus as per the 
Statement of Financial Position at the time of application. Iziko had an accumulated deficit, and approval was 
therefore not required.

21.3 Section 54(2)
In terms of the PFMA and National Treasury Regulations 28.1.5, the Council has developed and agreed to a 
framework of acceptable levels of materiality and significance. 

22. World Cup Expenditure
Iziko Museums of Cape Town has not incurred expenditure relating to the purchase of World Cup tickets or World Cup 
branded clothing during the year ended 31 March 2010, or within the financial year ended 31 March 2011.



3. HUMAN 
RESOURCE    
MANAGEMENT

Iziko Summer School 2010, ‘Our Youth and the Environment’ discussion, 21 February 2010.
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3.1 Expenditure
On 31 March 2010 there were 261 staff members in the employ of Iziko, comprising 201 staff members appointed 
indefinitely and 60 appointed on a fixed-term contract. The 60 staff members appointed on a fixed-term contract 
were appointed on short-term contracts and included 16 staff members whose salaries were funded externally.

TABLE 1.  PERSONNEL COSTS 2009-10

TOTAL 
EXPENDITURE

PERSONNEL 
EXPENDITURE

TRAINING 
EXPENDITURE

CONSULTANCY 
SERVICES

PERSONNEL 
COSTS AS 
% OF TOTAL 
EXPENDITURE

AVERAGE 
PERSONNEL 
COST PER 
EMPLOYEE

R 68,131,739 R 41,746,519 R 308,378 R 998,901 61.27% R 159,948

Average Personnel Cost Per Employee
The cost per employee increased compared to the previous financial year due to an 8% salary increase and the 
appointment of new staff members in vacant senior positions. In terms of the performance management reward 
system, 29 staff members also advanced to a higher salary notch and 23 staff members received a once-off 
performance bonus.

Training Expenditure
Every year Iziko spends 1% of the annual salary budget on learning and development. It must be noted that the 
percentage of the salary budget is calculated in terms of the Skills Development Levies Act No. 9 of 1999 and not on 
the total personnel expenditure. Training expenditure is therefore less than 1% of personnel expenditure.

TABLE 2.  DETAILS OF THE 2008-09 SALARY EXPENDITURE

SALARIES OVERTIME HOUSING SUBSIDY

Amount Salaries as a % 
of personnel cost

Amount Overtime as a % 
of personnel cost

Amount Housing 
Subsidy as a % 
of personnel 
cost

R 27,487,541 65.84% R 969,805 2.32% R 545,692 1.31%

MEDICAL AID CONTRIBUTIONS 
(STAFF)

MEDICAL AID CONTRIBUTIONS 
(PENSIONERS)

PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS

Amount Medical Aid 
Contributions 
(Staff) as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount Medical Aid 
Contributions 
(Pensioners) as 
a % of personnel 
cost

Amount Pension 
Contributions 
as a % of 
personnel cost

R 2,156,118 5.16% R 1,013,391 2.43% R 5,043,203 12.08%

FIXED ALLOWANCES OTHER ALLOWANCES LECTURE FEES

Amount Fixed Allowances 
as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount Other Allowances 
as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount Lecture Fees 
as a % of 
personnel cost

R 723,754 1.73% R 214,107 0.51% R 25,920 0.06%
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ANNUAL BONUSES ONCE-OFF PERFORMANCE 
BONUSES

SUBSISTENCE AND TRAVEL

Amount Annual Bonuses 
as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount Once-off 
Performance 
Bonuses as a % 
of personnel cost

Amount Subsistence 
and Travel 
as a % of 
personnel 
cost

R 2,330,233 5.58% R 532,164 1.27% R 145,560 0.35%

STATUTORY LEVIES (UIF & WCA) LEAVE GRATUITIES ON 
TERMINATION*

TOTAL PERSONNEL 
EXPENDITURE

Amount Statutory 
Levies as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount Leave Gratuities 
as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount Percentage

R 314,125 0.75% R 244,907 0.59% R 41,946,519 100%

Salaries
Salary expenditure increased from R24,101,734 to R27,487,541 mainly due to salary improvements and the 
appointment of new staff members, including the appointment of two Directors. Council approved a salary increase 
of 8% for staff.

Overtime
The overtime expenditure increased from R837,969 to R969,805 since the last reporting period, mainly due to  
the increase in salaries.

A very small percentage of overtime is paid for overtime worked as a measure to meet unforeseen deadlines.

Most Iziko museums are open to the public over weekends and on public holidays, thus Customer Services 
Management (CSM) staff members are required to work on Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, which accounts  
for most of the overtime expenditure.

Iziko also generates a substantial income from venue hire, so CSM staff members are required to perform security 
duties after working hours. This cost is also reflected in the overtime expenditure.

Housing Subsidies
The amount spent on housing subsidies decreased from R617,533 to R545,692. This was due to staff members 
having paid off their bonds. Also, staff members who joined Iziko before June 2005 receive a housing subsidy  
of R1,000 while staff members who joined after June 2005 receive a housing subsidy of R500. The decrease in 
housing subsidies is therefore also due to the termination of service of staff members who had joined before June 
2005 and who had received a higher housing subsidy than the new staff members who applied for housing subsidies 
in the reporting period.

Medical Aid Contributions (Staff)
Medical aid contributions increased from R1,835,490 to R2,156,118 largely due to the increase in medical aid fees 
and additional staff members availing themselves of this benefit.

Medical Aid Contributions (Pensioners)
Medical aid contributions increased from R875,718 to R1,013,391 due to the increase in medical aid fees, but also due 
to two staff members who were members of a medical aid retiring in the reporting period, thereby increasing the 
number of pensioners who are members of a medical aid.

New staff members no longer have the benefit of post-retirement medical aid.



Pension Contributions
Pension contributions increased from R4,517,603 to R5,043,203. Pension contributions are based on pensionable 
salary, so when salaries increase, the pension contributions also increase. In addition, some indefinite appointments 
were made during this reporting period to positions that had previously been filled temporarily by staff members on 
fixed-term contracts without benefits. 

Fixed Allowances
The amount spent on fixed allowances increased from R651,529 to R723,754 mainly due to two Director positions 
being filled during the reporting period. Directors receive car and cellular phone allowances.

Other Allowances for Additional Work
Once-off allowances were paid to staff members who took on additional duties when positions were vacant 
for a few months. This expenditure decreased from R344,784 to R214,107 as two vacant Director posts were 
filled in the reporting period. The allowances of managers who had deputised while the positions had been 
vacant in the previous reporting period thus ceased during the current reporting period.

Lecture Fees
Lecture fees decreased from R29,660 to R25,920 as fewer Planetarium shows were offered during the 
reporting period.

Annual Bonus
Annual bonuses are linked to the salaries of staff members who are appointed indefinitely, as well as staff members 
on long-term contracts, so the bonus expenditure increased when salaries increased. This expenditure increased 
from R2,036,539 to R2,330,233.

Once-off Performance Bonuses
Staff members received a once-off performance bonus if they were paid at the top salary notch of the 
grade of their position, and those on the first and second notches progressed to the next higher salary notch.

In the reporting period, a once-off performance bonus equal to one month’s salary was awarded. The number  
of staff members who received a once-off performance bonus increased from 15 to 23 as more staff had 
reached the top salary notch in their grade in the reporting year. This, combined with the annual salary 
increase that is linked to the once-off performance bonuses, accounted for the increase from R314,580  
to R532,164 in this reporting period.

Subsistence and Travel
This amount increased from R109,969 to R145,560 due to more staff members travelling to international 
conferences.

Statutory Levies
UIF and WCA levies are directly related to salaries as these levies are calculated as a percentage of salary.  
This accounts for the increase from R270,062 to R314,125 during this reporting period. In terms of legislation,  
an amount of R66,334.37 was paid to the Department of Labour for the previous year’s WCA assessment.

Leave Gratuities
The value of leave is based on the salary of the staff member. Leave gratuities paid to staff whose services 
terminated decreased from *R253,009 in 2008/2009 to R244,907 in the current period.

* Actual leave payments in 2008/2009 amounted to R253,009, but the figure was adjusted to R27,212 in the 2008/2009 Annual 

Report, as per the financial statements which took into account changes in the leave liability. In the current financial 

statements, the figure for the change in leave liability is R151,975.
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3.2 Employment and Vacancies
Appointments and Vacancies
Twenty-seven staff members were appointed indefinitely and on a long-term fixed-term contract, with benefits,  
in the reporting period. This included appointments to the positions of Director Art Collections and Director 
Education and Public Programmes.

In August 2009, an advertisement was placed for 13 positions, and appointments were made to all positions except 
for the position of Human Resources Manager.

In October 2009, an advertisement for a Chief Executive Officer was placed in the media to take over from the CEO 
who will be retiring on 31 October 2010. The most suitable applicant was selected and will take up the position of 
CEO (Designate) early in the next reporting period.

Some positions were advertised internally only in order to create promotion opportunities for staff. The positions 
advertised were for an Employment Coordinator (Human Resources), Display Technician (Natural History 
Collections), Administrative Assistant (Human Resources), Conservation Assistant (Social History Collections), 
Conservation Cleaner (Natural History Collections) and Museum Attendants (Customer Services Management).

Terminations
In the current reporting period, a total of 61 staff members left the institution. The reasons for their leaving are 
provided in Table 3.

TABLE 3.  REASONS WHY STAFF MEMBERS ARE LEAVING THE INSTITUTION

TERMINATION TYPE INDEFINITE 
STAFF

CONTRACT 
STAFF

TOTAL 
TERMINATIONS

% OF TOTAL

Death 1 0 1 0.38%

Resignations 16 4 20 7.66%

Expiry of contract 0 29 29 11.11%

Dismissal – operational changes 0 0 0 0.00%

Dismissal – misconduct 4 2 6 2.30%

Dismissal – inefficiency 0 0 0 0.00%

Discharges due to ill-health 0 0 0 0.00%

Retirement 4 0 4 1.53%

Other (Abscondment) 0 1 1 0.38%

Total 25 36 61  

Total number of employees 
who left as a % of the total 
employment at 31 March 2010

   23.37%

3.3 Job Evaluation
The grades of two positions were reviewed. The Peromnes Grade of the Remuneration & Benefits Coordinator 
position changed from Grade 9 to Grade 8, and the grade of General Cleaners (3 posts) from Grade 18 to Grade 17.

       



3.4 Employment Changes

TABLE 4.  ANNUAL TURNOVER RATE BY SALARY LEVELS FOR THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2009 TO 31 MARCH 2010

OCCUPATIONAL 

LEVELS

NUMBER OF 

EMPLOYEES 

ON 31 

MARCH 

2009

NUMBER OF 

EMPLOYEES 

ON 1 APRIL 

2009

APPOINTMENTS 

AND 

TRANSFERS 

INTO THE 

INSTITUTION

TERMINATIONS 

AND TRANSFERS 

OUT OF THE 

INSTITUTION

TURNOVER 

RATE

TRANSFERS 

INTO LEVEL

TRANSFERS 

FROM 

LEVEL

NUMBER OF 

EMPLOYEES 

ON 31 

MARCH  

2010

NUMBER OF 

EMPLOYEES 

ON 1 APRIL 

2010

Senior 
management

4 4 0 2 100.00% 0 0 3 2

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists and 
mid-management

5 5 2 0 0.00% 0 0 7 7

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, 
foremen and 
superintendents

107 107 18 16 14.41% 2 0 116 111

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision-making

74 74 6 7 9.86% 0 2 71 71

Unskilled and 
defined decision- 
making

3 3 1 0 0.00% 0 0 4 4

Total indefinite 
employees

193 193 27 25 12.82% 2 2 201 195

Contract 
employees

52 42 49 36 65.45% 0 0 60 55

Total 245 235 76 61 24.40% 2 2 261 250

Note: Six indefinite staff members and five contract staff members’ services were terminated on 31 March 2010 and were therefore 
still accounted for in the 261 staff members reported as at 31 March 2010.

Promotions
There were ten promotions in the reporting period:

• Senior Manager Customer Services to Director Customer Services
• Collections Manager to Curator
• Educator to Senior Educator
• Secretary to Executive Directors to Personal Assistant to Executive Directors
• Payroll Administrator to Assistant Coordinator Remuneration & Benefits
• Administrative Assistant to Employment Coordinator
• Assistant Display Technician to Display Technician
• Assistant Printer to Driver/Clerk
• Museum Attendant to Collections Assistant
• Museum Attendant to Conservation Assistant
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3.5 Employment Equity

TABLE 5. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS IN EACH OF THE FOLLOWING OCCUPATIONAL LEVELS  
ON 31 MARCH 2010

POST LEVEL MALE FEMALE FOREIGN NATIONALS TOTAL

A C I W A C I W MALE FEMALE

Top management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior management 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 3

Professionally qualified 
and experienced 
specialists and mid-
management

0 1 1 1 0 1 0 3 0 0 7

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified workers, 
junior management, 
supervisors, foremen and 
superintendents

5 24 1 16 11 29 0 27 1 2 116

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary decision- 
making

13 20 0 2 15 17 0 1 3 0 71

Unskilled and defined 
decision-making

1 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 4

Total indefinite staff 19 48 2 19 26 48 0 33 4 2 201

Contract staff 11 7 0 0 11 24 0 4 0 3 60

Total staff 30 55 2 19 37 72 0 37 4 5 261

All indefinite and long-term fixed-term appointments that were made in the reporting period were applicants from 
designated groups.

Iziko employs the strategy that, if a white applicant is found to be the most suitable applicant for a position that is 
in an occupational level that has too many white males or females and there is no black applicant who is close to 
suitable, then the most suitable applicant may be appointed on a fixed-term contract (with benefits), of no more 
than three years, on condition that the appointee transfers skills to a black employee(s).

The table below reflects the progress made towards ensuring representivity in the Iziko Workforce Profiles since the 
2003/2004 reporting period.

TABLE 6. COMPARISON OF THE WORKFORCE PROFILES OF 2003–04 AND 2009–10

PERIOD MALE FEMALE TOTAL

A C I W A C I W

2003–04 17 65 0 33 18 46 0 48 227

 7% 29% 0% 15% 8% 20% 0% 21%  

2009–10 30 55 2 19 37 72 0 37 252

 12% 22% 1% 8% 15% 29% 0% 15%  

Difference 13 -10 2 -14 19 26 0 -11 25

Note: The 2009/2010 Workforce Profiles excludes nine foreign nationals.



There have been 120 terminations of service of indefinite staff members since 2003/2004, which resulted in 
opportunities to address the workforce profile. It is clear from the 2003/2004 statistics that Iziko needed to 
increase the number of African males and females, Indian males and females, as well as Coloured females, not 
males, in its workforce. Iziko did achieve these goals. Although it is not reflected as at 31 March 2010, an Indian 
female had been appointed in the previous reporting period, but resigned before 31 March 2010. An Indian 
female will be employed early in the next reporting period.

The numbers of Coloured males as well as White males and females needed to be reduced in order to reflect 
the Western Cape demographics and as can be seen in the above table, this was achieved.  

3.6 Foreign Workers
The number of foreign workers has increased from six in the past reporting period to nine in the current period. 
The additional three foreign workers are all females on contract. Two are African nationals.

3.7 Leave Utilisation for the Period 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010
3.7.1 Annual Leave
Only the annual leave liability is reflected in the provisions.

3.7.2 Sick Leave

TABLE 7. SUMMARY OF SICK LEAVE 1 APRIL 2009 TO 31 MARCH 2010

STATUS NUMBER 
OF STAFF 
MEMBERS

TOTAL DAYS 
TAKEN PER 
YEAR

AVERAGE DAYS 
DUE PER PERSON 
PER YEAR

AVERAGE DAYS 
TAKEN PER 
PERSON PER YEAR

COST OF SICK 
LEAVE TAKEN 
THIS YEAR

Indefinite 220 2093 10.57 9.51  R 808,366 

Contract 71 136 4.7 1.92  R 34,812 

Total 291 2229 9.14 7.66  R 843,178 

Note: Twenty staff members employed on short-term contracts did not qualify for sick leave due to the length of time that they 

were appointed in the reporting period.

The number of staff members includes staff members whose services were terminated during the reporting 
period. The average number of sick leave days taken in the previous reporting period was 6.18, but the number 
has increased to 7.66 in this reporting period. The increase in the average days is the result of three staff 
members having been diagnosed with serious illnesses resulting in them being on sick leave for several months; 
and others undergoing major surgery resulting in several weeks of sick leave.

3.7.3 Special Leave
During the reporting period, leave was granted for maternity, family responsibility, compassionate, religious 
and study purposes.

3.8 HIV/Aids and Health Promotion Programmes
All staff members were invited to be tested for HIV/Aids, including pre- and post-testing counselling. All staff 
members who had not attended an HIV/Aids workshop in previous years were invited. The activities were followed 
by a picnic lunch in the Company’s Garden.

Training sessions on diabetes were also offered.
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3.9 Labour Relations

TABLE 8.  DISCIPLINARY ACTION TAKEN FROM 1 APRIL 2009 TO 31 MARCH 2010

MALE FEMALE OUTCOME

A C I W A C I W

1 1 0 0 3 1 0 0 Dismissal

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Final written warning

0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 Written warning

3.10 Skills Development
Learning and Development

TABLE 9. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS IN EACH OCCUPATIONAL LEVEL WHO RECEIVED TRAINING 
DURING THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2009 TO 31 MARCH 2010

POST LEVEL MALE FEMALE TOTAL

A C I W A C I W

Top management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior management 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 3

Professionally qualified 
and experienced 
specialists and mid-
management

0 1 1 1 0 1 0 1 5

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified workers, 
junior management, 
supervisors, foremen and 
superintendents

3 14 1 4 8 23 0 13 66

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary decision- 
making

14 12 0 1 13 18 0 1 59

Unskilled and defined 
decision-making

1 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 4

Total indefinite staff 18 30 2 6 22 43 0 16 137

Contract staff 7 5 0 0 7 11 0 2 32

Total staff 25 35 2 6 29 54 0 18 169

Training Opportunities 
Table 9 reflects the number of staff members who received training in the reporting period. In some instances staff 
members attended more than one training course, these training opportunities being reflected in Table 10.

The emphasis in the reporting period was on training that would reduce the risk to Iziko, such as security training 
and first aid training. Customer Care workshops that focused on the 2010 FIFA Soccer World Cup were presented to 
Customer Services staff members.

Several in-house training workshops were offered, e.g. on Iziko’s performance appraisal system, as well as life-
skills related topics such as “How to Manage a Household Budget”, as this was considered important in light of the 
prevailing economic climate.

Several staff members from designated groups were also supported financially in terms of tertiary education.



TABLE 10. TOTAL NUMBER OF TRAINING OPPORTUNITIES PROVIDED OVER THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2009 TO 31 
MARCH 2010

MALE FEMALE TOTAL

A C I W A C I W

73 104 2 25 138 155 0 43 540

3.11 Injury on Duty
In the reporting period, eight incidents were reported, but none of these involved serious injuries.

3.12 Utilisation of Consultants
An amount of R998,901.42 was spent on the services of consultants.

A Climate and Culture Survey was conducted that resulted in Theme Teams submitting reports on the 
outcomes of the survey. Consultants were appointed to assist the Theme Teams in developing presentations  
and reports for the Executive Management Committee. 

The Department of Institutional Advancement appointed several consultants to assist with projects such as  
the development of the Iziko brand, design of promotional material, an audit of signage and way-finding, and  
designing signage, and updating the Iziko website.

The Collections Departments appointed designers to design exhibitions and also to undertake the conservation  
of artworks.

A consultant was also appointed to manage capital works for Iziko.

The Operations Business Unit also appointed consultants when required to assist with payroll and to assist 
with the finalisation of the year-end financial statements and Asset Register.

Iziko Museums of Cape Town staff at work and in the community. 



PAGE 79

Iziko Museums of Cape Town staff, hands on, behind-the-scenes.



4. APPENDICES

Actors demonstrate ‘clothing’ made at a Dada South? workshop at the exhibition opening at the Iziko South African National Gallery.
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4.1 Facilities Management
• Iziko Social History Centre: Completion of Works took place on 9 April 2010. 
•  Integrated Security (CCTV) Project: The SA Museum, SA National Gallery and Slave Lodge have functional 

CCTV systems. The William Fehr Collection system will be functional in early 2010, and work on the Michaelis 
Collection has commenced.

•  Alarm systems: A new linked NX8 alarm system was installed at the Old Town House in April 2009. An audit 
of the status of alarm systems at other Iziko sites was conducted in June 2009. At the SA National Gallery the 
nocturnal canine patrol service was improved in May 2009 and Fidelity Security Service was extended to the SA 
National Gallery Annexe parking area and to the SA Museum roller-shutter gate to improve security and control 
access. Fidelity Security Service was appointed to provide security services at the newly refurbished Social History 
Centre.

•  Access for the disabled: All lifts and hoists were completed, and after final adjustments and the issuing of 
compliance certificates they will be commissioned.

•  Iziko SA Museum renovation: After outstanding matters had been addressed, Practical Completion documents 
were signed.

•  Iziko SA Museum, courtyard project: The tender date for this multi-million-Rand project, which will transform 
the SA Museum, has been set for late in the first quarter of 2010.

4.2 Partnerships and Sponsorships 
4.2.1 Office of the CEO

•  The CEO served as President of ICOM-South Africa and forged closer professional relationships with the South 
 African Museums Association (SAMA), the South African Resources Heritage Agency (SAHRA) and the National 
 Heritage Council (NHC) of South Africa. He was elected to serve as chairperson for the meeting of the National 
 Committees of ICOM in Paris in June 2009.

• University of Cape Town (UCT)-Iziko Cooperative Agreement was given new substance by the CEO of Iziko and 
 the Deputy Vice Chancellor of UCT, Prof D Visser.
• Memorandum of Understanding with Volkenkunde Museum, Leiden.
• Memorandum of Agreement with the Swedish African Museums Programmes Network. 
• The CEO served on:
- Castle of Good Hope Control Board
- Groot Constantia Trust, Board of Directors
- Genadendal Mission Museum, Board of Trustees
- West Coast Fossil Park, Board of Trustees
- Hans Manneby Museums Development Trust, based in Stockholm
- Editorial Board of the Seoul-based International Journal of Intangible Heritage 
-  University of the Western Cape (UWC)/Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) Afrikaans Taal Project team (CEO 

was Chairperson of the ministerial Steering Committee). 

The newly refurbished Iziko Social History Centre. Castle of Good Hope, Cape Town.



PAGE 83

4.2.2 Art Collections
•  Goethe-Institut partnered with SA National Gallery to host the exhibition, The Tropics: views from the middle 

of the globe from 1 April–14 June 2009. Goethe-Institut supported bringing the exhibition US curated by Simon 
Njami and Bettina Malcolmess to the SA National Gallery for the 1910–2010 exhibition.

•  Nobel Peace Center, Norway, partnered with ISANG to host Strengths & Convictions: The Life and Times of the 
South African Nobel Peace Prize Laureates curated by Gavin Jantjes. It was opened by Queen Sonja of Norway 
on 25 November 2009 in the presence of Archbishop Desmond Tutu, FW de Klerk, and representatives from 
both the Mandela and Luthuli families. The exhibition was funded by the Nobel Peace Center in Norway and the 
catalogue by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, The Freedom of Expression Institute, Oslo and Norad.

•  Partnership with curator Roger van Wyk regarding the Dada South? exhibition, which brought together works 
from France, the Netherlands, Germany, Austria and Switzerland with local works relating to the theme. The 
exhibition was presented with the support of Goethe-Institut Südafrika; BHP Billiton; Cultures France; Educentric; 
the Embassy of France in South Africa; Pro Helvetia; the Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences, University of 
Stellenbosch; Institut für Auslandsbeziehungen, Stuttgart; the French Institute of South Africa; Jack Wellstead & 
Co; and Mondrian.

•  Partnership with Standard Bank for the Alexis Preller retrospective to travel to the SA National Gallery and to 
show the Standard Bank Young artist of the Year (Nicholas Hlobo), at ISANG from May 2010.    

4.2.3 Social History Collections
• Partnership with UCT regarding the conservation and exhibition of the Stow rock art reproductions.
•  Agreement between Iziko, UCT and Duke University to digitise the Anne Fischer photographic collection in Social 

History Collections.
• Partnership with the George Washington University on the Slave Wrecks project.
•  The Marsh family continued to support the digitising of the photographic collection donated by John H Marsh 

and the related website. 
• Partnership with the Apartheid Museum regarding the Biko and the Mandela exhibitions at the Slave Lodge.
•  An agreement with the Nelson Mandela Foundation to work collaboratively on the launch of the Mandela 

exhibition.
•  An agreement with the Durban Art Gallery regarding the exhibition Not Alone: An International Project of Make 

Art/Stop Aids curated by Carol Brown and David Gere.

Strengths & Convictions: The Life and Times of the South African Nobel Peace 
Prize Laureates was opened by Queen Sonja of Norway on 25 November 2009.

Christopher Till, Cyril Ramaphosa and Bantu Holamisa 
view the Mandela exhibition at the Iziko Slave Lodge.



4.2.4 Natural History Collections
•  The Museum Koenig in Bonn and the BIOTA research programme collaborated with Iziko regarding the Africa’s 

Wealth exhibition at the SA Museum. The project was funded by the German Federal Ministry of Research and 
Education.

•  A collaboration with Fritha Langerman of the Michaelis School of Art at UCT resulted in the exhibition Subtle 
Thresholds: The Representational Taxonomies of Disease which opened at the SA Museum in July 2009.

• The African Dinosaurs exhibition, which will open in May 2010, was funded by the NLDTF.
•  Funding for Natural History researcher by the National Research Foundation (NRF) for the 2009 calendar 

year totalled R1,278,750.
•  Funding for Natural History research by the National Science Foundation (NSF) for the 2009 calendar 

year totalled R170,000.
• Funding for Natural History research by the Palaeontological Scientific Trust (PAST) totaled R100,000. 
•  Memorandum of Understanding with DST-NRF Centre of Excellence for Invasion Biology, 

Stellenbosch University.

4.3 Digitisation of Collections
4.3.1 Databases of Collections 

Art Collections: 91 new entries were added to the Art database.
Social History Collections: 240 entries were added to the Social History database, totaling 33 026 entries.
Natural History Collections: 36 437 entries were added to the Natural History database, totaling  
449 545 entries, comprising: 
•  Invertebrate Palaeontology and Geology: 33 028 (2 320 new entries this year); 
•  Karoo Palaeontology: 10 224 (120 new entries); 
•  Cenozoic Palaeontology: 65 360 (19 335 new entries); 
•  Terrestrial Vertebrates: 42 776 (7 new entries); 
•  Marine Biology: 72 924 (2 202 new entries); 
•  Entomology: 22 5233 (12 453 new entries). 

4.3.2 Images Scanned
Art Collections: 190 images were scanned.
Social History Collections: 5 939 images were added.
Natural History Collections: 1 710 images were scanned.

 
 
 

Dinosaur sculptures used in the African Dinosaurs exhibition. Large porcelain bowl decorated with cobalt oxide 
and wax-resist by John Newdigate.
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4.4 Loans 
4.4.1 Art Collections

Loans Out
• Standard Bank Gallery, Thami Mnyele, As the old ones sing, the young ones pipe, 19/01/09–03/04/09.
• Standard Bank Gallery, Margaret Vorster, In a Big Country, 10/06/09–30/09/09.
• Walter Oltmann, Stacked Baskets, 10/06/09–30/09/09.
•  Etablissement Public du Parc et de la Grande Halle de la Villette (EPPGHV), Jane Alexander, Integration 

Programme, 31/03/09–06/07/09. Returned July 2009. 
•  Constitutional Court, all paintings by Gerard Sekoto, 1) The Professor, 2) The Red Turban, 3) Senegal women, 4) 

Buildings across the Seine, 5) The nude young African woman, 6) The Smoker, 7) The Song of the Pick, 14/04/09–
30/04/2010.

• Vergelegen Manor House Old Masters, 58 works. 
• Tuynhuys, 9 works.
• Supreme Court, Cape Town, 11 works.
• Constitutional Court, Johannesburg, Diana Hulton.
• Oliewenhuis, Johann Louw, returning mid-October.
• End Conscription Campaign, 25 works loaned to Spier, 6 works returned.
• Standard Bank, 3 Preller works, returned.
• Reach Gallery Museum, Abbotsford, Canada, Ndebele Beadwork, 44 artworks.
• Stellenbosch University Museum, 2 artworks.

Loans In
•  dis-ease: a new generation of video art from the Rijks Akademie Archives, compiled by Greg Streak. Greg Streak, 

Bank Gallery, Durban.
• Sanlam Art Gallery, 12 artworks; and Mr P Badenhorst, 3 artworks to the From Fire into Form exhibition.
• National Library of South Africa to the Bailey exhibition, 1 artwork.
•  Strengths & Convictions: 44 artworks from Johannesburg Art Gallery; Standard Bank Art Gallery, Johannesburg; 

University of Wits Gallery; BHP Billiton, Johannesburg; Sanlam Art Collection, Bellville; Pretoria Art Museum; 
Durban Art Gallery; Killie Campbell Museum, Durban; Tatham Art Gallery, Pietermaritzburg; the Bruce Campbell-
Smith Collection; Library of Parliament; and various private collections.

•  Dada South? – Lenders to the exhibition included Berlinische Galerie; Landes Museum, Berlin; BHP Billiton; 
Centre Pompidou: Musee National d’Art Modern Collections, Paris; De Stijl Archives: Netherlands Institute 
for Art History, Den Haag, Goethe-Institut Collection, Munich; Institut fur Auslandsbeziehungen, Stuttgart; 
Johannesburg Art Gallery, John Heartfield Archive of the Academy of Arts, Berlin; Kunsthaus Zürich; 
Museum für Gestaltung Zürich, Kunstgewerbesammlung; Sasol Museum, University of Stellenbosch; Wits Art 

James Pollard (1792–1867). The London to Cambridge Coach taking on passengers at the 
White Horse Tavern, Fetter Lane. Oil on canvas. From the Sir Abe Bailey Collection.

A visitor at the Dada South? exhibition opening, viewing Kendell Geers 
Title Withheld (Vitrine), (1993), performance, vitrine, brick, debris. 



 Gallery, and other private collections and galleries.
• 1910-2010: From Pierneef to Gugulective: loans from 26 institutions and galleries; and 28 individuals.

4.4.2 Social History Collections
Loans out

•   To the Smithsonian Institution: Blombos artefacts: Engraved ochre, 3 bone awls, 2 bone points,  
2 bifacial points.

• To Stellenbosch University: Renewal of loan of antiquities.
• Precolonial Archaeology: Loans of Elandsbaai lithics assemblage; Blombos lithics assemblage. 

Loans in
• Ghoema (drum) loaned by David Kramer, made for the David Kramer musical, Ghoema. 

4.4.3 Natural History Collections
A total of 53 loans were dispatched in the 2009/2010 financial year.

4.5 Acquisitions 
4.5.1 Art Collections

Purchases
• Andrew Putter, Hottentots Holland: Flora Capensis 5, (2008).
• Cosmetic container (BaSarwa people, Maun, Botswana).
• Sangoma’s staff (Eastern Cape, Former Transkei region).
• Figurative spoon (Kamba people, Kenya), collected by Alexandra Stewart, (c. 1918).
• Ledelle Moe, Congregation, (2009), cement and steel, dimensions variable, Bank Gallery (Durban). 
• Athi-Patra Ruga, After he left, (2008), video performance on loop, 27:52 min, edition 5 + 2AP.
•  Athi-Patra Ruga, Even I Exist in Embo: Jaundiced Tales of Counterpenetration #6 and #8, (2007), archival  

ink-jet prints, 47 cm x 68 cm.
•  Kudzanai Chiurai, Untitled (I&II), (2009), ultrachrome ink on photo fibre paper, edition 1/10, 100 cm x 133 cm. 
•  Lionel Davis, Portrait of an artist (Tony Nkotsi). Done while Davis was at Rorke’s Drift, 1980-81. From the artist.
• Vuyile Voyiya, Rhythm in time (I) and (II), (1988), linocut. From the artist.
•  Araminta de Clermont, Crystal, Manenberg, (2008), and Taswell, Ocean View, (2009), lambda prints, 75 cm x 50 

cm, editions of 8.
•  Hasan and Husein Essop, Pit Bull Fight, (2007), light jet C-print, edition 5 + 2AP, 60 cm x 84 cm (1-2) and  

84 cm x 118 cm (3-5).

Gavin Younge, Bonnie and Clyde (Remix), (1975/6 to 
2009), seriograph on Fabriano Rosapina paper.

Araminta de Clermont, Crystal, Manenberg, (2008).
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• African Art Centre Ndikhumbule Ngqinambi, Wrong Window, (2009), oil on canvas. 
• Joseph Manana, Chicken Man, (2008), acrylic on paper, 49.5 cm x 32 cm.
• Welcome Danca, Street Corner, (2009), acrylic on canvas, 71 cm x 55.8 cm.
• Steven Cohen, Chandelier, (2001-2002), video.
• Peet Pienaar, Untitled, 32 cm diameter, mixed media. From the artist.

Donations
From the artist: 
•  Mandy Lee Jandrell, Bridge of Time, Palace of the Lost City, Sun City, South Africa, (2003), C-print photograph, 

80 cm x 100 cm.

From the Friends of the Iziko South African National Gallery:
• Zapiro, six works from the Lady Justice series, (2009). R60,000.
•  Unknown maker, Staff surmounted with figure of a colonial man (c. early 19th century), South East Africa 

(possibly Eastern Cape), wood, pigment, bakelite, metal. R9,775.
• Wolf Kibel, Church in Orange Street (c. 1935), charcoal. Presented by Dr M Silbert through the Friends.
•  Claire Gavronsky, Stained by Dampness (2008), mixed media on paper, 150 cm x 80 cm. Presentation by Josie 

Grindrod through the Friends.
•  Penny Siopis, Beast (2009), ink and glue on canvas, 69.5 cm x 60 cm. From Michael Stevenson. R68,400. 

Purchased by Friends (in honour of Marilyn Martin).
•  Gavin Younge, Bonnie and Clyde (Remix) (1975/6–2009), Seriograph on Fabriano Rosapina paper, edition of  

15, 70.5 cm x 100 cm. R17,100.
•  George Hallet, Jann Turner, daughter of slain activist Rick Turner, with Eugene de Kock, the commander of 

Vlakplaas, the infamous farm where victims were tortured and killed. TRC Headquarters, Cape Town, (1997), 
silver print, edition 5.47 cm x 32 cm (image size) / 40 cm x 50 cm (paper size). From the Artist. R12,500. 

Other donations:
•  Michael Goldberg, Monument to the Nationalist Government, mixed media. (Original work was destroyed  

or lost. The artist recreated the work for Strengths & Convictions exhibition. The work is donated by the  
artist, transport costs from Australia provided by Friends).

•  KH Muller, Untitled, 19th century German, gouache. Presented by the former Lady Michaelis Orthopaedic 
Hospital.

•  Churchill Madikida, Status, (2005), dimensions variable, mixed media installation. Presented by  
Michael Stevenson.

 

Welcome Danca, Street Corner, (2009), acrylic on canvas. Sangoma’s staff, (Eastern Cape, Former 
Transkei region).



•  Marianne Halter and Mario Marchisella, The conductor's fear of the soloist – ten small pieces for violin 
(2008), 3-channel video installation, edition of 3 + 1AP. Donated by Pro Helvetia. R19,900.

•  Unknown artist from the Eastern Cape. Tobacco pipe in the form of a figure riding a motorcycle, 20th century, 
wood, horn, bone, tin (lining of pipe bowl), 19 cm x 32 cm. Donated by the Mirvish Family.

4.5.2 Social History Collections
Donations and bequests

•  Part of a tableware service comprising some 20 pieces of blue and white so-called Nanking Chinese export 
porcelain, late 18th or early 19th century. Bequest from the Duminy family – according to the family it belonged to 
Francois Renier Duminy, VOC official and slave trader (1747-1811). Mediator: Gail MacWhannell, Tulbach.

•  Four brown bowls and one saucer with transfer-printed decoration commemorating the centenary of the 1838 
‘Groot Trek’, made in 1938 when the Great Trek was re-enacted; and one cream bowl with relief decoration made 
in 1949 to commemorate the inauguration of the Voortrekker Monument. An unrelated but interesting donation 
is a travelling razor from the 1920s. Donated by SCM Botha, Somerset West.

•  Soccer helmet or makaraba, made for the 2006 Homeless World Cup event in Cape Town. Presented by  
Mr Andrew Arnolds, Strand.

•  Pegs for Camel Pack (4), elaborately-carved wooden pegs or pins used to construct and support packs on 
camels. North Africa (Sahara), 20th century. From Colin Sayers, Cape Town.

•  A contemporary replica of a Wedgwood bowl on the theme of the emancipation of slaves. Donated by Councillor 
Christine Randall, Hull City Council, UK.

• A ceramic plate by Kendal Warren. Donated by Patricia Davison, Cape Town.
• Zaalberg Potterij ceramic plant holder. Donated by Esther Esmyol, Cape Town.
• The Old Jar pottery, ceramic beer mug. Donated by Esther Esmyol, Cape Town. 
 
Purchases
•  Two Kuba raffia cloths, both richly decorated, one 9 m long, the other 8.10 m long. From Mr A Du-Wale. 
•  A pen and ink drawing, Four women in front of a gabled homestead Groot Constantia, by Alexander Klopcanovs. 
• A lithograph designed for the Pageant of South Africa, 1910, Cape Town.
• Ceramic vessel in the shape of a chicken, probably South Sotho, 20th century.
• Beaded gourd, South Sotho, from Lesotho probably dating to mid-20th century.
•  Two embroidered cloths (‘Mapula embroideries’), one made by Johanna Chauke, the other by Sarah Mnisi, 

Winterveld area, North West Province, South Africa.
• Hand-woven textiles: Ewe, Ghana and Yoruba, Nigeria.
• Pair of Fulani earrings, a Nupe necklace, a few strings of trade beads.
• An Ethiopian wooden tray.

2010 Bid Celebrations, embroidered cloth made by Johanna Chauke of the 
Mapula Embroidery Project, Winterveld area, North West Province, South Africa.

Three small baskets with a 2010 theme 
by Ilala Weavers in KwaZulu-Natal.
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•  Contemporary ceramics: Hand-built coiled stoneware bowl by Barbara Bruce; facetted stoneware jug, a copper-
red tea bowl, and stoneware jar by Christo Giles; large porcelain bowl decorated with cobalt oxide and wax-resist 
by John Newdigate. 

• Hima milk vessel, Uganda Hima (Tussi), 20th century.
• Himba skirt, Himba (Herero), northwest Namibia, 20th century.
• Mwila doll, Nhaneca-Hlumbe (Mwila), south-west Angola, 20th century.
•  Ntwane front apron (Nteto Shaw and Bohme), Central Sotho (Ntwane), Mpumulanga, South Africa,  

20th century.
• Lozi toe-puppets (set), (1956), Victoria Falls, Zambia.
• Beaded liturgical mantle, (c. 1921), Kenya. 
• Diviner’s clothing and beadwork, Eastern Cape, Southern Nguni, acquired (c. 1940-1960).
•  Four small baskets with a 2010 theme by Ilala Weavers in KwaZulu-Natal, Nana Mabaso, Eunice Myeni, Zandile 

Gumbi and Ntombi Masinga; a milk pot from East Africa made of calabash and leather.
• Soccer player figure in wire made by Crazy Wire Craft, Cape Town. From artist. 
•  Klopse troupe, The District Six Hanover Minstrels, from the 2010 Carnival: Troupe board/float with World Cup 

theme, styrofoam, and two full uniforms (gear) for an adult and a child. From the Troupe.
•  Carnival drums (ghoemas), (2010); two adult drums and one junior drum. Made by Achmat Sabera.  

From the maker.
• Ten Carnival tambourines made by Achmat Sabera. From the maker.
•  Three embroidered cloths on the theme of xenophobia, made by Zimbabwean women working in Cape Town. 
•  A ceramic plate with a soccer theme by Kendal Warren; large white ceramic bowl, made by Bambanani.
• Beaded doll and a group of 20 little beaded travellers. From the Hillcrest Aids Centre Trust.
• Three makarabas or soccer helmets.
• Klopse Jol, an artwork by Roderick Sauls. From the artist.

Philately and coin subscription
• RSA Commemorative envelopes, Numbers 1086–1092. 

Precolonial archaeology Cultural Research Management (CRM) and arising from Research
• St Helena Bay: 66 boxes – 45: Mary Patrick (CRM); Pancho’s Kitchen Midden: 18 – UCT (Research); Blombos: 3 
  with M3 lithics – C Henshilwood (Research)
• Elands Bay Cave: 65 boxes; UCT: 11 Richard Klein (Research); Elands Bay open site: 8 UCT (Research); Varsche 
  Rivier sites: 26 – T Steele (Research); Great Brak: 20 – Mary Leslie (Research).
• 174 boxes: Klasies River mouth: 145; Boomplaas: 145; Kanga: 11; Paardeberg: 5 – HJ Deacon (Research)
• St Helena Bay: 10 boxes – 1 box Britannia Bay – Mary Patrick (CRM)

Pair of Fulani earrings.Klopse troupe, The District Six Hanover Minstrels, from the 2010 
Carnival: troupe board/float with World Cup theme, styrofoam.



• Tortoise Cave: 1 box; Baboon Point: 1 – A Jerardino (Research)
• St Helena Bay: 1 box; District Six: 7; Paternoster: 8 – Mary Patrick (CRM)

4.5.3 Natural History Collections
Donations

•  Patrick Reavell; Ray Jones; Cape Nature; Kenneth Gainsford; M. Sharkey; W. Mey; Marine and Coastal 
Management; Percy FitzPatrick Institute, (UCT); A. Biccard (UCT); National Museum of Wales; Simone Neethling 
(UWC); Corinna Bazeley; Len McLeod; and David Notton.

4.6 Publications 
4.6. Art Collections
Naidoo R. 2009. ‘View from the Hot Seat’. In: Art South Africa, Volume 8.1. Cape Town: Bell-Roberts Publishing
Proud H. 2009. ‘Cecil Skotnes (1926–2009): An Obituary’. In: South African Art Times (SA Business Art section), 
9 May 2009, p.3.
Proud H. 2009. ‘Obituary: Alexander Podlashuc (1930-2009)’. In: South African Art Times website: 2009-09-07.
Proud H. 2009. ‘Death of colourful artist and educator Alexander Podlashuc’. In: Weekend Argus,  
13 September 2009.
Proud H. 2009. ‘Helmut Starcke: The Contemporary and the Eternal’. In: South African Art Times, December 2009 
issue (special colour supplement).
Proud H. 2009. ‘ “A Basuto Houseboy” at the National Gallery: Moses Tladi and the First Exhibition of National 
Contemporary Art, 1931’. In: Lloyd AR. 2009. The Artist in the Garden: The Quest for Moses Tladi. Noordhoek, Cape 
Town: Print Matters.
Proud H. 2009. ‘ “The Feather Room”: Mid-career works by Christiaan Diedericks, 1994–2009’. In: Diedericks C. The 
Feather Room (a collaborative concept publication), pp. 9–10.

Popular:
Daehnke N. 2009. ‘The Tropics: Views from the Middle of the Globe’ (an educational supplement).
Lewis A, Dolby J. 2009. A brochure for the exhibition Cross-Pollination: South African Art 1930–1950. 

4.6.2 Social History Collections
Stynder D, Brock F, Sealy J, Wurz S, Morris A, Volman T. 2009. ‘A mid-Holocene AMS 14C date for the presumed Late
Pleistocene Peers Cave human skeleton from South Africa’. Journal of Human Evolution 56: 431–434. 
Villa P, Soriano S, Teyssandier N, Wurz S. ‘The Howiesons Poort and MSA III, Cave 1A at Klasies River main site’. 
Journal of Archaeological Science 37: 630–655. 

Curator of Marine Invertebrates, Dr Wayne Florence, capturing data in Port St Johns during 
the shallow water Bryozoan research survey of the Eastern Cape coast, October 2009.

Iziko researchers returning after collecting Bryozoans 
off the coast of Port Elizabeth, October 2009.
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Wurz S. 2009. ‘Interpreting the fossil evidence for the evolutionary origins of music’. Southern African 
Humanities 21: 395–417. 

Popular: 
‘Afrikaans aan die Praat’ – broadsheet of the text of an exhibition on the history, contemporary relevance and status 
of Afrikaans. Published in collaboration with the Genadendal Sendingmuseum, Afrikaanse Taalmuseum  
and the Stigting vir Bemagtiging.
‘Not Alone: An International Project of Make Art/Stop Aids’. A Social History Collections leaflet.
‘Meermin methodology’. http://www.earthexplorer.com/magazine.asp by Jaco Boshof.

4.6.3 Natural History Collections
Abdala NF, Smith RMH. 2009. ‘A Middle Triassic cynodont fauna from Namibia and implications for the

biogeography of Gondwana’. Journal of Vertebrate Palaeontology 29: 1–15. 
Angielczyk K, Sidor C, Nesbitt S, Smith R, Tsuji L. 2009. ‘The post cranial skeleton, taxonomy, biostratigraphy,  
and biogeography of the dicynodont Kingoria nowachi (Therapsida, Anomodontia)’. Journal Vertebrate 

Palaeontology 21: 1–14.
Buffington ML, Van Noort S. 2009. ‘A world revision of Anacharoides Cameron, 1904 (Hymenoptera: Figitidae) 

with a description of a new species’. Zookeys 20: 245–274.
Compton SG, Grehan K, Van Noort S. 2009. ‘A fig crop pollinated by three or more species of agaonid fig wasps’.

African Entomology 17: 215–222.
Compton SG, Van Noort S, Mcleish M, Deeble M, Stone V. 2009. ‘Sneaky African fig wasps that oviposit 

through holes drilled by other species’. African Natural History 5: 9–15.
Hulley PA, Duhamel G. 2009. ‘A review of the lanternfish genus Bolinichthys Paxton, 1972 (Myctophidae)’.

Cymbium 33(4): 259–304.
Kennedy WJ, Klinger HC. 2009. ‘The heteromorph ammonite Ndumuiceras variabile gen et sp. nov. from the Albian 

Mzinene Formation of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa’. African Natural History 5: 43–47. 
Kennedy WJ, Klinger HC, Kakabadze MV. 2009. ‘Macroscaphittes Meek, 1876, a heteromorph ammonite from 

the Lower Aptian of southern Mozambique and northern KwaZulu-Natal’. African Natural History 5: 37–41.
Louchart A, Wesselman H, Blumenschine RJ, Hlusko LJ, Njau JK, Black MT, Asnake M, White TD. 2009. ‘Taphonomic,

avian, and small-vertebrate indicators of Ardipithecus ramidus habitat’. Science 326: 661–664.
Mcleish MJ, Van Noort S, Tolley KA. 2010. ‘Parasitoid fig-wasp evolutionary diversification and variation in

ecological opportunity’. Molecular Ecology 19: 1483–1496.
Nesbitt S, Sidor C, Irmis R, Angielczyk K, Smith R, Tsuji L. 2010. ‘Ecologically distinct dinosaurian sister group 

shows early diversification of Ornithodira’. Nature 464(4): 95–98.
Penev L, Sharkey M, Erwin T, Van Noort S, Buffington M, Seltmann K, Johnson NF, Taylor M, Thompson FC, 

Iziko researchers returning after collecting Bryozoans 
off the coast of Port Elizabeth, October 2009.

The Strengths & Convictions: The Life and Times of the South African  
Nobel Peace Prize Laureates exhibition guide.



Dallwitz MJ. 2009. ‘Data publication and dissemination of interactive keys under the open access model’. 
Forum paper. Zookeys 21: 1–17.

Rossouw L, Stynder D, Haarhoff P. 2009. ‘Evidence for opal phytolith preservation in the Langebaanweg “E” 
Quarry Varswater Formation and its potential for palaeo-habitat reconstruction’. South African Journal of 
Science 105: 223–227.

Sharkey M, Dicky SY, Van Noort S, Seltmann K, Penev L. 2009. ‘Revision of the Oriental genera of Agathidinae 
(Hymenoptera: Braconidae) with an emphasis on Thailand and interactive keys to genera published in three 
different formats’. Zookeys 21: 19–54.

Sharkey M, Van Noort S, Whitfield J. 2009. ‘Revision of Khoikoiinae (Hymenoptera, Braconidae)’. 
Zookeys 20: 299–348.

Shaw SR, Van Noort S. 2009. ‘A new Dinapsis species from the Central African Republic (Hymenoptera: Megalyridae: 
Dinapsini)’. Zootaxa 2118: 30–36.

Smith RMH, Marsicano CA, and Wilson JA. 2009. ‘Sedimentology and paleoecology of a diverse early Jurassic 
tetrapod tracksite in Lesotho, southern Africa’. PALAIOS 24: 672–684.

Stynder D, Brock F, Sealy J, Wurz S, Morris A, Volman T. 2009. ‘A mid-Holocene AMS 14C date for the presumed Late 
Pleistocene Peers Cave human skeleton from South Africa’. Journal of Human Evolution 56:431–434.
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4.7 Exhibitions 
4.7.1 Art Collections
Iziko South African National Gallery

• The Tropics: Views from the Middle of the Globe opened 1 April 2009.
•  dis-ease: a new generation of video art from the Rijks Akademie, an exhibition of digital art of artists from 

the Rijks Akademie in the Netherlands, opened 6 April 2009.
• Jol, an exhibition of prints, photos and paintings, mainly from permanent collection, opened 2 June 2009.  
• Cross Pollination: South African Art from 1930s–1950s opened 9 June 2009. 
• From Fire into Form: the Power of Bronze, curated by Hayden Proud, opened at the end of July 2009.  
• The Art of the Relief Print, curated by Joe Dolby, opened in the second week of July 2009.
• Choices – an exhibition of acquisitions from 2008, opened in the last week of June 2009. 
•  The Everyday and the Extraordinary: Three Decades of Architectural Design by Jo Noero, inaugurated with  

a public opening on 9 September 2009. 
•  Strengths & Convictions: The Life and Times of the South African Nobel Peace Prize Laureates, opened on 25 

November 2009.
• Dada South? opened on 12 December 2009.
• Alexis Preller: Africa and the Sun opened on 21 December.
• ISANG closed to the public from 1 March to 15 April in preparation for 1910–2010: From Pierneef to Gugulective.

4.7.2 Social History Collections
Iziko Slave Lodge
• What We See: Voice, Image and Versioning ran until June 2009.
• Biko: The quest for a true humanity ran until December 2009.
•  Mandela: Leader, Comrade, Negotiatior, Prisoner, Statesman was launched on 10 February as part of the 

celebrations to mark 20 years since Nelson Mandela’s release from imprisonment.

SA Museum
• Unconquerable Spirit: George Stow and the rock art of the San ran until May 2009.

Iziko at the Castle of Good Hope
•  Not Alone: An International Project of Make Art/Stop Aids was installed at the Castle, and the Keiskamma 

Altarpiece at the Slave Lodge in November 2009.  

 
 

Installation view  
from Dada South?

The Red Location Museum of Struggle, New Brighton, Port Elizabeth. From The 
Everyday and the Extraordinary: Three decades of architectural design by Jo Noero.

Installation view from the  
Strengths & Convictions exhibition.



Other
• Streets and Stadium: from iDiski to the World Cup, at the Cape Town International Convention Centre.
•  Afrikaans aan die Praat, a travelling exhibition on the history, contemporary relevance and status of  

Afrikaans, was conceptualised and designed in the form of 14 display panels. It was launched at UWC on  
17 September 2009. 

4.7.3 Natural History Collections
• Africa’s Wealth opened at the SA Museum on 4 June 2009.
• Subtle Thresholds: The Representational Taxonomies of Disease opened at the SA Museum on 25 July 2009.
• Darwin and the Cape opened at the SA Museum on 23 November 2009.
• Wildlife Photographer of the Year 2009 opened at the SA Museum on 9 December 2009. 

4.7.4 Education and Public Programmes
•  The Iziko and Public Education exhibition opened at the SA National Gallery Annexe and ran until end  

December 2009.

4.8 Education and Public Programmes 
Visitor Figures: 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010
Total no. of visitors to Iziko Museums
473 982 [compared to 493 559 in 2008/2009]
Education Programmes  
School groups: 18 267
Iziko Planetarium
Public 38 040; school groups 35 221
Total: 73 261 [compared to 67 844 in 2008/2009]

Public Programmes
Conferences, workshops and lectures by staff 
Art Collections

•  The Director of Art Collections, Riason Naidoo, participated frequently in conferences and workshops including: 
a photography workshop arranged by the Roger Ballen Foundation; a conference to commemorate 100 years of 
Hind Sawaraj, held at the University of the Witwatersrand; a roundtable discussion at the launch of South African 
Art Now by Sue Williamson, two presentations at the Bamako Photo biennale (Rencontres de Bamako 2009) in 
Mali; the conference, entitled ‘Breaking Down Walls’ to mark the 20th anniversary of the fall of the Berlin Wall; 
roundtable discussions related to the Strengths & Convictions exhibition.

Watching the cast-making through the window of the police station at Keetmanshoop in 1931. (Lichtenecker 
Collection, Namibian Scientific Society, Windhoek). From What We See: Voice, Image and Versioning.

Primate display in the Darwin and the Cape 
exhibition at the Iziko South African Museum.
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•  Riason Naidoo also gave the opening address at the Michaelis School of Fine Art Graduate exhibition in 
December 2009.  

•  Pam Warne presented the opening address for Resolution: the Power of Innuendo at the AVA Gallery.
•  Hayden Proud presented lectures at ISANG on Making and Meaning: An introduction to Sculpture in Bronze and 

Revival and Refinement: The Renaissance Bronze in October 2009; he was the guest speaker at the launch of the 
book, The Artist in the Garden: The Quest for Moses Tladi by Angela Lloyd at the Professional Provident Society 
in Johannesburg on 25 November 2009.

•  Carol Kaufmann participated in a seminar entitled The Politics of Collecting Indigenous Artwork and gave a 
presentation on Ndebele beadwork at the University of Fraser Valley in Canada in January 2010.

• Robyn-Leigh Cedras lectured on ‘Careers in Art’ to youth leaders brought together by Cyan Development.

Social History Collections
•  Gerald Klinghardt and Fiona Clayton made presentations at the workshop entitled ‘Casting new light: Rethinking 

the role of human casts in museum exhibitions’ held at the Slave Lodge on 12 May 2009.
• Thijs van der Merwe, Sarah Wurz and Gerald Klinghardt presented a lecture on International Museum Day.
•  Jaco Boshoff presented a paper at the SAVE Tourism conference in Maputo, Mozambique at the invitation of 

USAID, February 2010.

Natural History Collections
•  Hamish Robertson participated in a Global Ant Project meeting at the Field Museum in Chicago, 19–26 November 

2009, and the International Natural History Museum Directors’ Forum on ‘The Future of Natural History 
Museums’, Shanghai, China.

•  Roger Smith participated in the 10th Mesozoic Terrestrial Ecosystems Conference held in Teurel near Madrid, 
Spain, 15–22 September 2009; 1st North African Vertebrate Palaeontology Conference held in Marrakech, 
Morocco, 22 May–5 June; and Society of Vertebrate Palaeontology Annual Conference held in Bristol, England,  
23–27 September 2009.

•  Roger Smith gave five lectures to schools on Continental Drift and Evolution, and presented talks on dinosaurs, 
extinction and the Stone Bones exhibition at the ISAM to teachers, academics and natural history societies.

•  Graham Avery gave a presentation on the preservation of fish traps at Marine and Coastal Services and Still Bay 
Trust Workshop at Still Bay, and a lecture on the excavations at Elandsfontein, Duinefontein 2 and Spreeuwal. 

•  Simon van Noort presented the Iziko entomology digitisation project at a SABIF meeting held at SANBI  
on 1 December 2009.

The Keiskamma Altarpiece at the Iziko Slave Lodge from the  
Not Alone: An International Project of Make Art/Stop Aids exhibition.

Iziko Educator, Faried Basier, takes visitors to one  
of the Bo-Kaap Mosques during a Bo-Kaap walk-about.



EPP
•  Deirdre Rhodes and Sthembele Harmans participated in the Remembrance of Slave Trade (UNESCO) workshop 

at Freedom Park.
•  Theo Ferreira and Temba Matomela participated in the SAASTEC 2009 (Science and Technology Centres) 

conference at Sutherland and Theo Ferreira presented a paper on Davy Dragon’s Guide to the Night Sky.
• Theo Ferreira and Elsabe Uys participated in the CAP2010 Conference in Cape Town.
• Theo Ferreira and Temba Matomela represented Iziko at the Grahamstown Science Festival.

Education Programmes, Workshops and Learner Resources
Art Collections
Workshops

•  Wonderland photographic workshop; Children’s Rights Education Programme and Educator workshop 
(Champions of the Child) documented; Tropics workshop programme; mosaic workshops with community groups; 
art workshop sessions in collaboration with young Iziko Gallery guides and PeaceJam Mentors as part of the 
Youth Conference; Dada South? costume workshops; sessions in art and crafts were conducted for learners with 
special needs; tactile objects were developed for the partially sighted; and an art appreciation day was arranged 
for senior citizens.

Learner resources developed
• A Mali Puppets leaflet for the Paarl Museums’ Expo; Tropics worksheet.

Education programmes accompanied all major Iziko exhibitions
• Relief Print education programme.

Websites produced
• Education website www.strengthsandconvictions.co.za

Social History Collections
Workshops 

•  Youth Day ‘Empowerment through Awareness’ workshop; an educators’ workshop was presented by Jaco 
Boshoff and a SAHRA maritime archaeologist; a creative writing workshop with a focus on Steve Biko; a human 
trafficking workshop by Anexe was presented along with an ‘Aids and Human Trafficking’ lecture; Not Alone 
workshop; creative storytelling workshop; The Mitchell’s Plain Oral History Project was workshopped at Artscape.

Iziko Summer School 2009 workshop. A visitor to the Not Alone: An International Project of 
Make Art/Stop Aids at the Castle of Good Hope.
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Learner resources developed
•  Adapted/ Improved ‘Remembering Slavery’ Worksheet and answer sheets and Khoi Khoi lesson; Afrikaans aan 

die Praat brochures; ‘Empowerment through Awareness’ worksheet.

Education Programmes accompanied all major Iziko exhibitions
•  Human Rights Day programme in partnership with the Safe Schools Project of the WCED; Bo-Kaap Museum 

programmes with special needs groups, specifically for the blind and partially sighted were held in partnership 
with Sandra Eastwood.

Natural History Collections
Workshops 

•  A joint workshop on Biodiversity with the Education Department at the Two Oceans Aquarium; Evolution 
Workshop in collaboration with Natural History Collections staff.

Learner resources developed
•  Museum Week ‘Museum and Tourism’ worksheets, treasure hunt and painting resources; Discovery Room 

reorganised, signage above the exhibits improved and flash cards developed; new Schools Programme  
2010 document.

Lectures by staff
•  Cape Centre of the Astronomical Society of South Africa; SDA Senior youth; UCT Astronomy course lecture.

Education Programmes accompanied all major Iziko exhibitions.
• Heritage Day programme, in collaboration with Newcare Events, Eerste River.

Stakeholder relations 
•  A diverse and supportive Natural History Advisory Committee was established; Teacher Reference Group for 

LSEN learners in conjunction with Art Collections.

Planetarium
Workshops

•  Temba Matomela assisted during the Langa Comprehensive School's astronomy day (part of a SAASTA-DST-
funded initiative led by SAAO), preceded by teacher’s workshop.

Planetarium presentations
•  Sky-Skan installed a demo system in the Iziko Planetarium, which operated successfully between 6–13 April 

2009, making R21,629 in revenue with minimal advertising; Bad Astronomy and Table Mountain were completed; 
script, voice recordings and visuals for Silly Solly were completed. 

 

Creative writing and beading workshop, Iziko Slave Lodge. Social History Collections Assistant Curator, Shanaaz Galant, with a workshop 
participant at the Not Alone creative writing and beadwork workshop.



Lecture
• ‘Indigenous Astronomy and Importance of Science in Daily Lives’.

Public Programmes
•  The theme for the Summer School programme was ‘Museums and Popular Culture’, Achmat Salie (2010 FIFA, 

Western Cape Ambassador) was the main speaker; the Iziko Young Ambassadors in close collaboration with 
British Council Young Climate Change Champions lead a Climate Change Youth Forum. This programme included 
learners with special needs.

Workshops
•  Marine biologist Eleanor Yeld Hutchings explained the importance of protecting and conserving our marine 

environment, with a special focus on kelp. Learners collected kelp and created usable cultural goods such as 
vuvuzelas (utilised at a Summer School Youth and the Environment conference). 

Commemorative events
•  Youth Day 2009: Champions of the Child exhibition (in partnership with the Jewish Museum), a memorial lecture 

in honour of Thamsanqa Mnyele. Ms Baleka Mbete was the keynote speaker and other speakers included Adrian 
Kohler, Basil Jones and Athi Mongezeleli Joja. 

•  Heritage Month: Commemoration of the Khoisan-Dutch confrontation of May 1659: in collaboration with Iziko 
Social History Archaeology Department and Lavender High School learners.

•  National Women’s Day programme.
•  Emancipation Day.
•  World Aids Day was commemorated under the global theme “Universal Access and Human Rights” as well as the 

South African theme “I am responsible, we are responsible, South Africa is Responsible”; a guided tour on the 
HIV and Aids-related exhibition Not Alone; Dr James Lees from the University of the Western Cape conducted a 
talk on HIV & Aids; Natalie Moore from Activists Networking against the Exploitation of Child Domestic Workers 
addressed Human Trafficking. 

•  Human Rights Day was celebrated with senior citizens and youth from different cultural backgrounds.

Mobile Museum/Outreach
•  The Mobile Museum participated in the Museum & Tourism Expo; the SABC Careers Fair; International Museum 

Week at Paarl Mall; National Children’s Day at Vangate Mall in Athlone; Grahamstown Festival.
• On 28 and 29 October the EPP department organised an educational excursion to Kommetjie beach.

 
 

A Sky-Skan digital projection presentation, 
demonstrated at the Iziko Planetarium.

Iziko Senior Educator, Ayesha Price, demonstrates 
vuvuzelas made by workshop participants.
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4.9 Materiality and Significance Framework for the 2009/2010 Financial Year
1. Definitions and Standards

• Audited financial statements: 2008/2009 (AFS)
• Approved annual budget: 2009/2010 (AAB)
• Approved strategic plan: 2009/2010 to 2011/2012 (ASP)
• Event: An activity that has the elements of income and expenditure
• Trading venture: An activity that has the elements of buying and selling of products and/or services
• Total income: Total income excluding the income from events and trading ventures
• Total expenditure: Total expenditure excluding event and trading venture expenditure

2. Applicable Sections of the PFMA
• Section 50(1)
• Section 55(2)
• Section 54(2)
• Section 66(1)

3. Treasury Regulation 
• 28.1.5

Iziko Taxidermist, George Esau, demonstrates the 
art of taxidermy during a taxidermy workshop.

Learners collected kelp and created usable cultural goods such as vuvuzelas 
utilised at the Iziko Summer School ‘Youth and the Environment’ conference.



4.Framework
4.1 SECTION 50: FIDUCIARY DUTIES 
OF ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY

VALUE (QUANTITATIVE) NATURE OF EVENT (QUALITATIVE)

(1) Accounting authority must-

(c) on request, disclose to the 

Executive Authority responsible, all 

material facts which in any way may 

influence the decisions or actions of 

the Executive Authority

(a)  Any unbudgeted transaction of 

which the amount exceeds 1% of the 

total value of assets per AFS

(b)  Any budgeted event where 

income is a legitimate expectation 

where the actual income is less than 

5% of the total expenditure

(c)  Any trading venture where 

income is exceeded by expenditure 

by more than 0.5% of income

(d)  Total actual income is less than 

budgeted income by more than 0.5% 

of budgeted income

(e)  Total actual expenditure is more 

than budgeted income by more than 

5% of budgeted expenditure

(a)  Any unplanned event that affects 

the core purpose or mandate of entity 

per the ASP

(b)  Any activity that is outside the 

parameters of each public entity’s 

enabling legislation

4.2 SECTION 54: INFORMATION 
TO BE SUBMITTED BY THE 
ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY

VALUE (QUANTITATIVE) NATURE OF EVENT (QUALITATIVE)

2) before a public entity concludes 
any of the following transactions, 
the Accounting Authority for the 
entity must promptly and in writing 
inform the relevant treasury of the 
transaction and submit relevant 
particulars of the transaction to its 
Executive Authority for approval of the 
transaction:

(b) participation in a significant 
partnership, trust, unincorporated joint 
venture or similar arrangement

(c) acquisition of disposal of a 
significant shareholding in a company 

(d) acquisition or disposal of a 
significant asset 

(e) commencement or cessation of a 
significant business activity

N/a

N/a

 
 
Any transaction of which the amount 
exceeds 1% of the total value of 
assets per AFS

Any transaction of which the amount 
exceeds 1% of the total value of 
assets per AFS

Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose or 
mandate of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose or 
mandate of the entity 
 
Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose or 
mandate of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose or 
mandate of the entity
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4.3 SECTION 55: ANNUAL 
REPORT AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

VALUE (QUANTITATIVE) NATURE OF EVENT (QUALITATIVE)

(2)  the annual report and financial 
statements must-

(b) include particulars of: 
 
(i) any material losses through criminal 
conduct and, 

any irregular expenditure and fruitless 
and,  
 
 
 
wasteful expenditure that occurred 
during the year 
 
(iii) any losses recovered or written off

 

(a) Any loss of which the amount 
exceeds 1% of the total value of 
assets per AFS 
 
(b) Any loss of a National Estate as 
defined in section 3 of the National 
Heritage Resources Act, 1999 (Act 
No. 25 of 1999) 
 
All 
 
 
All

 
 
 
Any unplanned loss per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose or 
mandate of the entity 

 
 
 

All

All

4.4 SECTION 66: RESTRICTIONS ON 
BORROWING, GUARANTEES AND 
OTHER COMMITMENTS

VALUE (QUANTITATIVE) NATURE OF EVENT (QUALITATIVE)

Iziko Museums may not enter into 
any financial commitment beyond its 
approved budgets and its accumulated 
reserves

N/a N/a

GLOSSARY
AFS Annual Financial Statements
AGSA Auditor-General of South Africa
ASP Approved Strategic Plan
ASSA  Astronomical Society of South Africa
AVEs  Advertising Value Equivalents
CBD  Central Business District
CCMA Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration
CEO  Chief Executive Officer
CFO  Chief Financial Officer
CCTV Closed Circuit Television
CSM  Customer Services Management
DAC Department of Arts and Culture
DPW  Department of Public Works
DST  Department of Science and Technology
ENE Estimate of National Expenditure
Exco  Executive Management Committee
GAAP  Generally Accepted Accounting Practices
GRAP  Generally Recognised Accounting Practices
ICOM  International Council of Museums
ICOM-SA   International Council of Museums-South Africa
IKS Indigenous Knowledge Systems
IMM  Iziko Mobile Museum 
ISAM  Iziko South African Museum / Iziko SA Museum
ISANG  Iziko South African National Gallery /  
 Iziko SA National Gallery
ISHC  Iziko Social History Centre
ISL  Iziko Slave Lodge
IT  Information Technology
MSA Middle Stone Age

MTEF  Medium Term Expenditure Framework
NHC  National Heritage Council
NLDTF  National Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund
Norad  Norwegian Agency for Development and Cooperation
NRF  National Research Foundation
NSF  National Science Foundation
OBIS  Ocean Biographic Information Systems
OHS  Act Occupational Health and Safety Act
PAST  Palaeontological Scientific Trust
PDI  Previously Disadvantaged Individuals
PFMA  Public Finance Management Act
POS  Point of Sale
SAAO  South African Astronomical Observatory
SAASTA  South African Agency for Science and  
 Technology Advancement
SABIF  South African Biodiversity Information Facility 
SAHRA  South African Heritage Resources Agency
SAMA  South African Museums Association
SANBI  South African Biodiversity Institute
SCM  Supply Chain Management
SDA Skills Development Act
SFI  Southern Flagship Institution
UCT  University of Cape Town
UIF  Unemployment Insurance Fund
UNESCO  United Nations Educational, Scientific and  
 Cultural Organisation 
UWC  University of the Western Cape
WCA  Workmen’s Compensation Assurance
WCED Western Cape Education Department  


